MORPHOGEN AND EPIGENETIC REGULATION OF WOUND HEALING

LAURA CORBETT

PhD THESIS

May 2015

FIBROSIS GROUP

INSTITUTE OF CELLULAR MEDICINE

NEWCASTLE UNIVERSITY

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy





Table of Contents

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Primary cell culture	33
2.2 Cell line Culture	34
2.3 Cell Culture Reagents	34
2.4 RNA isolation and cDNA Synthesis	34
2.5 RT-PCR	35
2.6 qPCR	35
2.7 Primers	36

2.7.1Wnt Ligands	37
2.7.2 Wnt Receptors	37
2.7.3 Extracellular Interactors	38
2.7.4 Pathway Components	38
2.7.5 Wnt Targets	38
2.7.6 BCatenin Interactors	39
2.8 Primers Used	39
2.8.1 Fibrogenic Targets	39
2.9 Protein Lysate Preparation	40
2.10 Cytoplasmic and Nuclear Fractionation	40
2.11 Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP) Treatment for dephosphorylation of protein	41
2.12 FLAG Immunoprecipitation	41
2.13 SDS PAGE and Western Blotting	41
2.13.1 Primary Antibodies Used	42
2.13.2 Secondary Antibodies Used	43
2.14 ELISA for TGFβ1	43
2.15 Transformation of competent bacteria	43
2.16 Purification of Plasmids	44
2.17 Cell Transfection	44
2.17.1 Constructs used	44
2.18 Luciferase Assay	45
2.19 siRNA Knockdown	45
2.20 Scratch Wound Assay to assess migration	46
2.21 Acridine Orange staining to assess apoptosis	46
2.22 MTT Assay to assess proliferation	46
2.23 Zebrafish Maintenance	47
2.24 Morpholino injections	47
2.25 Genomic DNA Isolation and Slot Blot to assess DNA methylation	47
2.26 Touch Response Assay to assess motility	48

Chapter 3: Wnt Pathway Characterisation in Hepatic Stellate Cells

3.1 Introduction	49
3.2 Increased Wnt activity accompanies HSC activation	

3.3 HSCs express predominantly non-canonical ligands	52
3.4 HSCs express a variety of Wnt receptors	56
3.5. HSCs increase expression of extracellular interactors	60
3.6 Discussion	69
3.7 Conclusions	73

Chapter 4: Canonical vs Non-Canonical Signalling in Hepatic Stellate Cells	
4.1 Introduction	74
4.2 HSCs express components of the canonical pathway	74
4.3 Canonical pathway appears inactive in HSCs	75
4.4 β -Catenin is correctly localised to the nucleus of HSCs	
4.5 Nuclear Interactors of β-Catenin	
4.6 HSCs appear deficient in TCF/LEF expression.	
4.7 Wnt Interactors and β -Catenin	85
4.8 Non Canonical Activity in HSCs	
4.8 Discussion	
4.9 Conclusions	

Chapter 5: Role of Wnt in HSC Behaviour in Hepatic Stellate Cells	
5.1 Introduction	98
5.2 Inhibition of Wnt signalling influences activation of HSCs	98
5.3 Overexpression of Wnt	104
5.4 Wnt Stimulation of Primary Cells: Fibrogenic Markers	108
5.5 Wnt Stimulation of Primary Cells: Proliferation and Migration	
5.6 Wnt Stimulation of Primary Cells: Apoptosis	118
5.7 Discussion	122
5.8 Conclusions	

Chapter 6: H2A.Z's role in influencing DNA Methylation in early zebra embryos	afish
6.1.Introduction	131
6.1.1 Canonical and Variant Histones	131
6.1.2 DNA Methylation dynamics during development	134
6.1.3 H2A.Z and DNA Methylation	136
6.1.3 Zebrafish as a model organism	137

6.3 Initial morpholino titration	.141
6.4 Morphant phenotype	. 143
6.5 H2afv at Early Developmental Stages	. 150
6.5 Characterisation of nervous system defects	. 154
6.6 Assessment of methylation in early h2afv morphants	. 159
6.7 Discussion	.164
6.8 Conclusions	.166

Chapter 7: Final Discussion	
7.1 Wnt Signalling in HSCs	167
7.1.1 Wnt Environment in HSCs	
7.1.2 $\beta\text{-Catenin}$ and HSCs	
7.1.3 Wnt as a therapeutic target?	
7.2 H2A.Z and DNA Methylation	

List of Figures

Label	Title	Page
Figure 1.1	Summary of Wound Healing	3
Figure 1.2	Summary of HSC transdifferentiation	9
Figure 1.3	Summary of the Wnt Pathway	18
Figure 1.4	Frizzled Receptor Structure	23
Figure 1.5	Extracellular interactors of Wnt	27
Figure 2.1	Example Melt Curves	36
Figure 3.1	Increased expression of phosphorylated Dvl in aHSCs	51
Figure 3.2	HSCs increase Wnt ligand expression upon activation	54
Figure 3.3	Canonical ligand expression is minimal in aHSCs	55
Figure 3.4	HSCs decrease Wnt receptor expression upon activation	58
Figure 3.5	Decrease in Fzd expression occurs early in activation	59
Figure 3.6	HSCs increase expression of several extracellular interactors of Wnt.	61
Figure 3.7	sFRPs and Dkks promote opposing effects on HSC gene expression.	63
Figure 3.8	sFRP1 and Dkk3 treatment mildly influences apoptotic response	65
Figure 3.9	Attempted siRNA knockdown of sFRP4	67
Figure 3.10	sFRP4 overexpression in LX2 cell line has minimal effect	67
Figure 3.11	sFRP4 overexpression has minimal effect on apoptosis	68
Figure 4. 1	Canonical pathway expression in HSCs.	77
Figure 4. 2	HSCs upregulate β-Catenin in response to stimulus.	77
Figure 4. 3	Canonical stimulus of HSCs does not result in a transcriptional response	79
Figure 4. 4	β Catenin stimulus of HSCs does not result in a transcriptional response	79
Figure 4. 5	Active βCatenin is not detectable in qHSCs	80
Figure 4. 6	GSK3β inhibition does not stimulate canonical response	80
Figure 4. 7	βCatenin is targeted to the nucleus of HSCs	82
Figure 4. 8	Expression of key βCatenin interactors detectable in HSCs	82
Figure 4. 9	Expression of TCF1, TCF4 and LEF1 decreased in LX2 cells	84
Figure 4.10	LEF1 overexpression does not stimulate a canonical response	84
Figure 4.11	sFRP4 and canonical inhibition	86
Figure 4.12	Non-Canonical Effectors in HSCs	88
Figure 4.13	Non Canonical Inhibition in HSC	88
Figure 4.14	NFAT Activity in LX2s and HSCs	90
Figure 4.15	Points of Canonical/TCF mediated signalling inhibition in HSCs	96

Figure 5.1	Wnt pathway in HSCs targeted at three different points of signalling pathway	100
Figure 5.2	IWP2, DvI-PDZ domain, and ICG001 act as effective Wnt inhibitors in HSCs	100
Figure 5.3	Wnt inhibitors and HSCs.	101
Figure 5.4	ICG001 does not appear to promote reversion of HSCs to quiescent	101
	pnenotype	102
Figure 5.5	fibrogenic targets in aHSCs	103
Figure 5.6	LX2s readily respond to overexpression of canonical and non-canonical	105
0	Wnts	
Figure 5.7	Overexpression of non-canonical Wnt5a does not affect expression of	105
-	fibrogenic genes	
Figure 5.8	Overexpression of Wnt receptors does not alter fibrogenic gene expression	107
Figure 5.9	Method of Wnt conditioned medium treatment of primary HSCs	108
Figure 5.10	Primary HSCs respond to stimulus with both canonical and non canonical ligands	109
Figure5.11	Wnt CM stimulus does not significantly alter fibrogenic gene expression	111
Figure 5.12	Wnt CM stimulus significantly increased TGF β expression in Kupffer cells.	113
Figure 5.13	Wnt stimulus or inhibition does not alter markers of proliferation in HSCs	115
Figure 5.14	Wnt stimulus or inhibition has minimal effect on migration of HSCs	117
Figure 5.15	Wnt stimulus may modulate resistance to apoptosis in HSCs	119
Figure 5.16	Protective effect of WNt5a is not mediated through NFAT	121
Figure 6.1	Nucleosome structure	132
Figure 6.2	Methylation Dynamics during embryogenesis	135
Figure 6.3	Methylation Dynamics during zebrafish embryogenesis	138
Figure 6. 4	Zebrafish Embryonic Development	139
Figure 6. 1	Morpholino injection successfully suppresses H2afv expression	142
Figure 6. 6	Morphants display distinct phenotypic abnormality when scored at 2 and 4dpf	144
Figure 6. 7	Further phenotypic characterisation of <i>h2afv</i> morphants at 3dpf	145
Figure 6.8	Organ defects present at later developmental stages	145
Figure 6.9	Morphants respond abnormally to touch	146
Figure 6.10	h2afv MO injection does not cause excessive apoptosis at 24hpf	148
Figure 6.11	co-knockdown of H2afv and P53 does not reduce phenotypic abnormality at 2dpf	148
Figure 6.12	Injection of <i>h2afv</i> mRNA rescues phenotypic abnormality at 2dpf	149
Figure 6.13	Developmental abnormality first observed at the 15 – 17 somite stage	151
Figure 6.14	Limited disruption of endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm specific markers	153
Figure 6.15	H2afv is localised to the CNS	156
Figure 6.16	ngn1 expression in morphants at 19-21 somites, 1 dpt and 3dpt	157
Figure 6.17	Disrupted is Lexpression visible in morphants	158
Figure 6.18	nzujv morphants are hypermethylated at early stages of development	160
Figure 6.19	Prince does not appear to mediate hypermethylation	162
rigure 6.20		103
Figure 7.1	Summary of Wnt signalling in HSCs	176

List of Tables

Label	Title	Page
Table 1.1	Target genes of β-catenin/Canonical Wnt signalling	20
Table 1.2	Known Wnt-Fzd interactions, as demonstrated by Immunoprecipitation	24
Table 2.1	Cell culture treatment reagents	34
Table 2.2	Primer sequences for Wnt ligands	37
Table 2.3	Primer Sequences for Fzd receptors	37
Table 2.4	Primer Sequences for Wnt Extracellular interactors	38
Table 2.5	Primer Sequences for Wnt pathway components	38
Table 2.6	Primer Sequences for typical Wnt target genes	39
Table 2.7	Primer sequences for nuclear β-Catenin interactors	39
Table 2.8	Primer sequences for zebrafish germ layer markers	39
Table 2.9	Primer sequences for human and rat fibrogenic targets	39
Table 2.10	Primary antibodies used	42
Table 2.11	Secondary Antibodies used	43
Table 2.12	Constructs used	44

List of Abbreviations

5MeC- 5-Methyl Cytosine aHSC- activated Hepatic Stellate Cell ALP - Alkaline phosphatase **BDL- Bile Duct Ligation** CaMKii- Ca2+ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II CCl₄ - Carbon tetrachloride CHX- Cyclohexamide CTGF - Connective tissue growth factor Dkk-Dickkopf DMEM - Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium DMSO - Dimethyl sulfoxide dpf- days post fertilisation **Dvl-** Dishevelled ECM - Extracellular matrix FCS - Fetal Calf Serum Fzd- Frizzled GAPDH - Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase **GFP- Green Fluorescent Protein** GSK3- glycogen synthase kinase 3 H₂O₂ - Hydrogen peroxide hpf- hours post fertilisation HSC- Hepatic Stellate Cell JNK - c-Jun N-terminal kinases **KC- Kupffer Cell** LEF- Lymphoid enhancer-binding factor 1 LPS – lipopolysaccharide LRP- low density lipoprotein receptor-related proteins MCP-1 - Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 MHB- midbrain hindbrain boundary MMPs - Matrix metalloproteinases

MO- Morpholino oligonucleotide

MTT - (3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-Diphenyltetrazolium Bromide, a Yellow Tetrazole)

NFkB- Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells

NFAT- Nuclear factor of activated T-cells, cytoplasmic 1 and 4

PCP- Planar Cell Polarity

PCR - Polymerase chain reaction

PPARy - Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma

TIMPs - Tissue inhibitors matrix metalloproteinases

qHSCs- quiescent Hepatic Stellate cell

qRT-PCR - Real-time reverse transcription-PCR

ROR2- receptor tyrosine kinase like orphan receptor 2

sFRP- Secreted Frizzled Related Protein

SOX9- SRY (sex determinin region Y)- box 9

Std Control- Standard control morpholino

TCF – Transcription Factor

Tg- Transgenic

TGFβ- Transforming growth factor beta

Wnt - Wingless-related integration site

 α SMA- alpha smooth muscle actin

Abstract

Events during wound repair are reminiscent of developmental events such as cell migration, redifferentiation and proliferation. Factors controlling these processes in the early embryo may therefore be important regulators in adult wound healing. Fibrosis is a disease of dysregulated wound healing with fibroproliferative disorders accounting for 45% of deaths in developed nations. Despite this, effective antifibrotic therapy is limited. Understanding factors regulating wound repair process will aid identification of potential therapeutic targets.

This project first explored how activation of developmental signalling pathways influences regulation of myofibroblast transdifferentiation and behaviour in liver fibrosis, focusing on the Wnt signalling pathway. Wnt signalling was upregulated in activated myofibroblasts, with significantly increased expression of non-canonical ligands. Wnt stimulus did not provoke a canonical/β-Catenin mediated response, with myofibroblasts responding through non-canonical associated signalling instead. Inhibition of Wnt signalling reduced classic markers of fibrosis, suggesting a profibrotic role for Wnt signalling during liver fibrosis. Stimulus with the non-canonical ligand Wnt5a did not directly affect expression of fibrotic markers in myofibroblasts. Instead it appeared to act as a prosurvival factor and increased expression of profibrotic cytokines in resident liver macrophages.

Dynamic changes in DNA methylation pattern also regulate embryonic development. This project next explored whether inheritance of epigenetic marks could alter early DNA methylation patterns and affect response to injury in adult, focusing on the histone variant H2A.Z. H2A.Z is thought anticorrelative to DNA methylation and has been shown to be enriched in the sperm of injured animals in a model of transgenerational adaptation to wound healing. H2A.Z expression was depleted via morpholino injection in early zebrafish embryos, resulting in significant mortality and phenotypic abnormality. Injected animals displayed significant hypermethylation of DNA during early embryonic periods. This suggests that alteration of epigenetic marks can influence methylation status of DNA.

Х

Acknowledgement s

I would like to thank my supervisors Prof Derek Mann and Dr Jelena Mann as well as all the members of the Fibrosis Research group who have helped me over the four years. I would also like to thank the Sadler Group in NYC for helping me get up to speed with zebrafish in such as short space of time.

Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Wound healing and Fibrotic Disease

Tissue injury and the resulting epithelial cell damage triggers a highly co-ordinated, multicellular response, facilitating repair and restoration (1). Wound healing can be broadly divided into three different phases: the inflammatory, the proliferative and the resolving phase and is summarised by Figure 1.1. General mechanisms of wound healing are conserved throughout the body and are vital for restoration of normal tissue architecture and protection from external pathogens. Most vertebrates cannot completely regenerate lost or damaged tissue, healing instead through the process of scar formation (2).

The initial inflammatory phase occurs rapidly after injury. Damaged epithelial cells release damage associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs) promoting the recruitment of inflammatory cells to the site of injury. Infiltrating immune cells clear the injury site of debris and release a multitude of growth factors and cytokines, stimulating migration of the fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells critical for the second proliferative phase(3). Major cytokines directing the wound healing response include Platelet Derived Growth Factor (PDGF) and TGFβ1(4)

Repair of injury requires increased production and deposition of extracellular matrix, producing a fibrotic scar to replace lost or damaged tissue. Fibroblasts are the major cell type involved in the secretion of matrix components with Type 1 collagen the major component of the fibrotic scar(5, 6). Upon wound closure, activated fibroblasts are cleared from the injury site and there is a shift towards the resolution phase and a gradual remodelling of the collagen scar(1).

This highly sequential process can become disrupted under conditions of chronic injury. Fibrosis is a disease of dysregulated wound healing. Repeated insult leads to the persistent activation of profibrogenic myofibroblasts, the excessive deposition of fibrotic matrix and the subsequent disruption of organ function(7). Fibroproliferative diseases involving a number of organs include idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF), diabetic nephropathy, hepatic cirrhosis and systemic scleoderma(SSC) account for approximately 45% of deaths in developed nations(8). Effective anti-fibrotic therapy is currently limited making fibrotic disease a significant health issue for the modern world



Figure 1.1 Summary of Wound Healing

Tissue injury and resulting epithelial cell damage triggers inflammation and fibroproliferation, promoting repair through deposition of scar. Chronic injury results in persistent activation of fibroblasts and excessive deposition of matrix

1.2 Myofibroblast Activity and Regulation

A hallmark of fibrosis is the activation of profibrogenic myofibroblasts. Myofibroblasts are not normally detected in healthy tissue and are activated only upon injury (7). They are characterised by high expression of alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), leading to increased contractility as well as other phenotypic traits such as increased proliferation and migratory potential(7). They originate from numerous types of precursor such as endothelial cells, epithelial cells, pericytes as well as resident fibroblasts. As the major producers of extracellular matrix, myofibroblasts are the ideal target for antifibrotic therapy. Fully understanding the pathways that regulate their differentiation, activity and clearance will enable identification of targets for pharmacological modulation.

Parallels have been drawn between the events occurring during wound healing and those occurring during embryonic morphogenesis such as the highly co-ordinated movements of cells and tissues(9). Tissue morphology during embryogenesis is regulated by the morphogen families of signalling molecules such as the Hedgehog (Hh), Notch, Wnt, Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF) and Transforming Growth Factor – β (TGF β) families(10). Morphogens function in a concentration specific manner, establishing morphogen gradients to govern the response of receiving cells, directing migration, differentiation and cell fate specification(11).

In adults, morphogen activity in healthy tissue is limited and is only active when the need arises, during cell renewal and regeneration for example(10). If these pathways become irregularly active, the subsequent disruption of normal cell adhesion, proliferation and differentiation is a significant risk factor for pathology. Activation of embryonic developmental pathways in cancer is well established: mutations in β -Catenin for example, a downstream effector of the Wnt family, are a hallmark of numerous cancers(12).

Recent research connects morphogen signalling to wound healing and fibrosis. Reactivation of these embryonic signalling pathways has been implicated in promoting activity of myofibroblasts in numerous fibrosis models such as SSC, IPF and renal fibrosis(13-17). Furthermore, blockade of morphogen activity diminishes myofibroblast activity: knockdown of the Hh transcription factor Gli for example attenuates the fibrotic response mice after unilateral ureteral obstruction (UUO) injury(18). Manipulating morphogen signalling could therefore be an attractive possibility for modulating the fibrotic response.

1.3 Liver Fibrosis

Although the liver has remarkable potential for regeneration and repair chronic liver disease is a major health burden. Approximately one million deaths per year worldwide are attributed to cirrhosis, the end stage of liver fibrosis, making it the 14th most common cause of death(19). Liver transplant is currently the only effective treatment with over 5500 transplants performed in Europe per year (20). A shortage of donor material however significantly limits the availability and efficacy of this treatment. The major cause of liver injury is chronic alcohol abuse although other contributing factors include viral infection and metabolic syndrome, damage due to the accumulation of fat and impaired lipid metabolism(21)

The initial insult leads to inflammatory damage, death of parenchymal cells and activation of myofibroblasts. Early stages of liver fibrosis are characterised by excessive ECM deposition and scar formation but few clinical symptoms. Evidence suggests that if underlying aetiology is removed at this early fibrotic stage, reversion to normal liver function is possible (8). Continuous injury however promotes development of advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis. Cross linking of deposited matrix renders scars increasingly resistant to degradation, disordering tissue architecture and disrupting liver function(22). Increased ECM deposition distorts the hepatic vasculature, gradually increasing the hepatic venous pressure gradient (HVPG) and resulting in portal hypertension. Clinical complications

associated with cirrhosis include variceal bleeding, ascites, renal failure and hepatic encephalopathy(23). In addition, there is dysregulation of hepatocyte regeneration and the development of regenerating nodules, a significant risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)(24). Here, potential for reversion is limited and the only complete treatment is liver transplant.

The liver is composed of multiple cell types with hepatocytes the most abundant, comprising between 70-80% of the liver cell mass. They are the primary functional cells in the liver, involved in protein synthesis and storage, carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and synthesis and secretion of bile(25). In addition, there are Kupffer cells , the liver resident macrophages, sinusoidal endothelial cells and the mesenchymal hepatic stellate cell (HSC). The primary source of pro-fibrogenic myofibroblasts upon liver injury is thought to the hepatic stellate cell(26).

1.4 Models of Liver Fibrosis

Numerous *in vivo* animal models aid study of these numerous aetiologies. Toxin- mediated induction of liver injury is a widely used method with intraperitoneal administration of carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) one well established model(27). Inflammatory response is induced upon administration and fibrosis observable after 4-6 weeks of repeated injection. Resolution of scarring occurs once injections stop, making CCl₄ a good model for all stages of the fibrotic response: initital inflammation, fibrogenesis and fibrosis resolution. Bile duct ligation (BDL) is a common model of cholestatic injury(28). Non Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD), a significant contiributor to liver disease worldwide, can be modelled by several dietary regimes such as high fat diets or methionine coline deficient (MCD) diets(29).

In vitro, hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) the primary source of profibrogenic myofibroblasts can be isolated by enzymatic digestion and density gradient centrifugation from liver tissue(30). However, difficulties encountered with primary cell culture such as limited amount of source tissue and

variability between preparations have led to the development of several HSCs cell lines from rat, mouse and human. The human LX-2 cell line is the most widely used, developed from spontaneously immortalised human HSCs and considered representative of fully activated myofibroblasts(31). Finally, more sophisticated *in vitro* culture methods such as precision cut tissue slices are increasingly being used. Culture of tissue slices allows study of a multicellular system *in vitro*, where tissue architecture, ECM composition and cell-cell contacts are maintained(32). This is far more physiologically relevant than the monoculture of primary HSCs or cell lines which is currently the main method of *in vitro* liver fibrosis study.

1.5 Hepatic Stellate Cells

Hepatic Stellate Cells are liver specific pericytes and reside in the space of Disse between the sinusoidal endothelial cells and the hepatocytes(26). They comprise approximately 15% of the total cell population. In normal, healthy liver they are considered 'quiescent' (qHSC). Liver injury however stimulates a significant phenotypic change and transdifferentiation into pro-fibrogenic myofibroblasts (aHSC). Their embryonic origin is not fully resolved and evidence supports HSCs deriving from the endoderm, ectoderm or mesoderm. Typical markers used to identify HSCs include vimentin, desmin and glial fibrillary acid protein (GFAP)(26). Quiescent HSCs secrete a variety of cytokines and growth factors and their major role is in the storage of vitamin A (retinol), acting as a store for 80% of the body's retinol in cytoplasmic lipid droplets. Maintenance of the quiescent phenotype involves an adipogenic transcriptional profile: qHSCs express high levels of the adipogenic master regulator PPARy along with other adipogenic associated transcription factors such as CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP) α , C/EBP β , C/EBP δ and sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c (SREBP-1c).

Transdifferentiation to profibrogenic myofibroblasts involves a massive shift in transcriptional profile(33). Apidogenic associated gene expression is replaced by profibrogenic mediators such as

TNFα, TGFβ and PDGF, several of which are known antagonists of apidogenesis(33). Expression of the myofibroblast marker α-SMA is significantly upregulated and as HSCs are the only major liver cell type to express α-SMA, this is often used as a definitive identifying marker of aHSCs(34). Clarifying the factors regulating this dramatic change in HSC phenotype of critical importance. Activity of several key transcription factors during transdifferentiation has been well defined, with roles for the NF-κB, KLF6, AP1, E Box binding proteins and the Smad families of transcription factors(35). Substantial morphological changes follow this shift in transcriptional profile with HSCs adopting typical myofibroblast characteristics including increased contractility, increased proliferation, stress fibre formation and increased migratory capacity(26) (Figure 1.2). aHSCs are the major synthesisers of ECM components involved in scar deposition.



Figure 1.2 HSC transdifferentiation

Diagram detailing phenotypic and transcriptional changes occurring during HSC activation. Injury triggers transdifferentiation of the vitamin A storing, adipogenic like quiescent HSCs. They loose vitamin A storage and undergo significant phenotypic changes such as increased contractility, proliferation and migration. Expression of adipogenic related genes such as PPARy and SREBP1 is downregulated while expression of profibrogenic genes such as TGF β is increased.

1.6 Epigenetic regulation of HSC transdifferentiation

Recent work has highlighted the importance of epigenetic factors in regulating myofibroblast transdifferentiation and progression of liver fibrosis. Epigenetics is traditionally defined as: 'heritable changes in gene function that occur without changes in DNA sequence'(36). DNA is not found naked in the cell, packaged instead by proteins into chromatin which forms chromosomes. The three major epigenetic modifications are methylation of DNA, modification of histones and microRNA activity. Structural changes resulting from these modifications function in regulation of gene expression(37).

DNA methylation is an extensively studied epigenetic modifications, highly conserved across animals, plants and fungi(39). Methylation of DNA is the transfer of a methyl group to the fifth position of a cytosine base and in mammals is restricted to cytosines present in CpG dinucleotides. Regions of high CpG composition are termed 'CpG Islands' and are a typical feature of gene promoters(38). When DNA methylation occurs at these regions it is normally associated with transcriptional repression (39). Transfer of methyl groups is mediated by the DNA Methyltransferase (Dnmt) enzymes, divided into two functional classes. De novo methyltransferases (Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b) initiate methylation on previously unmethylated CpG sites while the maintenance methyltransferase (Dnmt1) recognises hemimethylated DNA during DNA replication and copy existing patterns(40, 41).

Disruption of methylation machinery has drastic consequences for development, depletion of Dnmt expression in mice leading to early embryonic or early postnatal death (40, 42). Likewise, in the adult perturbation of methylation patterns is implicated in disease, notably in numerous cancers(43). Dynamic alterations of DNA methylation patterns are critical for the control of cell behaviour during morphogenesis. Epigenetic reprogramming during wound healing can therefore be considered another way in which response to injury recapitulates developmental processes(9).

DNA methylation can promote gene repression through two mechanisms: decreasing access of transcription factors to target sites or targeting repressive complexes to DNA (39). Treatment of cultured HSCs with the commonly used demethylating agent, 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine, halts transdifferentiation of HSCs, preventing the morphological and transcriptional changes associated with an activated myofibroblast phenotype(44). DNA Methylation therefore has a critical role in regulating myofibroblast transdifferentiation.

Methyl CpG binding protein 2 (MeCP2) is one nuclear protein which preferentially binds methylated DNA and is thought to function in the recruitment of corepressor proteins(45). MeCP2 is significantly upregulated in aHSC and is shown to regulate the activity of key transcription factors involved in HSC transdifferentiation. One major factor required for HSC quiescence is PPARy, an adipogenic associated regulator. MeCP2 binds to the promoter of PPARy and mediates its repression. PPARy expression in MeCP2 deficient myofibroblasts is significantly increased, moreover CCl_4 injured MeCP2 knockout animals display a reduced fibrotic response(46). MeCP2 regulates several other transcriptional regulators important in HSC transdifferentiation. It is associated with repression of IkB α , an inhibitor of the nuclear factor kappa B (NFkB) family of transcription factors necessary for HSC transdifferentiation(44). MeCP2 also plays a role in repression of PTCH1, an inhibitory component of the morphogen Hh pathway shown important in promoting HSC transdifferentiation(47).

Progression from initial liver injury to the end stage cirrhosis can take between five to fifty years and is highly variable: only a minority of patients with chronic liver disease progress to end stage cirrhosis (8). This variability cannot be explained by genetic factors alone suggesting a complex interaction of environmental, epigenetic and genetic influences. A recent study explored multigenerational epigenetic adaptation to the wound healing response, where injury in parents led to epigenetic changes which can be stably transmitted to offspring(48). In this study, offspring of CCl₄ injured parents demonstrated decreased fibrotic response when compared with offspring of

control, non-injured groups. Differential gene expression was accompanied by corresponding changes in DNA methylation status: increased methylation of the pro-fibrogenic TGFβ promoter corresponded with reduced mRNA expression whereas decreased methylation of the anti-fibrogenic PPARγ promoter corresponded with increased mRNA expression. This suggests that ancestral injury may be one factor contributing to population variability. How this information is transmitted between parent and offspring has yet to be determined.

1.7 Process of HSC activation

Activation of HSCs is stimulated through receipt of paracrine signals from neighbouring cells. Injury dramatically alters hepatic architecture: damaged hepatocytes undergo apoptosis provoking an inflammatory stimulus with activation of the resident Kupffer cells and subsequent infilitration of circulating lymphocytes(23). In this altered environment a multide of factors are released which promote transdifferentiation such as PDGF,EGF and production of reactive oxygen species mediated by Cyp2e1 (cytochrome P450 2E1), a member of the cytochrome P450 family of enzymes (23). Increased TGFβ signalling is a major profibrotic stimulus, promoting the recruitment of inflammatory cells and fibroblasts to the site of injury as well as stimulating increased expression of extracellular matrix components(49).

This initial activation phase promotes the change in HSCs to a myofibroblast like phenotype with increased responsiveness to growth factors and environmental signals. aHSCs are characterised by expression of classic markers of activated myofibroblasts such as α -SMA, Type I collagen, Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase 1 (TIMP1) and TGF β and its associated receptors(26). Once transdifferentiation has occurred, HSCs are able to maintain their activated phenotype through autocrine signalling as well as receipt of paracrine stimulus. Environmental as well as chemical stimuli also play a role, alterations in ECM composition for example where increased amounts of fibrosis associated collagens such as Type 1 collagen cause increased stiffening of matrix and further enforce the activated phenotype(50). Placing aHSCs on a softer matrix such as Matrigel, promotes a reversion to quiescence(51).

As mentioned, aHSCs major role is in the production of ECM components. They secrete massive amounts of Type1 Collagen, one of the best characterised components of the fibrotic scar(52). aHSCs are a source of multiple members of the matrix metalloprotineases (MMPs) family involved in degradation of matrix, specifically MMP2, MMP9 and MMP13(53, 54). They also secrete increased amounts of TIMP1 involved in inhibition of MMPs as well as conferring resistance to apoptosis. This increased production of ECM components disrupts regulation of matrix composition: clearance of

matrix in early stages by increased MMP activity allows for increased deposition of collagen. This leads to a change shift in matrix from a laminin and type IV collagen rich composition to one comprising interstitial collagens such as collagens I and II(55). Degradation of excessive collagen will be prevented by increased TIMP1 activity, leading to accumulation of fibrotic matrix. The upregulation of α -SMA, a major constituent of stress fibres, enhances their contractility and promotes wound closure(56). Excessive production in the chronically injured liver however disrupts vasculature, promoting increases in the HVPG. If injury is not resolved and aHSCs not cleared, this disruption of ECM will continue leading to the impairment of liver function described previously.

As well as mediating fibrogenesis, HSCs also contribute to the immune response upon injury, stimulated via TLR activity such as LPS induced TLR4 signalling (57). They are highly secretory, producing numerous chemokines to promote migration of inflammatory cells(26). Evidence even exists for them being capable of acting as antigen presenting cells (58).

Resolution of acute injury requires clearance of HSCs, allowing for degradation of excessive matrix and a return to a normal hepatic architecture. Apoptosis of aHSCs is thought to be the major mechanism of HSC clearance(59). Specifically targeting induction of apoptosis to α-SMA expressing cells in the injured liver significantly improves resolution of fibrosis after CCl₄ mediated liver injury, demonstrating its significance(60). During injury, HSCs receive pro-survival signals derived from matrix. Maintaining an intact matrix prevents apoptosis whereas matrix degradation, through recombinant MMP9 treatment for example, promotes it(61). Furthermore, increased TIMP1 expression by aHSCs acts as an autocrine anti-apoptotic signal : liver specific overexpression of TIMP1 for example impairs fibrosis resolution compared to control animals in a CCl₄ injury model in mice(62). Under conditions of chronic injury, degradation of matrix and reduction of survival signals will not occur. HSCs will therefore remain present and persistently active.

As well as clearance of HSCs by apoptosis, there is the potential for them to 'deactivate', returning to a quiescent like phenotype. Decreased expression of activation associated genes has been observed

in vitro(33). *In* vivo studies further confirmed these findings, genetic labelling experiments demonstrating cells which had previously been α SMA positive during injury remaining in liver after cessastion of injury(63). These cells are termed inactivated HSCs (iHSCs) rather than fully quiescent as they demonstrated a more marked response to TGF β 1 stimulus in comparison to quiescent controls. Cellular senescence is also thought to contribute to aHSC clearance and fibrosis resolution. The accumulation of senescent cells observed in cirrhotic liver thought to be derived from HSCs and animals deficient for components of senescent pathway displaying reduced ability to resolve fibrosis(64). These studies demonstrate the importance of clearing HSCs for resolution of fibrosis.

1.8 Morphogens and HSCs

From this it is clear that HSCs are fundamental to fibrosis progression in the liver. The signalling events that regulate their activation need to be fully understood to facilitate identification of potential therapeutic targets. Regarding the potential for developmental pathway reactivation in HSCs, much work has been done on reactivation of Hh signalling observed in aHSCs. Upregulated Hh signalling occurs upon liver injury and is associated with regulating metabolism in HSCs, promoting glycolysis and stimulating the quiescent to activated HSC transdifferentiation(65). Blockade of Hh signalling is able to revert myofibroblasts to a more quiescent like phenotype as well as decreasing fibrotic response in a mouse CCl₄ injury model(65). Further work has highlighted the importance of Notch signalling, again upregulated in HSCs upon injury. Inhibition of Notch in cultured HSCs again reduces myofibroblast markers and inhibition in a BDL injury model attenuated the fibrotic response(66). The importance of cross talk between these two pathways has also been highlighted, with inhibition of Notch signalling disrupting Hh activity and vice versa(66).

Wnt is one of the major signalling pathways active during development, critical for cell differentiation and proliferation(67). However, the activity of Wnt signalling and potential contribution to HSC activation has not yet been fully explored. Wnt signalling is increasingly implicated in tissue injury and repair in the adult, observed in simple organisms such as planaria to numerous types of injury models in humans including myocardial infarction, bone fracture, skin wounding and retinal damage(68). Furthermore, blockade of Wnt signalling disrupts invertebrate regeneration and impairs tissue repair in mammals(68).

Activation of β-Catenin, a key downstream mediator of Wnt signalling is one of the first responses to tissue injury in numerous organs (69-71). Furthermore, elevated Wnt signalling is initially beneficial to repair and regeneration, increased Wnt7a expression for example promotes hair follicle neogenesis after wounding in mouse skin(72). However, in the situation of chronic injury, the promotion of cell migration and proliferation driven by Wnt activity is likely to contribute to pathology of fibrosis. The Wnt pathway is highly complex with numerous ligands, receptors and interactors. Identifying Wnt components active in HSCs may therefore identify potential targets for modulating HSC behaviour.

1.9 Wnt Signalling

Wnt proteins are a family of highly evolutionary conserved secreted glycoproteins. Wnt signalling is a key regulator of embryogenesis across the animal kingdom: from the wingless (wg) protein first identified in Drosophila to the nineteen different Wnt members currently described in mammals(67). The Wnt signalling cascade is outlined in Figure 1.3. In summary, Wnt proteins secreted by signalling cells bind to their membrane bound Frizzled (Fzd) receptors, resulting in phosphorylation of the downstream mediator Dishevelled (Dvl). Phosphorylated Dvl then propagates Wnt signalling by three potential pathways: the canonical β-Catenin associated pathway, the non-canonical Planar Cell Polarity (PCP) pathway or the non-canonical Calcium associated (Wnt/Ca²⁺) pathway. Wnt ligands can be broadly classified as canonical or non-canonical depending on the pathway they initiate(12).





An overview of the Wnt signalling pathway. Wnt ligands bind to Fzd receptors to trigger phosphorylation of Dvl and propagation of signal through 'Canonical' or 'Non Canonical' branches. **(A)** Canonical signalling involves the inhibition of GSK3 β and subsequent stabilisation of β -Catenin. Stabilised β -Catenin then translocates to the nucleus to activate TCF/LEF transcription factors. 'Non-Canonical' signalling is independent of β -Catenin. **(B)**Wnt/Ca²⁺ associated signalling involves activation of Phospholipase C (PLC), an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels and activation of downstream effectors such as calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CamKii), Protein Kinase C (PKC) and the nuclear factor of activated T cell (NFAT) family of transcription factors. **(C)**

1.10 Canonical/ β-Catenin Signalling

Canonical/ β -Catenin associated signalling was the first Wnt signalling cascade to be described and remains the most extensively studied of the branches. The canonical pathway proceeds by stabilisation of the cadherin protein β -Catenin, enabling its nuclear translocation and activation of transcriptional targets(12). β -Catenin was initially identified as a membrane bound component of adherens junctions. Cytoplasmic β -Catenin has a different role however as a transcriptional activator. Under normal conditions, cytoplasmic pools of β -Catenin are regulated through phosphorylation by a destruction complex composed of APC, Axin and GSK3 β and subsequent targeting for ubiquitination and destruction. Upon Wnt stimulus, phoshorylated Dvl is able to inhibit destruction complex function, increasing levels of non-phosphorylated β -Catenin.

In its non-phosphorylated form, β -Catenin is then able to translocate to the nucleus. β -Catenin's best known nuclear targets are the TCF/LEF family members of transcription factors. Mammals have four members: TCF1, TCF3, TCF4 and LEF1 and each member has multiple potential isoforms, adding significant complexity to the pathway(73). Nuclear β -Catenin displaces the repressor of TCF/LEFs, Groucho/TLE, forming a transcriptional activating complex with TCF/LEF members and enabling activation of target genes. Known targets of canonical Wnt signalling are summarised in Table 1. The vast diversity of targets demonstrates the wide reaching effects of canonical Wnt signalling during development. The dramatic effects of early embryonic β -Catenin disruption further enforces this, β -Catenin deletion in mouse embryos causing defective anterior-posterior axis formation along with defunct initiation of gastrulation(74).

Target Genes of Canonical Wnt									
Axin-2	FGF9	mBTEB2	RANK ligand						
BMP4	FGF18	MMP2	Runx2						
Brachyury	FGF20	MMP7	SALL4						
bTrCP	Fibronectin	MMP9	Snail						
CCN1/Cyr61	Follistatin	Movo1	Sox2						
CD44	FoxN1	Nanog	Sox9						
Cdx1	fra-1	NeuroD1	Sox17						
Cdx4	Gastrin	Neurogenin 1	SP5						
c-jun	Gbx2	Nkx2.2	Stromelysin						
Claudin-1	Gremlin	n-myc	Telomerase						
с-тус	Hath1	Nr-CAM	Twist						
CTLA-4	ld2	Oct4	uPAR						
CyclinD	118	Osteocalcin	VEGF						
Cyclooxygenase-2	lrx3	Osteoprotegerin							
E-cadherin	Islet1	Periostin							
EGF receptor	ITF-2	Pitx2							
EphB/ephrin-B	Jagged1	PPARd							
FGF4	Keratin	Proglucagon							

Table 1.1 Target genes of β -catenin/Canonical Wnt signalling

1.11 Non-Canonical Wnt Signalling

Early experiments identified that treatment of Xenopus embryos with certain Wnt ligands such as Wnt1 induced secondary axis formation through β-Catenin activation. Treatment with other Wnts such as Wnts4 and Wnt5a either achieved no secondary axis induction or antagonised canonical Wnt mediated induction. This suggested certain Wnts are able to function independently of β-Catenin. β-Catenin independent Wnt activity, classed as 'Non-Canonical' is divided into two main branches: Wnt/Calcium signalling and Planar Cell Polarity

The Wnt/Calcium Pathway uses calcium as a second messenger. Here, Dvl activates phospholipase C (PLC), increasing intracellular calcium levels and stimulating activity of effectors such as calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CamKii) or Protein Kinase C (PKC). The nuclear factor of activated T cell (NFAT) family are the transcription factors associated with the calcium associated pathway(75).

The planar cell polarity pathway (PCP) is predominantly associated with regulation of convergent extension in embryogenesis. It is a key regulator during gastrulation and neurulation: perturbation of germ layer formation and defects in neural tube closure commonly observed with PCP disruption(76). In PCP signalling, phosphorylated Dvl activates members of the Rho family of small GTPases such as RhoA, Rac and cdc42. This leads to alterations of cytoskeletal arrangement along with activation of the phosphorylated JNK mediated signalling cascade(77). In addition to Wnt-Fzd-Dvl interaction, PCP signalling is regulated by numerous other factors known as the 'Core PCP genes'- CELSR1-3, VANGL1, VANGL2, DIVERSIN and PRICKLE1-4. PCP signalling is also implicated in orientation of cell division, left-right determination and orientation of cilia. Significant defects in heart, kidney and foregut development are observed in mouse and zebrafish models deficient for PCP components(78).

1.12 Wnt Ligands

Different Wnt ligands display varying specifities for different receptors and co-receptors, leading to differential activation of canonical vs non-canonical signalling. Structurally, Wnt proteins are very similar being cysteine rich, highly glycosylated and sharing a common sequence for secretion(79). Extensive post translational modification is necessary before secretion of Wnt ligands due to their greatly hydrophobic nature. An essential requirement for Wnt secretion is palmitoylation, the addition of palmitic acid onto proteins, mediated here by Porcupine (Porc) a seven pass transmembrane protein. Mutations in Porc prevent Wnt signalling and lead to early embryonic death, demonstrating its essential function(80).

There are multiple proposed methods of Wnt secretion that aid its morphogen activity, signalling over such long distances of multiple cell diameters. These include lateral diffusion of Wnt ligands

aided by heparan sulphate proteoglycans, Wnts secreted on lipoprotein particles, the formation of micelles able to shield hydrophobic regions or Wnts secreted by exosomes. The presentation of Wnts at points of cell-cell contact has also been proposed(81).

Wnts1, 3a, 10a and 10b are well known as canonical ligands while Wnt5a and Wnt11 are considered non-canonical(67). The canonical/non-canonical activities of the other Wnt family members remain poorly characterised. In most studies, Wnt3a and Wnt5a are used as prototypical canonical and non-canonical ligands(82, 83).

1.13 Wnt Receptors

Regardless of their method of secretion, Whts function through binding to their cell surface bound receptors, triggering their intracellular signalling cascade and the uptake and degradation of Wht ligands themselves. The main class of Wht receptors are the Fzd receptors: seven transmembrane, G protein coupled receptors(84). They possess two functional domains: a cystine rich domain (CRD) on the N terminus involved in ligand binding and a C terminal PDZ (Postsynaptic density 95, Discs Large, Zonula occludens-1) domain which binds intracellular effectors. Like Whts, Fzds are conserved throughout the animal kingdom and ten Fzd family members have been identified so far in mammals. Fzds are not simply restricted to Wht ligand binding, their CRD domain allows interaction with a variety of ligands including RSpondins, Norrins, connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), II6, II8 and IFNy. The two main interactors with the intracellular PDZ domain are Dvl proteins and the heterotrimeric G proteins(85).



Figure 1.4 Frizzled Receptor Structure

Diagram detailing structure of the Frizzled (Fzd) receptors. The cysteine rich domain (CRD)on the N terminus functions in ligand binding including Wnts, sFRPS and RSpondins. The PDZ (Postsynaptic density 95, Discs Large, Zonula occludens-1) domain on the C terminus functions in binding and phosphorylation of Dvl.

Simple binding of Wnt ligands to Fzd receptors is not sufficient for signalling to occur. For complete transmission of signal the input of Fzd co-receptors is also required. Several members of the low-density lipoprotein receptor related protein (LRP) family (LRP5 and LRP6) are the best characterised of these Fzd coreceptors, implicated in mediating canonical Wnt signalling(86). Phosphorylation of LRP5/6 by Wnt activated Fzd is thought to contribute to the inhibition of the destruction complex and promote stabilisation of β -Catenin. Recent research has also identified numerous other proteins able to act as Fzd coreceptors such as the members of the receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor (ROR) family ROR1 and ROR2, Ryk and PTK7(87). These alternative co-receptors are predominantly associated with the non-canonical, β -Catenin independent signalling

Current thinking is that specificity of different Wnts for different receptors and co-receptors governs whether cells respond via the canonical or non-canonical pathway. HEK293 cells treated with the canonical associated Wnt3a responded through phosphorylation of LRP5/6 and activation of β -catenin. Conversely, Wnt5a treatment promoted response through phosphorylation of ROR2(82).

Phosphorylation of co-receptors was achieved through the recruitment of the same cellular machinery, suggesting that Wnts are able to instigate significantly different effects through changing only the co-receptor they phosphorylate. Rather than determined by the Wnts available, a cell response to Wnt may therefore be governed by its current expression profile of receptors and coreceptors. This will allow for the highly cell context specific nature of Wnt signalling. Known Wnt-Fzd interactions are summarised in Table 2. From this, activities of Wnts3a and 5a appear the best characterised.

Wnt	1	2	2B	3	3A	4	5A	5B	6	7A	7B	8A	8B	9A	9B	10A	10B	11	16
Fzd1	٧	٧			٧		٧				٧								
Fzd2							٧												
Fzd3		٧			٧		٧												
Fzd4		٧	٧								٧								
Fzd5					٧		٧			٧									
Fzd6					٧		٧												
Fzd7				٧	٧														
Fzd8					٧														
Fzd9		٧																	
Fzd10											٧								

Table 1.2 Known Wnt-Fzd interactions, as demonstrated by Immunoprecipitation. Adapted from (85)

1.14 Propagation of Wnt Signalling

After binding to Fzd receptors and recruitment of associated co-receptors, Wnt signal is transmitted by the phosphoprotein Dvl. Dvl has three conserved domains: an N terminal DIX (Dvl,Axin) domain, a central PDZ domain and a C terminal DEP (Dvl, Egl-10, Pleckstrin) domain. Dvl proteins interact with Fzd receptors through their shared PDZ domains while the DEP domain mediates interaction of Dvl with its target proteins(88). Dvl is recruited to Fzds and phosphorylated by the kinases Casein Kinase 1 (CK1) Casein Kinase 2 (CK2) and PAR1. Vertebrates have three Dvl members : Dvl1, Dvl2,Dvl3. Single or double null mutations in mice result in significant developmental defects, again emphasising the critical role of correct Wnt pathway function during development(89).

Dvl activity mediates of all branches of Wnt signalling. In the canonical pathway it inhibits activity of the β -Catenin destruction complex, recruiting the scaffolding protein Axin away to the plasma
membrane, preventing the GSK3-β mediated phosphorylation and destabilisation of β-Catenin(12). In the non-canonical PCP pathway, phosphorylated Dvl interacts with PCP associated proteins at the cell membrane such as Diego/Diversin, enabling its interaction with numerous downstream effectors(90). Dvl/ RhoA interaction, mediated by the adapter protein Daam1, leads to activation of ROCK kinase and instigation of cytoskeletal rearrangement, Dvl activation of RhoB is associated with influencing migration and Dvl activation of Rac1 is associated with stimulation of the JNK signalling cascade(88). In the calcium associated pathway, Dvl is attributed with activating phospholipase C (PLC) and instigating an increase in intracellular calcium levels(75).

1.15 Extracellular Interactors

In addition to the multiplicity of Wnt ligands, receptors and downstream effectors, numerous secreted interactors of Wnts also exist. This imposes a further layer of regulation to the pathway before Wnts even bind to their receptors. These include Wnt-inhibitory factors (WIF1 and 2), sclerostin, Gremlin, Wise and WNT1-inducible-signaling pathway protein 1 (WISP1) (Figure 1.5A)(91). The two major families of extracellular modulators of Wnt proteins are the secreted Frizzled related proteins (sFRPs) and the Dickkopfs (Dkks). Traditionally, these families are seen as inhibitors of Wnt signalling, although recent research suggests potential for expanded roles(92).

The Dkks are small secreted proteins able to disrupt the interaction between Fzd and the Lrp5/6 coreceptor, preventing subsequent phosphorylation of Dvl and Wnt propagation. The dkk family consists of four members, with Dkk1,Dkk2 and Dkk4 highly similar in structure and function (Figure 1.5B)(93). As Dkk1/2/4 function through binding and preventing Lrp5/6 function, they are mainly associated with blockade of canonical activity. Their effects on non-canonical signalling have not yet been explored. Dkks have key roles in modulating effects of Wnt during embryogenesis with dkk1 mutants in mice and zebrafish defective in anterior-posterior patterning and limb development(94,

25

95). Dkk3 is thought a divergent member of the family, both in structure and function and there is a evidence it may function in activation rather than inhibition of the pathway (96, 97).

Unlike the Dkks, sFRPs are not limited to the canonical pathway. The family consists of 5 members, sFRP1-5. They are structurally similar to the Fzds , sharing a similar CRD, allowing interaction with both Wnt ligands and Fzd receptors but lack the transmembrane domain (Figure 1.5) (98) Again, conventionally they are viewed as Wnt inhibitors: binding to either Wnts or Fzds to antagonise signalling. Recent research has challenged this and there is evidence for members able to bind and directly activate Fzds or facilitate Wnt-Fzd binding(92). One important proposed function is in aiding Wnt diffusion: sFRPs shown able to bind to Wnt ligands and increase their range of signalling, another possible mechanism for establishing morphogen gradients(99). Early papers identified them as secreted apoptosis related proteins (SARPs), with a role in modulating apoptosis separate from Wnt activity(100). sFRPs also possess a netrin like domain (NTR), found also in procollagen C proteinase enhancer proteins and tissue inhibitors of metalloprotinases (TIMPs)(101), suggesting that through this domain they may have Wnt independent roles in regulating extracellular matrix composition.

From this it is clear that Wnt signalling is far more complex than the summary diagram in Figure 1.3, with numerous potential ligands, receptors, downstream effectors and extracellular modulators. Specificities between Wnts and their receptors and Wnts and their extracellular modulators have not yet been mapped out. Nor has it been fully characterised how the presence of different Wnt ligands and extracellar interactors may affect other members of the same family. There is therefore much further work required on the mechanisms of the Wnt pathway.



Figure 1.5 Extracellular interactors of Wnt

(A) Examples of proteins capable of interacting with Wnts or Fzd receptors including: Gremlin, Wise, WNT1-inducible-signaling pathway protein (WISP), secreted Frizzled related proteins (sFRPs) and the Dickkopfs (Dkks).
(B) Structural comparison of sFRP, Fzd and Dkk families. sFRPs share a similar cysteine rich domain (CRD) with Fzd receptors while lacking the seven transmembrane (7TM) and cytoplasmic domains (CD). Dkk3 is considered a divergent member of the Dkk family due to the presence of the sgy domain not present in Dkks 1/2/4.

1.16 Wnts in Embryo and Adult

As indicated previously, Wnts are one of the main families of morphogens critical for governing cell fate specification and cell polarity during embryonic development. Mouse knockout models have been invaluable in clarifying the roles of specific Wnt ligands. Importance of the Wnt pathway in development is emphasised by the diverse range of phenotypes elicited upon disruption of signalling. Abnormal neurulation, gastrulation and somatogenesis are observed along with limb and bone deformities(67). Issues of redundancy between different ligands adds further complexity with some phenotypes not observed until multiple ligands are knocked down. This further complicates elucidating function of specific Wnts.

In the adult, dysregulated Wnt signalling occurs in numerous pathologies such as arthritis, cancer and metabolic disease(67, 102, 103). Regarding fibrosis, the current literature primarily focuses on the pro-fibrotic influence of canonical/ β -catenin associated signalling. Upregulated expression of classic canonical ligands such as Wnt10b and 3a is observed in multiple models of fibrosis across a variety of organs, such as the skin, lung, liver and kidney(104-106). This is accompanied by nuclear accumulation of β -catenin in fibroblasts and upregulation of β -catenin target genes such as Axin2, PAI-1 and LEF1(107-109). Ectopic Wnt signalling further promotes fibroblast activity. Human dermal and lung fibroblasts stimulated with recombinant canonical Wnts such as Wnt1 and Wnt3a increased pro-fibrotic gene expression, stress fibre formation and production of ECM(104). Overexpression of Wnt10b in mice leads to increased development of spontaneous dermal fibrosis in comparison to controls. These animals also display increased susceptibility to bleomycin injury, commonly used to model fibrosis, with an intensified fibrotic response(107). Furthermore, disruption of canonical signalling can attenuate fibrosis. The Dkk family member Dkk1 is commonly used as a method of Wnt blockade. In vivo administration of Dkk1 in a murine UUO model of kidney fibrosis decreased nuclear β -catenin accumulation and induction of target genes and subsequently reduced fibrotic response(106).

How non-canonical Wnts influence fibrosis is more enigmatic. Significant upregulation of noncanonical ligands is also observed in fibrotic kidney, liver and lung(110-112). Manipulation of noncanonical Wnt signalling suggests functional roles, for example overexpression of the non-canonical Wnt11 in renal epithelial cells increased expression of α -SMA(113). Through the PCP pathway noncanonical Wnts are able to alter cytoskeletal conformation via interaction with Rho family members(114, 115) providing great potential for influencing the increased migration and contractility characteristic of activated myofibroblasts.

There is clearly strong bias in the field towards investigating profibrotic potential of the canonical pathway. Identifying upregulated canonical signalling is straightforward, achieved by measuring nuclear translocation of β -catenin, upregulation of classic canonical targets such as Axin2 or c-Myc or using reporter assays such as the TOPFLASH luciferase assay(116, 117). Non-Canonical signalling on the other hand is mediated by effectors influenced by numerous other pathways. Therefore no non-canonical Wnt specific, direct read-out of activity exists. Despite the increased complexity of studying non-canonical Wnt signalling there is significant potential for its influence on myofibroblast activity. Focusing research only on the canonical renders a vast number of prospective therapeutic targets unexplored.

Upregulation of Wnt ligands in activated HSCs has been reported in numerous studies(110, 118-132). Wnt expression appears absent in quiescent cells, again suggesting that in healthy liver Wnt expression is minimal. However, there is significant disagreement as to which ligands are upregulated. The non-canonical ligands Wnt5a and Wnt4 are identified in the majority of studies of *in vitro* activated HSCs (110, 119, 121, 122, 130) and analysis of fibrotic ECM isolated from LX-2s detected the presence of Wnt5a protein(126). Further validation of increased Wnt5a protein expression was demonstrated in murine model of CCl₄ induced liver fibrosis, one of the few studies

29

to show protein data in an in-vivo model(126). In addition several studies also identify increased expression of canonical Wnts (Wnt3a and Wnt10b)(110, 132). Establishing whether Wnt activity in HSCs is occurring through canonical or non-canonical mechanisms is critically important as their signals are transduced by significantly different downstream mediators.

There appears to be general agreement that Wnt signalling is activated in myofibroblasts. How it contributes to the fibrogenic phenotype is less well explored. Most studies focus on the role of canonical ligands: recombinant Wnt3a shown to promote survival of HSCs(125) and the canonical agonist RSpondin2 shown to stimulate upregulation of fibrotic associated markers. As canonical Wnts are known to be anti-adipogenic, one group suggests a mechanism by which Wnt antagonises the adipogenic transcription factors maintaining HSC quiesence(132). In addition, inhibition of β -Catenin activity through adenovirus mediated overexpression of the canonical antagonist Dkk1, stimulates reversion of in-vitro activated cells to a 'quiescent like' phenotype and amelioration of fibrosis in a murine model of biliary fibrosis(110). The actions of several anti-fibrotic agents are suggested to work through inhibition of canonical/ β -Catenin signalling, such as the plant flavonoid Morin (124)and the AMPK activator Metformin(127). However, these agents are attributed to influencing survival of HSCs rather than the fibrogenic phenotype.

There are an equal number of studies contradicting the importance of canonical Wnt activity, instead supporting non-canonical Wnts and an absence of canonical signalling in the fibrogenic myofibroblast. One of the initial microarray studies identifying upregulated Wnt activity demonstrated no increase in expression of either total β-Catenin or its non-phosphorylated, active form in *in vitro* activated cells(121). Culture activation has shown to initiate upregulation of Wnt5a protein accompanied by downregulation of Wnt10b(122). The same study showed treatment with an agonist of canonical Wnt pathway stimulating decreased expression of fibrotic markers and a shift from a fibroblast like morphology. This suggests that active β-Catenin is associated with

30

maintaining quiescence, in keeping with its role in maintaining stem cell pluripotency(133). Disruption of non-canonical Wnt signalling appears to have functional consequences: depleting Wnt5a in the LX-2 cell line reduces Collagen I and TGF- β expression(130) and knockdown of Wnt4 causes a similar reduction of α -SMA expression in activated rat HSCs(119). Similar direct knockdown studies of canonical Wnts have not been published.

1.17 General Hypothesis and Main Aims

General hypothesis:

Similar regulatory mechanisms co-ordinate cell behaviour during embryogenesis and cellular response to tissue injury. Exploring these events will allow insight into mechanisms regulating myofibroblasts differentiation and wound healing response

Aims

- To characterise the expression of the Wnt morphogen pathway in HSCs
- To explore the effect of canonical Wnt signalling in HSCs
- To explore the potential for non-canonical Wnt signalling in HSCs
- Development of zebrafish for study of developmental control of fibrosis.

2.1 Primary cell culture

Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) were isolated from normal livers of male Sprague- Dawley rats by a standard, previously optimised protocol(46). Rats were anesthetised using a combination of Ketamine (2µl per gram of body weight) and Xylazine (1µl per gram of body weight). Livers were cannulated and flushed through with 300 ml Hank's Balanced Salt Solution without Calcium and Magnesium (HBSS -). Livers were then perfused with 3mg/ml Collagenase B (Roche) in HBSS containing Calcium and Magnesium(HBSS +) followed by 10mg/ml Pronase (Roche) in HBSS +. Following perfusion, livers were dissected out and incubated in 3mg/ml Pronase in HBSS+ for 15 mins. Livers were then homogenised under sterile conditions using nylon mesh, mixed with 10mg/ml DNAse in HBSS and centrifuged at 1800rpm for seven minutes. Supernatant was removed, pellets resuspended in HBSS + DNase and centrifuged again. HSCs were purified from liver homogenate by discontinuous density centrifugation in 11.5% Optiprep (Sigma Aldrich D1556): pellets resuspended in a solution of HBBS+ and Optiprep and centrifuged for 23 minutes at 1500g (with an acceleration of 7 and a deceleration of 2). Upper layer containing HSCs was removed, resuspended in HBSS+ and centrifuged again at 1800rpm for seven minutes. Isolated cells were resuspended in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) and initially plated on plastic T75 flasks for 20 minutes to allow attachment and separation of Kupffer cells. The non adhered HSCs were then washed, centrifuged and seeded onto 10cm² dishes or 6 well culture plates. Day 0, freshly isolated cells are considered quiescent HSCs (qHSCs). Cells were cultured on plastic for up to ten days and were considered activated (aHSCs) after Day 7.

Dermal fibroblasts were obtained from freshly harvested rat skin. Skin was briefly sterilised in 70% ethanol and washed in serum free medium. Skin was cut into small pieces and digested with collagenase A for 2.5 hours at 37°C. Digestion was then filtered, centrifuged, resuspended, strained to remove debris and plated onto 10cm dishes or 6 well culture plates. Primary cells were maintained in humidified atmosphere of 5% CO2 in air at 37°C. Cells were cultured in DMEM

supplemented with 16% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/mL penicillin, 100µg/mL streptomycin and 2mM L-glutamine,

2.2 Cell line Culture

Cell lines used were the immortalised human HSC cell line, LX-2, or the human embryonic kidney

(HEK 293). Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with

10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/mL penicillin, 100µg/mL streptomycin and 2mM L-glutamine.

Again, cells were maintained in humidified atmosphere of 5% CO2 in air at 37°C.

2.3 Cell Culture Reagents

Reagent	Source
Cyclosporin A	Tocris
SP600125	Calbiochem
Recombinant Human Dkk-2	RnD
Recombinant Human Dkk-3	RnD
Recombinant Human sFRP-1	RnD
Recombinant Human sFRP-5	RnD
Alkaine Phosphatase (CIAP)	Promega
IWP2	Sigma
ICG001	Tocris
Dvl-PDZ domain inhibitor	Calbiochem
Mitomycin C	Sigma

 Table 2.1 Cell culture treatment reagents

2.4 RNA isolation and cDNA Synthesis

Cells were washed with PBS and scraped into RLT buffer (Qiagen) with added β-mercaptoethanol. Total RNA was purified from harvested cells using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen), following the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA templates were prepared using Moloney murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase (MMLV-RT) (Promega). A nanodrop was used to quantify isolated RNA and 0.5 - 1µg was incubated at 37 °C for 30minutes with one unit of RQ1 RNase-Free DNase in 10X DNase reaction buffer. DNAse activity was then stopped using 0.5M EGTA solution and 0.5 µg of Random Hexamers were added. After a 5 minute incubation at 70 °C, samples were placed onto ice and a reaction mixture of 20units of RNAsin, a mix of dNTPs at 10mM each and one unit of MMLV-RT in 5X reaction buffer was added. After a final incubation of 60mins at 42 $^{\circ}$ C, samples were diluted with RNase free water to 10ng/µl of cDNA

2.5 RT-PCR

Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) was performed as follows: an initial 3 minutes at 94 $^{\circ}$ C, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation for 20 seconds at 94 $^{\circ}$ C, annealing at 50 – 60 $^{\circ}$ C (depending on primer pair) for 30 seconds and elongation at 72 $^{\circ}$ C for 30 seconds, followed by a final 7 minutes at 72 $^{\circ}$ C. Reagents used were DreamTaq PCR MasterMix (Life Technologies) consisting of Dream Taq DNA polymerase in 2X DreamTaq buffer along with a mix of dNTPs at 0.4 mM each and 4 mM MgCl2, 20ng of cDNA template and 0.1 μ M of primers made up to a 25 μ l reaction mix with RNase free water. Once amplification was complete, 3 μ l of 10x loading buffer was added to products before loading onto 1% agarose gels stained with 0.5 μ g/ml of Ethidium Bromide . Gels were run for one hour at 0.15A and results visualised under UV.

2.6 qPCR

Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) was performed using a 7500 Fast system (Applied Biosciences). Reagents used were SYBR Green JumpStart *Taq* ReadyMix (2X) (Sigma), 10ng of cDNA and 0.1 μ M of primers made up to a 13 μ l reaction mix. The program consisted of 40 cycles of denaturation for 10 seconds at 95 °C, annealing at 50 – 60 °C (depending on primer pair) for 30 seconds and elongation at 72 °C for 30 seconds, followed by a final dissociation curve cycle of 95 °C for 15 seconds, 60 °C for 60 seconds and 95 °C for 30 seconds. All results were normalised to a control housekeeping gene by subtracting average ct for housekeeping gene from the average ct of gene of interest, producing Δ ct. The average Δ ct obtained from experimental condition was

35

normalised to control conditions using the equation 1/POWER (2,avg Δct^x -avg Δct^y). Housekeeping genes used were : GAPDH (Human) , β -Actin (Rat) or rppo (Zebrafish).

2.7 Primers

Primers for target sequences were designed using Oligo Primer Analysis Software 4.0 (Molecular Biology Insights, Inc). Primers were designed to be between20-23 base pairs in lengths, with an optimal annealing temperature between 55 and 60 °C. Ideal primers produce a single clear band following PCR amplification when visualised on agarose gel. At qRT-PCR level, they produce a uniform melting curve with single peak and no contaminating primer dimers. Figure 2.1



Figure 2.2 Example Melt Curves (A)Example of ideal melt curve (B) Evidence of primer dimers (C) Example of non specific binding

2.7.1Wnt Ligands

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
rhWnt1f	GCAGTGGCCGATGGTGGGGTAT	hWnt6f	GAGAGTGCCAGTTCCAGTTCCG
rhWnt1r	CACTCACGCTGTGCAGGATCCC	hWnt6r	CAGCAGCTCGCCCATAGAACAG
rWnt3a f	TGGGTTGTCTGGCAGGTGTGAG	rhWnt7bf	GGACGGCTGTGACACCATGTGC
rWnt3a r	TCC ACCACCATCTCTGAGGCAC	rhWnt7br	GGTGAAGACCTCGGTGCGCTCG
hWnt3af	GGCTGGAAGTGGGGTGGCTGTA	rhWnt9bf	CGGCCCAGCAAGTACTCACCTG
hWnt3a r	CCTCGTTGTTGTGGCGGTTCAT	rhWnt9br	GCACTCCACGTAGCAGCACCAC
rWnt4f	CTGGAGAAGTGTGGCTGTGACC	rhWnt10af	TCTTCCTACTGCTGCTGGCTGC
rWnt4r	AAGGACTGTGAGAAGGCTACGC	rhWnt10ar	CATCAGGGTGACGCACACACAC
hWnt4f	GTGGGTCACGCACTGAAGGAGA	rWnt10bf	CTCGGGATTTCTTGGATTCCAG
hWnt4r	GGGGCTAGGCTCCAAGTACACC	rWnt10br	CAGGTTTGAATTGGCAGC
rhWnt5af	AACCCTGTTCAGATGTCAGAAG	hWnt10bf	GACACTTGCATTTCCGCTTCAG
rhWnt5ar	CTGCATGTGGTCCTGATACAAG	hWnt10br	GACACTTGCATTTCCGCTTCAG
rWnt6f	GGGAGGCTGCGGAGATGATGTC	rmhWnt11f	TCCCAAGCCAATAAACTGATG
rWnt6r	CAGAGCACAGGAACCCGAAAG C	rmhWnt11r	CAGGTATCGGGTCTTGAGGTC

Table 2.2 Primer sequences for Wnt ligands

2.7.2 Wnt Receptors

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
rFzd1f	GCGACGTACTGAGCGGAGTG	rRYK F	TCCACCCAGACGACCCAGTAT
rFzd1r	TGATGGTGCGGATGCGGAAG	rRYK R	CTTCACCTTGGCTTTGGCTTC
rFzd2f	CTCAAGGTGCCGTCCTATCTCAG	rROR1 F	CAGGGGGAAATAGAAAATCAG
rFzd2r	GCAGCACAACACCGACCATG	rROR1 R	ACAGTATGGGAAGGCGTAGTG
rFZD4f	CCCCACAAAACTCCCATCCAGC	rROR2 f	CGTGCGGTGGCTGAAGAATG
rFZD4r	CCACACGGCCATCCAAATATCC	rROR2 r	GCCCGTGTCTGTCGTGTCCA
rFZD5f	CTGGAGTCTTGGCGGCGCTTCA	rPTK7 F	CCCCTCAGCACCAAACAGAAG
rFZD5r	GCCCGGTCCTGCCAGTGAGTGC	rPTK7 R	GGACACCTTCACCTGCCTCTG
rFZD6f	AGACCTCCCCAGAAGCATCCCT		
rFZD6r	TTCTCCTTCACGGTGCCTGCTC		
rFZD8f	GCGAGTACGAGGAGCTGGGTGC		
rFZD8r	CCGCCAAGAACCACGTGAGAGA		

Table 2. 3 Primer Sequences for Fzd receptors

2.7.3 Extracellular Interactors

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
rSfrp1F	GCTCAACAAGAA CTGCCACATG	rDkk1F	GTGCTTTCAACGATGGCTCTCT
rSfrp1R	CCAGTAGAAGCCGAAGAACTGC	rDkk1R	TACTTGTTCCCGCCCTCATAGA
rSfrp2F	CCTGGAGACAAAGAGCAAGACC	rDkk2F	ATTGATGGGTTTTGTTGTGCTG
rSfrp2R	TGACCAGATAGGGAGCGT TGAT	rDkk2R	GGTAGCATCCTTCCACACTTTG
rSfrp4F	CTTCCCACTGTGTGGACCTT	rDkk3F	ACAACGAGA CCA ACA CGGAGAC
rSfrp4R	CTATCCCTCGAACGCAAGTC	rDkk3R	CTGGAG AACTGG CAG TAC CTGG
rSfrp5F	GAGATGCTGCACTGCCACAAGT	rDkk4F	GGTCTGCGTGAATGATGTTTGC
rSfrp5R	ACGAAGTCGCTGGAGCACATCT	rDkk4R	CCTGTCCCTTAT TGCTTTGTGA

Table 2.4 Primer Sequences for Wnt Extracellular interactors

2.7.4 Pathway Components

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
rhBcatF	AAGGTGCTGTCTGTCTGCTCTA	rDvl1f	CAGATGAGGAGGACAACACGA
rhBcatR	TTCCATCCCTTCCTGCTTAGTC	rDvl1r	GTGATGCTGCTGAAGGAGGAT
rGSK3F	CGAGTGGCGAGAAGAAGATGA	rDvl2f	GATTTTGGGGTGGTGAAGGAA
rGSK3R	GTGGTTTAATGTCTCGATGGCA	rDvl2r	AAGGGGGTAATGGTGGAGGTG
rAPCF	CGCTCCCACACACATCCAAACA	rDvl3f	CACGCCTAATGAGAAGACACA
rAPCR	ATGGGCTAGGTCGGCAGGATAC	rDvl3r	AGTGGAGTCTGTGATGCTGCT
rAxinF	GCAGGCGTT TGGAGGAAGAAGA		
rAxinR	GGGTCCGGTAGGGTATTGGTT C		
rLrp5F	AAGTGGACAGGGGAGAAAAGGA		
rLrp5R	TTGTCCTGCAACTGTACACCAG		
rLrp6F	ACCATCTAATCTCGTCACATCA		
rLrp6R	TACTGGATTGACTCTCGACAAA		

Table 2.5 Primer Sequences for Wnt pathway components

2.7.5 Wnt Targets

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
rSOX9 F	TGGCAGAGGGTGGCAGACAGC	hAxin2 1 f	CGAGATCCAGTCGGTGATGG
rSOX9R	TTGGGCGGCAGGTATTGGTCA	hAxin2 r	CCACACACGACCTTTAGGCT
hSOX9 F	AGCGAACGCACATCAAGAC	rAXin2f	TCCTTACCGCATGGGGAGTA
hSOX9 R	CTGTAGGCGATCTGTTGGGG	rAXin2r	GTGGGTTCTCGGGAAGTGAG
rCCND1 F	CTACCGCACAACGCACTTTCT	rNFATc1 f	GCAAAGCCCAAGTCTCTATCC
rCCND1 R	TTCTTCCTCCACTTCCCCTTC	rNFATc1 r	CATAGTGAGCCCTGTGGTGAG
hCCND1 F	CCAGAGGCGGAGGAGAACAAA	rNFATc2 f	ACAGTTCCGCTCAGGGCTCTC
hCCND1 R	AGCGTGTGAGGCGGTAGTAGG	rNFATc2 r	AAGAGGGACGGCTGCTGGTAG
rcMYC F	CCACAGCAAACCTCCACACA	rNFATc3 f	GAGAAGAGTCCTGGCATCAAC
rcMyc R	ACCCTGCCACTGTCCAACTT	rNFATc3 r	GAGTGATGGGGTGAAAGAGAG
rEVI F	ATTGGGTCAGTGGCTCATAAG	rNFATc4 f	ATCAGTATGGAGGACAGGGCT
rEVI R	GATGAAGATGCTGGGTGTGAG	rNFATc4 r	GAGTGGTGGGGAGGAAGGTAA

Table 2.6 Primer Sequences for typical Wnt target genes

$\textbf{2.7.6} \; \beta\text{-Catenin Interactors}$

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
hChibbyf	GGTTAGTGGCGGTGTGGAC	hPygopus2f	GTGAACGATGACCAGGATG
hChibbyr	AAGTGGGATTCAGCAGTGG	hPygopus2r	TGCCCTCACGGATGTAGAC
rChibbyf	CCGAAGAAGACTCCTCCTC	hrBCL9f	GGTCCGTCCCCTACAGTGAT
rChibbyr	CACACCCCCACTAATCACT	hrBCL9r	CATTTCCAGCCCCATTCTTCA
hPygopusf	GTGGACTGGATGGGTTAGGAG	hBCL92F	TCTGGGCTGAGGGAGGTGGAC
hPygopusr	GATTCGGTGGTGGAGCATACT	hBCL92R	TCTGCTGCTGCGGGGTCATCT

Table 2.7 Primer sequences for nuclear $\beta\mbox{-}Catenin\mbox{ interactors}$

2.7.6 Zebrafish Germ Layer Markers

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
drneurog1F	TCCTTTTCGCACACGGATGA	drpitx3F	CCGTTATCCCGACATGAGCA
drneurog1R	GTGCACAGTGGTTTCGTTCC	drpitx3R	CCACACCCGTACTCTTGCTT
drspry1F	CGTGTCTCTCAGGCTGTCA	drcxcr4aF	TTTCTCCCAACGGTGTACGG
drspry1R	GGGCCCTCAGTGTATTCGTT	drcxcr4aR	TACCAGTCTTTGGCCACGTC
drntlaF	CCACAAGGAAGTCCCAGACC	drmyoDF	CTCCGAGGTCCTGCGAATTTT
drntlaR	ATTGAACTGAGGAGGGCTGC	drmyoDR	GGGAAGGGGATATCCGACAA
drsnai1aF	CCCGGTGCCTGTTATACCTC	drctnnb1F	ACCAAGAGCAAGTAGCAGACA
drsnai1aR	GCAGGTTGCTGGTAGTCCAT	drctnnb1R	CGAACTGTGTGGAAGGTATCT
drfoxa1F	CCCCCAAACTCGGAACTGAA	drccnd1F	CACTTCCTTGCCAAACTGCC
drfoxa1R	ATGGGGGTCTCCTTTGAGGT	drccnd1R	ATGAGAGGCAACTGTCGGTG
drfoxa2F	TCAATGACAGGCATGTCCCC	drsox9aF	GCATGAATCTCCTCGACCCC
drfoxa2R	TAGCTCCTGCGGTAGGTCTT	drsox9aR	CTGGGTGCATCAGACAGACA
drsox17F	GCATCCGAAGGCCAATGAAC	drrpoF	CTGAACATCTCGCCCTTCTC
drsox17R	GCTTTCCATGACTTACCAAGC	drrpoR	TAGCCGATCTGCAGACACAC

Table 2.8 Primer sequences for zebrafish germ layer markers

2.8 Primers Used

2.8.1 Fibrogenic Targets

Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
rBActinf	AGAGGGAAATCGTGCGTGACA	hGAPDHf	GTCAGTGGTGGACCTGACCT
rBActinr	ACATCTGCTGGAAGGTGGACA	hGAPDHr	TGAGCTTGACAAAGTGGTCG
rαSMAf	CATGTCGTCCCAGTTGGTGAT	hαSMAf	CACTGTTCTCTGTGCCTAAAC
rαSMAr	CGAAGCGCAGAGCAAGAGA	hαSMAr	GGTTGGCCTTTCCCAGTG
rTGFβf	GAACCCCCATTGCTGTCC	hTGFβf	TGACAGCAGGGATAACACACT
rTGFβr	TCCGTCTCCTTGGTTCAG	hTGFβr	CGCACGCAGCAGTTCTTCTCC
rTIMP1f	GCATGGACATTTATTCTCCAC	hTIMP1f	ACTTCCACAGGTCCACAAC
rTIMP1r	TCTCTAGGAGCCCCGATCTG	hTIMP1r	CATTCCTCACAGCCAACAGT
rCollagen1f	TTCACCTACAGCACGCTTGTG	hCollagen1f	CAAGAGGAAGGCCAAGTCGAGG
rCollagen1r	GATGACTGTCTTGCCCCAAGTT	hCollagen1r	CGTTGTCGCAGACGCAGAT
rPPARγf	ATTTCTGCTCCACACTAT	hPPARγf	GGGATCAGCTCCGTGGA
rPPARyr	GCTTTATCCCCACAGACT	hPPARyr	TGCACTTTGGTACTCTTGAAGTT

Table 2.9 Primer sequences for human and rat fibrogenic targets

2.9 Protein Lysate Preparation

Cells were washed with cold PBS and scraped into Radio-Immunoprecipitation (RIPA) lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCL, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 1% NP-40, 10% glycerol) with added protease inhibitors (1 cOmplete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablet (Roche) per 50 mL buffer) and phosphatase inhibitors (200µl Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (Pierce) per 50 mL buffer). Samples were sonicated for six minutes then centrifuged at 4 °C for 15mins at 13000xg. The supernatant was aspirated and stored and the pellet discarded. Protein concentrations were then determined using the Bradford DC assay kit (BioRad). Equal amounts of protein sample were added to 5X Laemmli buffer and made up to a 20µl reaction mixture with RIPA.

2.10 Cytoplasmic and Nuclear Fractionation.

For cytoplasmic fractionation cells were washed, scraped into PBS, pelleted by centrifugation for 10 minutes (6000g) at 4 ^oC and resuspended in 650µl of fractionation buffer (10 mM HEPES, 60 mM KCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.075% Igepal, 1mM DTT and 1 mM PMSF, adjusted to pH 7.6). Samples were incubated on rotary wheel at 4 ^oC for 10 minutes. Samples were then vortexed, centrifuged at maximum speed for 30 seconds and the resulting supernatant taken. For nuclear fractionation cells were washed, scraped into PBS and then pelleted by centrifugation (6000g, 2minutes). Pellet was resuspended in 75µl of Dignam A buffer (10mM HEPES (pH7.9), 1.5mM MgCl_{2,,}10mM KCl, 0.5mM DTT, 0.2% NP-40)

, spun at 3000rpm for 10secs and supernatant discarded. This wash was repeated twice and pellet then resuspended in 20μl of Dignam C buffer (2mM HEPES(pH7.9),25 % glycerol, 420mM NaCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 0.5mM DTT, 200nM EDTA). Samples were incubated on ice for 10minutes and vortexed frequently. After incubation, samples were spun for 1 minute at 1300rpm. Supernatant was taken and pellet discarded.

2.11 Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP) Treatment for dephosphorylation of protein

Protein lysates from culture activated rat HSCs were incubated with 100 units of ALP (Promega) in reaction buffer (5 mM Tris pH 7.9, 10 mM NaCl, 1 mM MgCl₂, and 0.1 mM DTT) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Samples were then diluted with 5X Laemelli buffer and used for Western Blotting.

2.12 FLAG Immunoprecipitation

Medium from LX-2 cells overexpressing Flag tagged sFRP4 subjected to immunoprecipitation using the FLAG Tagged Protein Immunoprecipitation Kit (Sigma). 1ml of medium was added to 40μl of Anti-FLAG M2 affinity gel resin and incubated at 4 ^oC overnight. After incubation, resin was centrifuged, supernatant removed and washed 3 times with 0.5ml of kit specific Wash buffer. Protein was then eluted with 3X FLAG Peptide following manufacturer's instructions. Eluted protein then subjected to SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

2.13 SDS PAGE and Western Blotting

Samples were denatured by incubation at 95 °C for 5 minutes and then separated by electrophoresis on 10% sodium dodecylsulfate–polyacrylamide gels. Gels were run for approximately 2 hours at 100 volts then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham). Membranes were first blocked to minimise non specific binding using 5% Milk in Tris-buffered saline (TBS)/Tween 20 (TBS-T) solution. After 1 hour blocking, membranes were incubated with antibody overnight at 4°C. Membranes were washed three times with TBS-T solution before a 1 hour incubation at room temperature with horseradish peroxidise (HRP) conjugated secondary antibody at a 1:5000 dilution. Membranes were again washed with TBS-T before visualisation by chemiluminescence reaction (Pierce) followed by exposure to film.

2.13.1 Primary Antibodies Used

Antibody (Clone Number)	Dilution	Source	Catalogue #	Predicted MW (kDa)
CaMKII (pan)	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	3362S	60, 50
с-Мус (9Е10)	1 in 1000	Pierce	A1-980	45
Cyclin D1 (92G2)	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#2978	36
Dvl2	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#3216	90-95
DNMT1 (60B1220.1)	1 in 500	Genetex	GTX48548	183
FLAG	1 in 500	Sigma	F3165	13
Fzd4	1 in 500	Abcam	ab83042	65
Fzd8	1 in 1000	Abcam	ab75235	73
GAPDH	1 in 2000	Abcam	ab9485	34
LEF1 (C12A5)	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#2230	25-58
H2A.Z	1 in 1000	Abcam	ab4174	14
H3K27me3	1 in 1000	Abcam	ab6002	17
p84 (5E10)	1 in 1000	Genetex	GTX70220	84
PJNK Thr183/Tyr185)	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#9251	46, 53
sFRP1	1 in1000	Abcam	ab4193	37
sFRP4	1 in 500	Abcam	ab32784	50
TCF1 (C63D9)	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#2203	48, 50
TCF3 (D15G11)	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#2883	78
TCF4 (C48H11)	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#2569	58, 79
ΤGFβ (56E4)	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#3709	45 to 65
TJNK	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#9252	46, 54
Wnt5a	1 in 1000	Abcam	ab174100	45
Wnt5a (C27E8)	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#2530	45

αTubulin	1 in 1000	Cell Signal	#2144	52
Bactin (AC-15)	1 in 2000	Abcam	(ab6276	45
β-Catenin (Active) (8E7)	1 in 500	Millipore	05-665	92
β-Catenin (Total)	1 in 1000	Abcam	ab6302	92

Table 2.10 Primary antibodies used

2.13.2 Secondary Antibodies Used

Antibody	Dilution	Source
Goat Anti-Rabbit	1 in 5000	Cell Signal
Rabbit Anti-Mouse	1 in 5000	Sigma

Table 2.11 Secondary Antibodies used

2.14 ELISA for TGFβ1

Supernatants harvested from primary rat HSCs and assayed using TGF β 1 Quantikine®ELISA kit (R&D Systems) as per manufacturer's instructions. Reagents, standard dilutions, control and experimental samples were prepared as directed. 50 µL of Assay Diluent RD1-21added to 50µl of Standard, Control or experimental samples and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Plate washed with wash buffer and 100 µL of TGF- β 1 Conjugate added to each well. Samples wereincubated for a further 2 hours at room temperature and washed again. 100 µL of Substrate Solution was then added to each well and samples incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Finally, 100 µL of Stop solution was added and optical density of each well determined using a microplate reader set to 450 nm with correction at 540nm. Supernatants from two separate preparation of HSCs used for assay.

2.15 Transformation of competent bacteria

Plasmid DNA was mixed with 100 μ l of JM109 competent bacteria and 0.1M CaCl₂. After 30minutes incubation on ice, bacteria were heat shocked for 45 seconds at 42 $^{\circ}$ C, returned to ice for five

minutes then incubated for 1 hour in 500 μ l of Luria broth (LB) medium (Sigma) under gentle agitation. 100 μ l of cell suspension was spread onto LB agar plates containing selection antibiotic and incubated at 37^oC. After overnight incubation, single colonies were picked, placed into 5mls of LB medium containing selection antibiotic and again incubated overnight at 37^oC under agitation.

2.16 Purification of Plasmids

Plasmid DNA was purified via alkaline lysis. QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen) was used for minipreparations of DNA, following manufacturer's instructions. For maxi-preparations, 1 μ l of transformed bacteria was added to 300ml LB medium containing selection antibiotic and incubated at 37 ^oC under agitation. After overnight incubation, suspension was centrifuged at 4500 g for 15 minutes. NucleoBond Xtra Maxi kit (Clontech) was used for purification of plasmid, as per manufacturer's instructions. Plasmid DNA was quantified using a Nanodrop.

2.17 Cell Transfection

Cells were transfected with plasmid DNA 24 hours after passage at approximately 40-60% confluency. Transfection was mediated via Effectene transfection reagent (Qiagen) following manufacturer's instruction. Standard transfection period was 48 hours before harvest. DNA concentration was dependent on vessel size: 1 µg in 10cm dishes, 0.5 µg per well of 6 well plate, 0.25 µg per well of 12 well plate.

Construct	Source	Resistance
TOPFLASH	Millipore	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
FOPFLASH	Millipore	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
Renilla Luciferase	Promega	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
hWnt3a	Origene	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
hWnt5a	Origene	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)

2.17.1 Constructs used

hWnt10b	Origene	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
hFzd4	Origene	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
hFzd8	Origene	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
hROR2	Origene	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
hsFRP4	Origene	Kanamycin (50ug/ml)
hBcatenin (S37A)	Orford <i>et al</i> (134)	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
hLEF1	Origene	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
NFAT Luciferase	Jans et al (135)	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
pGL3 Control Luciferase	Promega	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
(empty)		
pcDNA3.1	Invitrogen	Ampicillin (50µg/ml)
Table 2.12 Constructs used		

Table 2.12 Constructs used

2.18 Luciferase Assay

β-Catenin activity was measured by transfection of the TOPFLASH firefly luciferase TCF-reporter construct. NFAT transcriptional activity was measured by transfection of an NFAT firefly luciferase reporter plasmid containing nine copies of an NFAT-binding site from the IL-4 promoter. For luciferase assays, 0.5µg of plasmid was contransfected with 0.05 µg of *Renilla* luciferase plasmid serving as a transfection control. TOPFLASH assays were accompanied by a further negative control with separate transfection of FOPFLASH reporter constructs with mutant TCF binding sites. TOPflash activity was then normalised to the ratio of FOPflash activity. After 48 hours transfection, cells were scraped into 1 x Passive Lysis Buffer (Promega), freeze thawed and luminescence measured using the Dual Luciferase Reporter Kit (Promega) and a luminometer. Transfections were performed in duplicate and data presented as average ratios of firefly to *Renilla* luciferase activity

2.19 siRNA Knockdown

sFRP4 oligo nucleotide sequences

Oligonucleotide	Sequence
siGENOME siRNA Rat sFRP4 (89803)	GGAUAGACAUCACACAGA
siGENOME siRNA Rat sFRP4(89803)	GCGAUGAGCUGCCUGUCUA

sFRP4 siRNA oligonucleotides designed and ordered from Thermo Scientific. Rat HSCs (passage 2 – 3) transfected with a combination of siRNA at increasing doses using Interferin transfection reagent (Polyplus). Cells subjected to second dose of siRNA 24 hours after first and harvested for protein 72 hours after initial dose. Nonspecific siRNA used as a control.

2.20 Scratch Wound Assay to assess migration

90% confluent LX-2 cells seeded in 6 well plates were treated with Mitomycin-C (Sigma) for 30 minutes to inhibit proliferation and then a single scratch made in each well using a sterile 200µl pipette tip. Bright field images of each well were taken using a Zeiss Axio Observer over a period of 8 hours. At each time point, three fields per scratch were analysed and results presented are averages of ten measurements of wound width per field. Experiments were performed in triplicate. For Wnt overexpression studies, LX-2s were transfected with Wnt5a or empty control expression vectors 48 hours before scratch injury. For IWP2 and Wnt Conditioned medium treatment, LX-2s were pre-treated with IWP2/Wnt conditioned media for 30 minutes before scratch injury.

2.21 Acridine Orange staining to assess apoptosis

Apoptosis assays were conducted on cells seeded in 12-well plates at 20 – 30% confluency. Apoptotic cells were detected by staining with Acridine Orange (1µg/ml) and visualisation under a FITC filter using a Zeiss Axio Observer. Five random fields per well were counted at x20 magnification in duplicate wells.

2.22 MTT Assay to assess proliferation

Cells were seeded in 96 well plates. After 24 hours treatment, cells were treated with MTT (3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) (5mg/ml, Sigma) for 4 hours. Medium was then aspirated and cells incubated with DMSO (Sigma) for 30 minutes. Plate was read using plate reader at 570nm absorbance.

2.23 Zebrafish Maintenance

Wild type zebrafish line used was the AB line. Transgenic lines used were the LiPan (*Tg(fabp10:dsRed, elavl3:GFP*) Tg(*ngn1:*GFP) and Tg(*isl1*:GFP). Adult fish were maintained on a light dark cycle of 14:10 hours at 28°C. Embryos were collected after spawning and incubated at 28°C in fish water containing 0.6g/L salt (Crystal Sea Marinemix; Marine Enterprises International) and methylene blue (0.002 g/L) (Sigma).

2.24 Morpholino injections

A morpholino was obtained from Gene Tools, designed using their provided software to target the h2afv transcript (CTTTTCCTGCTTTGCCTCCTGCCAT) and obtained from Gene Tools. A standard control morpholino (CCTCTTACCTCAGTTACAATTTATA) with no known targets in the zebrafish genome was used as a control. Morpholinos were injected at the 1 - 8 cell stage using a microinjector with needles calibrated to inject 4nl per embryo. Viable larvae were defined as normal, severe or mildly affected as demonstrated. For coinjection experiments morpholinos targeting *dnmt1* or *p53* were used.

2.25 Genomic DNA Isolation and Slot Blot to assess DNA methylation

Larvae were collected in lysis buffer (10mM TRIS, 100mM EDTA, 0.5% SDS) with added 10ng/ml Proteinase K and incubated at 55 °C for 2hours. Samples were centrifuged at maximum speed for five minutes and supernatant used for DNA isolation via Phenol Chloroform extraction. DNA was precipitated using 100% ethanol. Pellets were then washed with 75% ethanol, air dried and resuspended in 1 x Tris-EDTA (TE) buffer. 600ng of DNA was used for slot blot analysis. DNA was diluted in 20µl of TE buffer and denatured with equal volume of denaturing solution at 95 °C. After

10min incubation equal volume of ice cold 2M ammonium acetate was added and samples were loaded onto a nitrocellulose membrane pre-soaked in 2X SSC buffer. Membrane was then dried and baked in vacuum oven at 80 °C. After one hour membrane was blocked in 5% milk/TBST for a further hour and then incubated in primary antibody overnight at 4 °C. After primary incubation, membrane was washed 3 times in TBST, incubated with secondary antibody for a further hour then washed and visualised using chemiluminescence reaction. Antibodies used were anti-5-MeC (Eurogentech) (1 in 2000) and rabbit anti-mouse (1 in 5000). Samples blotted in parallel were stained with 0.2% Methylene blue in 0.3M NaOAc to detect total DNA. The freeware programme GelAnalyzer was used to quantify 5MeC and methylene blue intensity and 5MeC levels were determined by normalising to total DNA.

2.26 Touch Response Assay to assess motility

A single two day post fertilisation (dpf) fish was placed in a dish marked with concentric rings 1cm apart as illustrated by Figure 6.5. Fish were touched once lightly on the head and the zone they swam into recorded (Zone 1, 2 or 3).

2.27 Statistical Analysis

GraphPad Prism 6 was used to calculate mean and standard error values. Data presented as averages ± standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis was performed using a student's T-Test (paired or unpaired where appropriate). A P value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001)

CHAPTER 3: Wnt Pathway Characterisation in Hepatic Stellate Cells

3.1 Introduction

From the current literature there is considerable conflict regarding Wnt signalling and HSCs. This first Chapter intended to decipher which patterns of Wnt expression and activity were observable here in HSCs. Many previous studies focus predominantly on Wnt ligand expression in HSCs, overlooking the potential effects of Wnt receptors and extracellular modulator. A thorough study of how the whole Wnt pathway responds upon transdifferentiation will be far more informative. This will enable identification of the ligands expressed by HSCs, the receptors which meditate their signal and other components able to enhance or repress signalling.

3.2 Increased Wnt activity accompanies HSC activation

All current literature at least agrees that increased Wnt signalling accompanies HSC activation(110, 119-122, 126, 130, 132). These studies predominantly infer activation of the Wnt pathway from upregulation of Wnt ligand mRNA expression. However the complexity of the pathway means that this may not necessarily equate with upregulated Wnt activity. To begin, I first wanted to determine increased active Wnt signalling in HSCs based on a reliable downstream indicator. I selected phosphorylation of the downstream protein Dvl as a putative marker, Dvl being the first signal mediator in the pathway after Wnt/Fzd binding. It mediates all branches of Wnt signalling and should therefore function as a marker of both canonical and non-canonical activity(88). When visualised on Western blot, two Dvl bands are apparent: a phosphorylated, higher weight form and a non-phosphorylated lower weight form. A shift to a phosphorylated form of Dvl has previously been

used as a marker of active Wnt and I aimed to reproduce this in primary HSCs(136). Cell lysates from activated rat HSCs (seven days in culture) show a clear double band when immunoblotted with an anti-Dvl antibody (Figure3.1A). Treatment of lysates with alkaline phosphatase (ALP), a dephosphorylating agent, removes the top band, demonstrating its specifity to phosphorylation(Figure3.1B). mRNA expression of all members of the Dvl family (Dvl1,Dvl2, DVl3) is significantly increased in aHSCs when compared to qHSCs by qRT-PCR (Figure3.1C).

In vitro culture promotes transdifferentiation of freshly isolated primary HSCs, resulting in myofibroblast like cells by Day 7. This spontaneous activation is a commonly used method of studying HSC behaviour(30). Protein expression of Dvl is visible by Day 3 of a time course of *in vitro* activation and expression of hyperphosphorylated Dvl is visible by Days 5 and 7 as cells approach a fully activated phenotype. I was unable to detect Dvl expression in quiescent HSCs suggesting that Wnt signalling is active only upon HSC activation (Figure 3.1D).



Figure 3.1 Increased expression of phosphorylated Dvl in aHSCs

(A)Two bands are distinguishable upon immunoblot for Dvl2: a lower and a higher weight band corresponding to non-phosphorylated, Wnt inactive and phosphorylated, Wnt active forms respectively. GAPDH serves as a loading control (B) The higher band can be attributed to phosphorylation as treatment of protein lysates with the dephosphorylating agent Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP) removed the higher band. GAPDH serves as a loading control (C) mRNA levels of Dvl family members Dvl1,Dvl2, Dvl3 were quantified by qRT-PCR in quiescent rat HSCs (qHSC) and HSCs activated after seven days in culture (aHSC) (n=3). (D) Protein lysates from two different preparations of rat HSCs at different time points in culture were immunoblotted for Dvl2. Expression of Dvl2 is detectable by Day3 and phosphorylated form visible at Day5. β actin serves as a loading control. . qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM *p<0.05, **p<0.01. Student's *t* Test (unpaired).

3.3 HSCs express predominantly non-canonical ligands

Expression of phosphorylated Dvl convincingly implies active Wnt signalling in aHSCs. I next wanted to demonstrate that increased Wnt ligand expression accompanies phosphorylation of Dvl and assessed expression of a variety of canonical and non-canonical ligands by RT-PCR in aHSCs and whole rat liver (Figure3.2A). Rat brain was used as a positive control due to its diversity in Wnt expression(137). Only non-canonical ligands could be detected in aHSCs: Wnt4, Wnt5a and Wnt6. Wnt7b and Wnt9b expression was present in whole liver only, suggesting different Wnt expression profiles of different liver cell types as previously described(138). Wnt6 expression intriguingly appears expressed selectively in aHSCs and not detectable in either whole liver or rat brain.

Expression of Wnt 4, 5a and 6 were significantly upregulated upon activation when quantified by qRT-PCR. (Figure3.2B). Wnt expression in quiescent HSCs was low (Ct> 30) again suggesting that Wnt signalling is activated only during transdifferentiation. Further analysis across a time-course of in-vitro activation suggests temporal differences in Wnt expression: Wnt4 upregulated at Day 4 well before an increase in Wnt5a at Day 8 (Figure3.2C). This may suggest different requirements for specific Wnts ligands at different stages of activation.

Knowledge of the non-canonical branches of Wnt signalling is lacking in comparison to the welldefined non-canonical branches. Wnt6 appears to be an interesting candidate for further study due to its selective expression in HSCs. However, literature on its targets and mechanisms are limited and reagents such as antibodies are of poor quality. Wnt5a however is one of the few examples of a well studied non-canonical ligand with a large amount of literature on its roles in influencing cell behaviour(103). Furthermore, significant upregulation of Wnt5a by HSCs has previously been reported in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models(110, 122, 126, 130). Based on this, I selected Wnt5a as a target for investigating the role of non-canonical Wnt signalling in HSCs, despite increases in Wnt4 and Wnt6 expression appearing more profound. Wnt5a protein expression across a time course of activation could not be analysed due to the poor cross reactivity of Wnt5a antibodies with rat.

52

However Wnt5a protein expression and secretion are evident upon analysis of whole cell lysates and concentrated medium from the LX-2 cell line (Figure 3.2D).

My data so far correlate with the several reports of increased non-canonical Wnt ligands contributing to HSC activation. One group has suggested the alternative: that the increased canonical activity is important(110, 132). Canonical ligands in rat HSCs above could not be detected and to further investigate this possibility, mRNA expression levels of canonical Wnt3a and Wnt10b were assessed in human HSCs by RT-PCR . Wnt overexpressing LX-2 cells were used as a positive control (Figure3.3A). Minimal expression of canonical ligands was detected when compared with the non-canonical Wnt5a. This was further confirmed by quantifying differences through qRT-PCR (Figure3.3B). These data suggests that both rat and human HSCs express a predominantly noncanonical range of Wnt ligands.



Figure 3.2 HSCs increase Wnt ligand expression upon activation

(A)Wnt ligand expression was analysed and compared by RT-PCR between rat aHSCs, rat whole liver, rat brain (+ve) and water only (¬-ve). Expression of Wnts 4, Wnt5a, Wnt6 only detected in HSCs. (B) mRNA levels of Wnt4, Wnt5a and Wnt6 were by qRT-PCR in quiescent rat HSCs (qHSC) and HSCs activated after seven days in culture (aHSC) (n=5) (C) mRNA levels of Wnt4 and Wnt5a were quantified by qRT-PCR across a time course of HSC activation (n=3). (D)Wnt5a is detectable in both whole cell protein lysates and concentrated culture medium from the LX-2 cell line when analysed by Western Blot. qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control \pm SEM *p<0.05, **p<0.01. Student's *t* Test (unpaired).



Figure 3.3 Canonical ligand expression is minimal in aHSCs

(A)mRNA expression of Wnts3a, 10b and 5a were analysed by RT-PCR in three different preparations of human HSCs. (B) mRNA transcript levels of Wnts3a and 10b were quantified by qRT-PCR in LX-2 and human HSCs and compared relative to transcript levels of Wnt5a (relative level of transcriptional difference (RLTD)).

3.4 HSCs express a variety of Wnt receptors

Data so far demonstrates non-canonical ligand expression in HSCs. Available receptors next needed to be assessed. The Wnt pathway has 10 different Fzd receptors, each possessing different specificities of ligand binding and different associations with canonical and non-canonical activity(85). The literature is not consistent when defining the expression patterns of Fzds in HSCs: some studies suggesting uniform expression of all ten(138) while others suggest differential expression of a select few(110, 121). Here, RT-PCR analysis confirms expression of Fzds1,2,4,5,6 and 8 in HSCs (Figure3.4A). Expression of a variety of Fzd receptors suggests potential for response to a number of different Wnt ligands despite HSCs themselves appearing to only express non canonical Wnts.

How Fzd receptors respond to transdifferentiation was next quantified. Surprisingly aHSCs appear to downregulate the majority of Fzd receptors, significant decreases occurring for Fzd1, Fzd4 and Fzd8 (Figure3.4B). Fzd2 is the only receptor upregulated, although the modest two fold increase was not statistically significant. Fzd2 is one of the better characterised Fzd receptors, and frequently associated with non-canonical ligands in comparison with the canonical associated Fzd1(139-142). This fits with the predominantly non-canonical expression profile of aHSCs. Based on this, I next looked at expression of the non-canonical associated Wnt receptors and co-receptors: ROR1, ROR2, Ryk, Ptk7(87), predicting a similar increase in expression due to the non-canonical associations seen so far. Expression of all four receptors was detected in HSCs by RT-PCR (Figure3.4C). However, transdifferentiation was associated with a reduction in expression, similar to the majority of the Fzds (Figure3.4D).

I next asked when this decrease in receptor expression occurs: whether it is early and a contributing factor to the activation of HSCs or later on, a possible consequence of HSCs becoming refractory to

56

Wnt signalling. I quantified the expression patterns of the most significantly decreased receptors Fzd4 and Fzd8 in more detail across a time course of activation (Figure3.5A) . The decrease in expression appears to occur early, reduced substantially by day 3 with expression remaining low throughout the time course. Western Blot analysis confirms a decrease in protein expression with activation (Figure3.5B). Despite a decrease in expression, the majority of Fzds are still noticeably present in aHSCs when visualised by RT-PCR and presumably still able to function in Wnt signalling.



Figure 3.4 HSCs decrease Wnt receptor expression upon activation

(A) mRNA expression of Fzds 1,2,4,5,6 and 8 can be detected in both quiescent (qHSC) and active(aHSCs) HSCs by RT-PCR. BActin serves as a loading control. Water only (-ve) serves as a negative control. (B) mRNA levels of Fzd receptors were then quantified in quiescent rat HSCs (qHSC) and HSCs activated after seven days in culture (aHSC) by qRT-PCR. (n=4) (C) mRNA expression of ROR1, ROR2, Ryk and Ptk7 can be detected in both quiescent and aHSCs by RT-PCR. β Actin serves as a loading control. Water only (-ve) serves as a negative control. (D) mRNA levels of non-canonical receptors were then quantified in quiescent (qHSC) and active (aHSC) HSCs by qRT-PCR (n=3). qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM *p<0.05, ***p<0.001. Student's *t* Test (unpaired).



Figure 3.5 Decrease in Fzd expression occurs early in activation

(A) mRNA levels of Fzd4 and Fzd8 were quantified by qRT-PCR across a time course of culture activation of rat HSCs (n=3). (B) Protein expression of Fzd4 and Fzd8 was analysed by Western Blot across a time course of culture activation of rat HSCs. GAPDH serves as a loading control. qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM

3.5. HSCs increase expression of extracellular interactors

Expression and function of extracelluar interactors of Wnt such as the sFRPs or the Dkk families has not been fully explored in either HSCs or the liver as a whole. In contrast to the decreased expression of Fzd receptors , mRNA expression of sFRPs 1,2 and 4 and Dkk3 in aHSCs significantly increased in HSCs (Figure3.6A and B) . Expression of sFRPs was undetectable in qHSCs by RT-PCR (Figure 3.6A), again suggesting that sFRPs function only in aHSCs. Dkk1, Dkk2 and Dkk4 expression could not be detected in either qHSCs or aHSCs while sFRP5 expression was highly variable. sFRP4 appears to be the most extensively upregulated sFRP. Analysis of protein expression across a time course further confirms this, with expression substantially increased by day 3 (Figure3.6C).

As mentioned previously, the role of these Wnt interacting proteins has not yet been resolved and there is evidence for them either promoting or repressing Wnt signalling depending on cell context(92, 93). Significant increases in expression with HSC activation have not yet been reported and I aimed to explore their effect on HSC biology and behaviour more thoroughly. Sources indicate that the enhancing or inhibitory effect of these proteins may be influenced by concentration(99, 143). They are proposed to function as biphasic modulators of Wnt signalling: inhibitory at high concentrations and stimulatory at lower. Based on this, I treated LX-2 cells with low concentrations of recombinant sFRPs and Dkks, aiming to stimulate WNT signalling.

60


Figure 3.6 HSCs increase expression of several extracellular interactors of Wnt.

(A) mRNA expression of sFRP family members and Dkk3 was analysed in both quiescent (qHSC) and active(aHSCs) HSCs by RT-PCR. βActin serves as a loading control. Water only (-ve) serves as a negative control.
(B)mRNA expression levels of sFRPs and Dkk3 were then quantified in quiescent rat HSCs (qHSC) and HSCs activated after seven days in culture (aHSC) (n=4) (C) Protein lysates across a time course of *in vitro* activation were immunoblotted for sFRP4 expression. GAPDH serves as a loading control. qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired).

I began with Dkk3 treatment at time points of two or six hours and used Dvl2 phosphorylation as an indicator of increased Wnt activity. Dkk3 is a considered a divergent member of the predominantly inhibitory Dkk family with evidence suggesting its ability to enhance Wnt signalling (96, 97). Here, treatment of LX-2 cells with 5nM recombinant Dkk3 appeared to increase hyper-phosphorylated Dvl expression at the two hour time point (Figure3.7A). I decided to use 5nM as a concentration potentially able to promote Wnt stimulation.

Serum starved LX-2s were treated for 24 hours with 5nM Dkk2, Dkk3, sFRP1 or sFRP5 and qRT-PCR used to assess effects on transcript levels of fibrogenic markers such as α-Sma, Collagen1 or TGFβ or downstream markers of canonical Wnt signalling . Dkk2 treatment resulted in no significant change in either set of markers. A small but significant upregulation of β-Catenin canonical targets Axin2 and cMYC occurred upon Dkk3 treatment along with a small upregulation of Collagen1 expression (Figure 3.7C). This could imply upregulation of Wnt activity, corresponding with the increased phosphorylation of Dvl observed by Western Blot. sFRP treatment appeared to have an opposite effect. Although sFRP1 treatment had no consistent trend, sFRP5 treatment suppressed all 3 fibrogenic markers analysed as well as cMyc and CyclinD expression (Figure 3.7B). sFRP5 expression in HSCs was highly variable, significantly increased in some preparations whereas unchanged in others suggesting it may not be a consistent factor in HSC activation. From this it appears that these secreted factors have opposing effects on fibrotic potential of HSCs. As aHSCs express substantially more sFRPs than Dkk3 it could be concluded that their role in primary cells is one of inhibition.



Figure 3.7 sFRPs and Dkks promote opposing effects on HSC gene expression.

(A) Protein lysates from either untreated controls or LX-2 cells treated with 5nM recombinant Dkk3 for 2 or 6 hours were immunoblotted for Dvl2 expression. GAPDH serves as a loading control. mRNA of fibrogenic markers or Wnt targets genes were were quantified in LX-2 cells treated for 24 hours with 5nM sFRP1 and sFRP5 (B) or Dkk2 and Dkk3 (C) (n=3) qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control \pm SEM *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired).

sFRPs were originally identified as SARPs (secreted apoptotic related proteins) able to modulate the apoptotic response in cells(100). Based on this I questioned whether their role could be mediation of apoptosis in HSCs. I aimed to stimulate apoptosis in LX-2s and either pre-treat or co-treat with recombinant sFRPs and Dkks. I chose sFRP1 and Dkk3 as they are reliably increased in aHSCs and used a range of concentrations between 1 – 50nM. 50µM cyclohexamide in low serum medium (0.5%) for 16 hours was used as a stimulator of apoptosis, quantifying apoptosis using acridine orange assay. Firstly, LX-2 cells were pre-treated for 6 hours with sFRP1 or Dkk3 before cyclohexamide mediated induction of apoptosis. Apoptotic cell percentage appeared to vary with concentration(Figure 3.8A). Both Dkk3 and sFRP1 appeared to induce apoptosis upon low dose (5nM) whereas the higher dose (50nM) treatment reduced apoptosis percentage, although changes did not reach statistical significance. Simultaneous treatment of cyclohexamide and Dkk3 did not show the same trend. Simultaneous sFRP1 and cyclohexamide resulted in a similar reduction at 50nM (Figure 3.8B). This may propose a role for sFRP1 in modulating response of HSCs to apoptotic stimulus instead of directly affecting fibrotic gene expression.









40 -



Figure 3.8 sFRP1 and Dkk3 treatment mildly influences apoptotic response

Apoptosis was induced in serum starved LX-2 cells by 50μ M cyclohexamide (CHX) treatment . Effect of varying concentrations of recombinant Dkk3 and sFRP1 on the apoptotic response was analysed by acridine orange staining in two separate treatments. Cells treated with 1, 5 or 50nM recombinant protein either 6 hours before ((A) Pre-treatment) or in conjunction with 50μ M CHX ((B) Simultaneous) (n=2)

Figure 3.6B identifies sFRP4 as the most significantly upregulated secreted factor, both at mRNA and protein level. As a first step in identifying its function in HSCs I attempted to deplete expression via siRNA transfection. A combination of siRNAs specific to sFRP4 were transfected into primary rat aHSCs using Inteferin meditated transfection. However, despite multiple attempts using a variety of concentrations and conditions successful knockdown could not be achieved (Figure 3.9A). Transfection via electroporation was also attempted but resulted in highly stressed cells and no significant knockdown (Figure 3.9B). siRNA mediated knockdown of sFRP4 was therefore not further pursued.

I next attempted overexpression of sFRP4 protein in LX-2s reasoning that this may be a more permanent source of stimulus. Overexpressing cells will consistent produce sFRP4 rather than undergoing a brief stimulus with recombinant protein. LX-2s transfected with 1µg of sFRP4 expression vector clearly upregulate sFRP4 protein expression, as demonstrated by Western Blot analysis (Figure 3.10A). The expression vector used promotes translation of sFRP4 proteins tagged with a FLAG epiptope. This provides a simple way of demonstrating successfully secretion of sFRP4 by performing FLAG IPs on medium collected from overexpressing cells. Figure 3.10B demonstrates substantial expression and secretion, no significant alterations in fibrogenic gene expression or canonical Wnt targets were observed when analysed by qRT-PCR (Figure 3.10C). I next questioned whether sFRP4 overexpression may provide a similar protective effect upon induction of apoptosis as suggested by sFRP1 recombinant protein treatment. I used similar experimental conditions: low serum medium (0.5%) combined with 50µM Cyclohexamide treatment. However sFRP4 overexpression resulted in no change in apoptotic response (Figure 3.11)



Figure 3.9 Attempted siRNA knockdown of sFRP4

(A) Western blot analysis of sFRP4 expression in primary rat aHSCs transfected with increasing concentrations of sFRP4 targeting siRNA via Interferin mediated transfection. GAPDH serves as a loading control. (B) Western blot analysis of sFRP4 expression in primary rat aHSCs transfected with sFRP4 targeting siRNA by electroporation.



Figure 3.10 sFRP4 overexpression in LX-2 cell line has minimal effect.

(A) Protein expression of sFRP4 was analysed by Western blot in control (-) and sFRP4 overexpressing LX-2 cells (+). GAPDH serves as a loading control. (B) FLAG IP of medium from in control (-) and sFRP4 overexpressing LX-2 cells (+)analysed by Western Blot. mRNA levels of fibrogenic markers (C) or Wnt targets (D) quantified by qRT-PCR in sFRP4 overexpressing LX-2 cells compared to empty vector controls (n=3). qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM



Figure 3.11 sFRP4 overexpression has minimal effect on apoptosis

% Apoptosis as assessed by Acridine Orange staining compared between control (-) and SFRP-4 overexpressing LX-2 cells (+) treated for 24hrs with 50μ M cyclohexamide (CHX) under serum free conditions (n=3).

3.6 Discussion

Increased Wnt activity in myofibroblasts is implicated in numerous models of fibrosis, suggested to be one of the developmental signalling pathways reactivated upon injury (107, 111, 112). Early studies in HSCs also support a role for Wnt signalling in contributing to the transdifferentiation of qHSCs. Evidence from this Chapter agrees with all current literature, demonstrating increased Wnt activity and ligand expression in aHSCs as well as increased activity of the downstream marker Dvl . aHSCs express a variety of Wnt ligands, receptors and extracellular interactors, suggesting the potential for Wnt signalling to regulate activation of HSCs. The absence of Dvl expression and low levels of Wnts in quiescent HSCs suggests HSC derived Wnt signalling is minimal in healthy liver, as observed for other morphogens.

This Chapter offers several unexpected findings. Firstly, the predominantly non-canonical range of ligands expressed by LX-2 cells and HSCs. Figure 3.3 highlights the extremely limited expression of the canonical Wnts 3a and 10b when compared to the highly expressed Wnt5a. This appears to contrast with several previous studies, Cheng *et al.* for example purport that the canonical Wnt3a and Wnt10b are significant contributors to HSC activation(110). However this study also reported a greater upregulation of non-canonical ligands at the mRNA level: Wnt4 and Wnt5a increased by 12 fold rather than the 3 fold observed for Wnts 3a and 10b. Functional study of β -Catenin /Canonical Wnt signalling is facilitated by numerous techniques allowing direct read out of β -Catenin activity and a greater number of targeted reagents. This may explain why many of the studies pursued canonical ligand expression, HSCs still express a variety of canonical pathways. Despite this lack of canonical ligand expression of different Wnts occurs at different times. This may translate into different functions: Wnt4 expressed early and contributing to initiation of activation whereas the later expressed Wnt5a may enhance behaviour of activated myofibroblasts. Wnt expression during

development is subject to strict temporal regulation. During liver development for example, early time points are associated with high expression of Wnt3 and Wnt6 whereas later time points are associated with Wnt2 and Wnt5a(144). Temporal differences in Wnt expression during HSC activation is therefore a significant possibility. Ideally, analysis of protein expression levels would have been conducted to further confirm this. Unfortunately, due to poor cross reactivity of Wnt antibodies for rat protein samples this could not be achieved.

HSCs express eight out of ten Fzd receptors identified in mammals as well as a variety of noncanonical associated receptors. Another surprising finding was the significant downregulation in mRNA and protein expression for the majority of receptors. Visualisation of Fzd mRNA by RT-PCR still shows high expression of Fzd1, Fzd5 and Fzd8 however, despite the significant decrease when quantified by qRT-PCR. This suggests that Fzds are still present at a reduced level in aHSCs, As overactive Wnt signalling is associated with cancer and numerous other pathologies(67), this downregulation may be a regulatory mechanism, a way of modulating response to Wnts produced, preventing over stimulation. The non-canonical associated Fzd2 is the only Fzd which appears upregulated albeit not to a statistically significant extent. Downregulation of accompanying Fzds may be a mechanism of directing Wnt signalling through this receptor alone. Wnt5a is commonly attributed as a binding partner of Fzd2 and increased expression of these two pathway components again supports the non-canonical theme of Wnt signalling in HSCs.

Decreased Fzd expression occurs early in activation by day 3 as demonstrated by Figure 3.5, implying that high expression of Fzds is associated with quiescent cells only. This appears contradictory as minimal levels of Wnt ligands are present at this time. As mentioned in the Introduction, Fzd receptors are able to bind numerous ligands through their CRD domain, not merely restricted to Wnt ligands(84). Functional data outlining Wnt independent Fzd behaviour is limited but the high Fzd expression in quiescent, non-Wnt signalling cells may imply the possibility of Wnt independent function.

The increased expression of several extracellular interactors of Wnt is a novel finding, not previously reported in aHSCs. High expression of sFRPs and Dkks has been observed during early mouse development in whole liver tissue and is significantly reduced at later stages(144). Increased expression occurring upon HSC activation further supports the idea of reactivated developmental pathways contributing to fibrosis. How these proteins influence HSCs however cannot be confidently determined from this data.

One simple suggestion could be that increased expression serves as a regulatory mechanism, accompanying the decreased expression of Fzd receptors to prevent over- stimulation of Wnt. Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is one cancer particularly associated with increased Wnt activity, with 25% of HCCs contain at least one activating β -Catenin mutation(145). Methylation mediated inactivation of sFRPs is a distinguishing feature of HCC cell lines and was detected in 42 – 63% of nineteen primary patient samples analysed, supports a role for sFRPs in liver having a Wnt/ β -catenin inhibitory role(146). Here, treatment of LX-2 cells with recombinant protein suggests potential Wnt enhancing roles for Dkk3 and inhibitory roles for sFRP1 and sFRP5. However as the endogenous concentrations of sFRPs and Dkk3 in primary HSCs are not known, it is difficult to determine whether the 5nm treatment outlined in Figure 3.7 is physiologically relevant.

Little effect on classic fibrogenic targets were observed upon sFRP and Dkk treatment and other aspects of the active myofibroblasts phenotype were examined instead. Alterations in apoptosis response were observed upon sFRP1 treatment with higher concentrations of recombinant sFRP1 (50nM) potentially conferring mild protection upon apoptotic stimulus with effect more pronounced with pre-treatment. This would correspond with the original role of sFRPs, identified as apoptosis related proteins(100). Clearance of HSCs by apoptosis is essential for fibrosis resolution and the survival of HSCs during fibrogenesis is dependent on matrix derived survival signals(59). sFRP secretion may be one of these factors promoting HSC survival.

Although the significant upregulation of expression with HSC transdifferentiation is exciting, further in-depth study of these proteins may be difficult. Interactions between individual members are not known and stimulus or depletion of one member could promote compensatory behaviour in the others(147). Moreover, there is possibility of functional redundancy between members and over expression or deletion of multiple members may be required before functional effect is observed. Another difficulty in studying extracellular Wnt modulators is that concentrations produced by HSCs are not known. Differences in mRNA expression are not necessarily translatable into the amounts of functional protein secreted. An extensive characterisation of sFRP and dkk concentration at each stage of a time course of HSC activation would be ideal before continuing study. This would allow identification of the most highly secreted proteins as well as giving indication as to their function: lower expression may suggest enhancement of Wnt signalling. Until the mechanics of these proteins have been more thoroughly elucidated, they remain a highly convoluted system to approach.

One of the aims of this Chapter was to identify a possible target for further study of the Wnt pathway in HSCs. Of the three Wnts expressed by aHSCs, Wnt5a is the most extensively studied and is a well-defined non-canonical ligand(103). It possess great potential for regulating behaviour of HSCs as it has been shown to regulate proliferation, migration, apoptosis resistance and contractility in fibroblasts from numerous sources(148). Wnt5a therefore appeared to be an attractive target for further study of the non-canonical pathway in HSCs. Despite no apparent canonical ligand expression detectable in HSCs, the possibility for canonical activity through paracrine stimulus cannot be ignored. Exploration of non-canonical and canonical behaviour in HSCs will be the next step to build on data presented in this Chapter.

3.7 Conclusions

In summary, this Chapter demonstrates:

- Increased Wnt activity accompanying HSC activation
- A non-canonical ligand expression profile in aHSCs
- Decreased Fzd receptor expression in aHSCs
- Increased expression of sFRP1, sFRP2, sFRP4 and Dkk3 in aHSCs

Chapter 4: Canonical vs Non-Canonical Signalling

4.1 Introduction

Chapter 3 identified multiple ligands, receptors and extracellular interactors present in HSCs, depicting a complex Wnt environment. This Chapter aims to determine how Wnts function in HSCs by exploring markers of canonical or non-canonical activity. As aHSCs express non-canonical ligands and increase expression of the non-canonical receptor Fzd2, signalling through non-canonical effectors is the predicted mechanism. Several canonical associated receptors are also expressed, requiring investigation of the potential for canonical signalling also.

4.2 HSCs express components of the canonical pathway

As mentioned in the previous chapters, canonical signalling is the most extensively described branch of the Wnt pathway. The majority of studies correlating Wnt and fibrosis focus on fibroblasts upregulating active β -Catenin. This chapter therefore begins with profiling the canonical pathway in HSCs.

HSCs express the necessary components of the canonical pathway as demonstrated by RT-PCR, with expression of destruction complex components (GSK3β, Axin and APC), canonical co-receptors (Lrp6) and downstream targets (Axin2). (Figure 4.1A). Differential expression upon activation was then determined by qRT-PCR. mRNA expression of β-Catenin is significantly upregulated by approximately 3.5 fold. Surprisingly, this is accompanied by significantly decreased expression of its downstream transcriptional target Axin2. (Figure 4.1B) Changes in co-receptor and destruction complex components were limited. However, as these are regulated by post-translational modifications changes may not be reflected at the mRNA level. Across a time course of activation a substantial increase in protein expression of β -Catenin and downstream TCF/LEF targets can be visualised by Western Blot (Figure 4.1C).

Despite limited canonical ligand expression, HSCs clearly express major components of the canonical pathway along with canonical associated Fzd receptors as demonstrated by Figure 3.4. In order to verify whether HSCs can respond to exogenously produced Wnts, I incubated LX-2 cells with conditioned medium taken from Wnt3a and 10b overexpressing LX-2 cells. A three hour treatment significantly increased expression of β -Catenin and downstream target TCF4, suggesting canonical responsiveness in HSCs (Figure 4.2).

4.3 Canonical pathway appears inactive in HSCs

However the presence of β -Catenin does not equal active canonical signalling. β -Catenin must translocate to the nucleus and bind with target transcription factors in order to stimulate upregulation of target genes(12). The best known β -Catenin targets are members of the TCF/LEF transcription factor family(73). I used transfection of the TOPFLASH luciferase reporter as a marker of TCF/LEF dependent transcriptional activity. LX-2 cells were transfected with the TOPFLASH expression vector and either Wnt3a or Wnt10b as a canonical stimulus. A *Renilla* luciferase expression vector was also co-transfected as a control of transfection efficiency and data are presented as a ratio of firefly to *Renilla* luciferase activity. Endogenous luciferase activity in LX-2s was limited and did not increase upon with canonical Wnt stimulation (Figure4.3A). Wnt overexpression in HEK293 cells served as a positive control with a significant increase in TOPFLASH activity in comparison to LX-2s. Furthermore, transcript levels in LX-2 cells of Axin2, a classic β -Catenin target(117), were unchanged upon Wnt overexpression in LX-2 cells but significantly increased in Wnt overexpressing HEK293 cells (Figure4.3B). LX-2s therefore appear unresponsive to canonical Wnt stimulus.



Figure 4. 1 Canonical pathway expression in HSCs.

(A) mRNA expression of canonical pathway components is detectable in both rat in quiescent HSCs (qHSC) and HSCs activated by seven days in culture (aHSCs) by RT-PCR. (B) Canonical pathway mRNA levels were quantified by qRT-PCR in qHSC and aHSC (n=4) (C) Western Blot for protein expression of β -Catenin and its target TCF4 across a time course of rat HSC culture activation (7 days in culture). β Actin serves as a loading control. qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM. *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired).



Figure 4. 2 HSCs upregulate β-Catenin in response to stimulus.

Western Blot for protein expression of β -Catenin and its target TCF4 in LX-2 cells treated for three hours with conditioned medium taken from LX-2 cells overexpressing canonical Wnt 3a (3a+), Wnt10b (10b+) or an empty control expression vector (-). GAPDH serves as a loading control

I next attempted a more direct source of stimulus and overexpressed a constitutively active form of β -Catenin, with a serine to alanine mutation at the serine 37 (Ser37) position, a GSK3 β phosphorylation site. This mutant will be resistant to GSK3ß mediated phosphorylation and subsequent degradation and will therefore always be able to localise to the nucleus and to bind TCF/LEF targets(134). TOPFLASH luciferase activity in β -Catenin overexpressing LX-2s and rat HSCs remained unchanged while HEK293 and control primary cells (rat dermal fibroblasts) significantly increased luciferase activity. (Figure 4.4A) Ser37 β -Catenin overexpression induces a robust response in HEK293s, increasing luciferase activity over 20 fold, demonstrating its efficacy as a method of stimulus. Overexpression of mutant β -Catenin increases active β -Catenin protein levels in LX-2s to a similar extent of that in HEK 293s when visualised by Western Blot, demonstrating no difficulties in LX-2s overexpressing active β -Catenin (Figure 4.4B). Transcript levels of the β -Catenin target Axin2 was again unchanged in LX-2s while substantially increased in HEK293s (Figure 4.4C). Finally I assessed the effect of canonical stimulus on the expression of fibrogenic markers such as alpha smooth muscle actin (α -Sma) and type I Collagen. However, neither Wnt10b nor active β -Catenin in LX-2s generated significant differences. (Figure 4.4D). From this, aHSCs appear again unresponsive to canonical Wnt stimulus.

One study suggests that canonical signalling may instead be active in maintaining quiescence and links the stem cell like phenotype of quiescent HSCs to β -Catenin's role in regulating pluripotency and self-renewal(122, 133). I explored this further by attempting a TOPFLASH assay in early rat HSCs, at day 2 of an *in vitro* time course. No TOPFLASH luciferase activity could be detected. However, Renilla luciferase activity acting as a control of transfection efficiency was measureable (approximately 20 relative light units (RLU)) indiciating that transfection of early HSCs was low but still successful. Protein expression of β -Catenin is minimal in quiescent day 0 HSCs, only detectable at day 1 and active, dephosphorylated β -Catenin cannot be detected at either of these early time points (Figure4.5). These data strongly suggest that β -Catenin does not play a role in maintaining quiescence



Figure 4. 3 Canonical stimulus of HSCs does not result in a transcriptional response.

(A) LX-2 and HEK293 cells were transfected with a TOPFLASH luciferase expression vector and co-transfected with Wnt 3a or 10b as a canonical stimulus. Cotransfection of Renilla luciferase served as a positive control. Data presented as fold change of firefly to *renilla* ratio (F/R) \pm SEM. (n=2) (B) Axin2 mRNA expression levels Wnt10b overexpressing LX-2 or HEK293 cells compared by qRT-PCR (n=3) qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control \pm SEM. *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test



Figure 4. 4 ßCatenin stimulus of HSCs does not result in a transcriptional response.

(A) LX-2 and HEK293 cells or rat HSCs and dermal fibroblasts (rDFs) were transfected with a constitutively active β Catenin (Ser37) or empty control expression vector. Cotransfection of Renilla luciferase served as a control of transfection efficiency. Data presented as fold change of firefly to renilla ratio (F/R) ± SEM. (B) Expression of Active and total β -Catenin analysed by Western Blot in protein lysates from control or β Catenin(Ser37) overexpressing LX-2 and HEK293 cells.GAPDH serves as a loading control. (C) Axin2 mRNA expression levels of Ser37 β Catenin overexpressing LX-2 or HEK293 cells compared by qRT-PCR (n=3). (D) mRNA expression levels of fibrogenic makers compared by qRT-PCR in β Catenin (Ser37) or Wnt10b overexpressing LX-2 cells. qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM. *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired).

4.4 β-Catenin is correctly localised to the nucleus of HSCs

From these findings it appears that canonical signalling is deficient in LX-2s and primary HSCs even under conditions able to effectively stimulate a canonical response in other cell types. The complexity of the Wnt pathway gives rise to many potential points at which a defect could occur. I first addressed whether active β -Catenin was able to correctly localise in HSCs.

In order for nuclear localisation to occur, the phosphorylation of β -Catenin by the kinase GSK3 β must be disrupted. In the absence of Wnt signalling β -Catenin is phosphorylated by the destruction complex and degraded. Wnt signalling promotes destabilisation of the destruction complex, preventing phosphorylation and enabling translocation of β -Catenin to the nucleus(12). I first assessed whether HSCs may have a deficiency in GSK3 β inhibition. Day7 HSCs were treated with CT 99021, a commercially available inhibitor of GSK3 β , reasoning that increasing inhibition of GSK3 β would yield a larger pool of non-phosphorylated, potentially active β -Catenin. Western Blots for active and total β -Catenin demonstrate several points. Firstly that again no active or total β -Catenin can be detected in Day 0 quiescent cells. By Day 7 however an upregulation of both total and active β -Catenin is observed (Figure 4.6A). This suggests that there is a potentially active pool of non phosphorylated β -Catenin present in HSCs. Treatment of Day7 aHSCs with CT99021 did not increase mRNA expression of fibrogenic genes or β -Catenin target Axin2 (Figure 4.6B). This suggests that the canonical pathway deficiency is not at the point of destruction complex inhibition.

 β -Catenin binds to TCF/LEF transcription factors confined to the nucleus. Correct nuclear localisation of β -Catenin is therefore critical to its canonical Wnt signalling function. I separated protein lysates from LX-2 cells into cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions and assessed the expression and location of β -Catenin by Western Blot. p84 and α Tubulin were used as markers of nuclear and cytoplasmic purity respectively. LX-2s express high levels of β -Catenin, located both in the cytoplasm and in the nucleus. Furthermore, expression in both compartments is increased upon overexpression of β -Catenin (Figure 4.7) From this HSCs appear to correctly target β -Catenin to the nucleus.



Figure 4. 5 Active β-Catenin is not detectable in qHSCs

Protein lysates from freshly isolated HSCs (Day 0) and after 24 hours of culture (Day 1) immunoblotted for active and total β -Catenin expression. Total β Catenin only expressed after 24 hours of culture. GAPDH serves as a loading control.



Figure 4. 6 GSK3 β inhibition does not stimulate canonical response

(A) aHSCs (seven days in culture (D7)) were treated with 2μ M of CT99021. Active and total β -Catenin expression was compared by Western Blot between quiescent (D0) and active (D7) HSCs treated with either vehicle control (-) or 2μ M CT99021 (+) for 24 hours. HEK293 cells overexpressing constitutively active β -Catenin (S37) were used as a positive control for active β -Catenin expression. GAPDH serves as a loading control. (B) mRNA levels of fibrogenic markers and the β -Catenin target Axin2 were compared by qRT-PCR between vehicle control (DMSO) or CT99021 treated aHSCs (24hrs) (n=2). qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM.

4.5 Nuclear Interactors of β-Catenin

Once in the nucleus, the stability of β -Catenin and its ability to bind TCF/LEF targets depends on interaction with a multitude of other proteins. I next hypothesised that HSCs may have a deficiency in a key nuclear interactor of β -Catenin and thus impair binding to TCF/LEF targets.

Pygopus and BCL9 are two nuclear proteins implicated in a 'scaffolding role', required to tether β-Catenin to TCF family members (149-151). Deficiencies in these scaffolding proteins can lead to impaired signalling and they are considered essential for correct canonical function(152, 153). Expression of their different forms (Pyg1, Pyg2, BCL9, BCL92) was analysed by RT-PCR in LX-2 cells with HEK293 cells again used as a positive control. However, LX-2 cells displayed no obvious deficiency in mRNA expression (Figure 4.8A).

Repressors of β -Catenin activity are also active in the nucleus. Chibby is one well documented such repressor, able to bind β -Catenin and compete with TCF/LEF targets(154). RT-PCR analysis suggests an increased amount of Chibby expression by LX-2s, although this could not be verified by qRT-PCR (Figure4.8B). Chibby expression over a time course of rHSC activation was next established, hypothesising that an increase in expression may occur to counteract increased β -Catenin (Figure 4.8C). However, again mRNA expression decreases with activation. This expression data suggests that there are no obvious deficiencies in mRNA expression of several key β -Catenin nuclear interactors. Ideally protein expression of Pyg, BCL9 and Chibby would also have been assessed to strengthen these findings. However due to poor quality of antibodies this could not be achieved.



Figure 4. 7 BCatenin is targeted to the nucleus of HSCs

Protein lysates from LX-2s transfected with constitutively active mutant β -Catenin (Ser37 +) or empty control expression vectors (-) separated into cytoplasmic (C) or nuclear (N) fractions. β -Catenin expression detected in both fractions by Western Blot. P84 and α Tubulin serve as controls of nuclear and cytoplasmic purity respectively.



Figure 4.8 Expression of key β-Catenin interactors detectable in HSCs

(A) mRNA expression of key β -catenin interacting proteins detectable by RT-PCR in both LX-2 and HEK293 cells. (B) mRNA expression levels of β -catenin inhibitor Chibby compared between LX-2 and HEK293 cells (n=4). (C) mRNA expression of Chibby analysed across an in vitro activation time course of rat HSCs (n=3). qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM.

4.6 HSCs appear deficient in TCF/LEF expression.

β-Catenin's direct targets are members of the TCF/LEF transcription factor family comprising TCF1,3,4 and LEF1. β-Catenin triggers their activation by displacement of the repressor Groucho/TLE, forming an activation complex, enabling binding to target genes. The literature is highly contradictory as to the exact roles of TCF/LEF members. TCF1, 4 and LEF1 are generally considered to activate β-Catenin target genes(73) whereas TCF3 is suggested to have a repressive role(155-157). I next investigated whether HSCs may have a deficiency in expression of TCF/LEF member. Firstly, I analysed expression of TCF1, TCF3, TCF4 and LEF1 in LX-2s by Western Blot using HEK293s as a control. LX-2s express substantiallyy less TCF1, TCF4 and LEF1 compared with HEK293s along with similar levels of TCF3. (Figure 4.9)

I next aimed to increase the ability of LX-2 cells to respond to canonical stimulus by increasing expression of the TCF/LEF1 family. LEF1 appears to be substantially decreased in LX-2 cells and was overexpressed in LX-2 cells either singly or in conjunction with active β-Catenin. However, TOPFLASH activity was not stimulated instead appearing to decrease upon LEF1 overexpression (Figure 4.10). Furthermore, there was minimal effect on fibrogenic markers. This appears to be the first source of deficiency in the canonical pathway identified in HSCs. However, as simply increasing expression of TCF/LEF family members was ineffective there are likely more factors influencing canonical activity.



Figure 4. 9 Expression of TCF1, TCF4 and LEF1 decreased in LX-2 cells

Western Blot analysis of TCF1, TCF3, TCF4 and LEF1 expression compared between LX-2 and HEK293 cells. Decreased TCF1, TCF4 and LEF1 expression apparent in LX-2s. GAPDH serves as a loading control.



Figure 4. 10 LEF1 overexpression does not stimulate a canonical response

(A) LX-2 and HEK293 cells were transfected with a TOPFLASH luciferase expression vector and cotransfected with either constitutively active β -catenin (Ser37), LEF1 or empty control expression vector. Cotransfection of *Renilla* luciferase served as a control of transfection efficiency. Data presented as fold change of firefly to *renilla* ratio (F/R) ± SEM. (B) mRNA expression of fibrogenic markers analysed in of LX-2s overexpressing LEF1 either singly or in conjunction with β -Catenin (Ser37) (n=3).). qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM. (C) Western Blot analysis of LEF1 expression in control and LEF1 overexpressing LX2s. GAPDH serves as a loading control.

4.7 Wnt Interactors and β-Catenin

In Chapter 3 I demonstrated that aHSCs significantly upregulate expression of Wnt interactors such as sFRP members and Dkk3 however a specific function was not isolated. How they influence Wnt signalling has not yet been resolved and appears to be highly cell specific. Several sources suggest roles in inhibition of β -Catenin/TCF activity (158, 159) and the ability to inhibit canonical Wnt signalling even in the presence of activating β -Catenin mutations(160). Furthermore, epigenetic inactivation of sFRPs is a frequent occurrence in numerous cancers (146, 161, 162). I next explored the possibility that HSCs may inhibit canonical activity through production of these secreted inhibitors.

For this, I used HEK293 cells overexpressing active β -Catenin as a positive control for canonical activity. Medium taken from LX-2 cells and incubated with HEK293 cells for six hours appeared to decrease TOPFLASH activity approximately 30% in comparison to medium taken from HEK293 cells (Figure 4.11). This suggests the possibility that LX-2s may secrete factors able to negatively influence canonical signalling. I next tested whether sFRP overexpression could have a similar negative influence on canonical signalling. I co-transfected β -Catenin overexpressing HEK293 cells with a sFRP4 expression vector and again observed a similar reduction in TOPFLASH activity. This could be a preliminary suggestion as to how HSCs prevent canonical signalling, despite the presence of all necessary downstream components.





 β -Catenin overexpressing HEK293 cells co-transfected with TOPFLASH expression vector were treated with HEK293 cell conditioned medium, LX-2 cell conditioned medium or co transfection with sFRP4. *Renilla* luciferase served as a positive control. Data presented as fold change of firefly to *renilla* ratio (F/R) ± SEM. Significant decrease in TOPFLASH activity observed upon LX-2 conditioned medium treatment or sFRP4 co transfection. *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired)

4.8 Non Canonical Activity in HSCs

So far this chapter has demonstrated that HSCs show limited endogenous canonical activity, despite abundant expression of β -Catenin and canonical components. Furthermore, they appear resistant to canonical stimulus even under conditions that provoke a response in other cell types. Reasons for this remain unclear although I have been able to identify a decreased expression of β -Catenin target and an increased expression of potential Wnt inhibitors in HSCs.

As HSCs express a variety of non-canonical ligands I next turned to establishing the presence of non canonical signalling. Two major effectors of the non-canonical branches of Wnt signalling are JNK as part of the PCP pathway and CamKii as part of the Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathway. JNK mediated activation of AP1 components is well established in contributing to HSC activation(163) and increased calcium signalling is important in mediating increasing contractility of aHSC(164). Non-canonical effectors therefore have high potential for regulating HSC behaviour. I tested response of these effects upon Wnt stimulation in HSCs.

Wnt conditioned medium stimulation in primary rat HSCs and overexpression of Wnt in LX-2 cells both stimulate a marked increase in JNK phosphorylation (Figure 4.12A and C respectively), This suggests the potential for Wnt to activate JNK signalling in HSCs. Expression of the Ca²⁺ pathway mediator CamKii was also elevated upon Wnt stimulus (Figures 4.12B and D). Response of noncanonical effectors and the predominantly non-canonical Wnt ligand expression profile suggest that non-canonical signalling is the main branch active in aHSCs.

As non-canonical Wnt activity has been shown to inhibit canonical/ β -Catenin activity(139, 165, 166) I again aimed to increase the ability of LX-2 cells to respond to canonical stimulus through noncanonical inhibition. LX-2 cells overexpressing active β -Catenin were treated with either SP600125 to inhibit JNK phosphorylation or Cyclosporin A, an inhibitor of calcineurin, a downstream effector of CamKii. However, again no upregulation in TOPFLASH activity was observed with inhibitor treatment (Figure 4.13)



Figure 4.12 Non-Canonical Effectors in HSCs

rHSCs (A) and (B) or LX-2s (C) and (D) were stimulated by 24 hours Wnt conditioned medium (CM) or 48 hours Wnt Transfection respectively. Protein lysates were immunoblotted for expression of Phospho-JNK, (PJNK), total JNK (TJNK) and CamKii. GAPDH serves as a loading control.





LX-2 cells were transfected with a TOPFLASH luciferase expression vector and cotransfected with either Ser37 β -Catenin mutant or empty control expression vectors. *Renilla* luciferase served as a control of transfection efficiency. Data presented as fold change of firefly to renilla ratio (F/R) ± SEM. Cells were treated with SP600125 (50 μ M) or Cyclosporin A (50 μ M) for 24 hours.

The transcription factor family associated with calcium signalling is the NFAT family (NFAT 1 -4)(167). To establish whether activity of non-canonical associated transcription factors was present, rat HSCs and LX-2s were transfected with a total NFAT luciferase reporter. Endogenous NFAT activity was far greater in LX-2s and rat HSCs than TCF transcriptional activity (Figure 4.14A) RT-PCR analysis demonstrates expression of all four NFAT transcription factors in rat HSCs, with NFAT3 particularly abundant (Figure 4.14B). However, NFAT3 does not appear to be differentially expressed upon HSC activation (Figure 4.14C) and non-canonical stimulus through Wnt5a overexpression does not increase NFAT luciferase activity in LX-2s (Figure 4.14D). This suggests that high levels of NFAT activity in HSCs may not be attributed to increased Wnt signalling. One of the significant issues of working with the non-canonical pathway is that there is no functional read out specific to Wnt signalling, no non-canonical version of the TOPFLASH assay for example. Numerous factors have the potential to influence JNK and CamKii and attributing alterations in function directly to Wnt signalling can be difficult.



Figure 4.14 NFAT Activity in LX-2s and HSCs

(A) Rat HSCs and LX-2s were transfected with a total NFAT luciferase reporter or an control promoterless luciferase vector for 48 hours. Renilla luciferase served as a positive control. Data presented as firefly to renilla ratio (F/R) in relative light units (RLU). (B) mRNA Expression levels of NFAT family members detected in aHSCs by RT-PCR, with water only (-ve) serving as a negative control. (C) mRNA expression levels of NFAT3 compared between three separate preparations of quiescent (qHSC) and active (aHSC) rat HSCs. No significant difference observed. (D) LX-2s were transfected with a total NFAT luciferase reporter and co-transfected with either a Wnt5a or empty control expression vector. *Renilla* luciferase served as a control of transfection efficiency. Data presented as fold change of firefly to *renilla* ratio (F/R) \pm SEM.

4.8 Discussion

This Chapter aimed to explore the activity of canonical and non-canonical effectors in HSCs, attempting to determine which branch was functional. Canonical activity has been demonstrated as pro-fibrogenic in HSCs and in fibroblasts across numerous fibrosis models. The main finding from this Chapter contradicts this identifying an apparent defect in canonical β -Catenin/TCF dependent signalling.

HSCs express all necessary components of canonical pathway and correctly localise β -Catenin upon stimulus. If aHSCs are regulated by activity of Wnt3a and Wnt10b, high levels of canonical activity would be expected even without stimulus. Under endogenous conditions however, no transcriptional activity could be measured either through TOPFLASH activity or analysis of downstream transcriptional targets. Stimulus through either Wnt overexpression or active mutant β -Catenin overexpression successfully elicited response in the HEK293 cells used as a positive control. HSCs and LX-2 cells however remained unresponsive. As β -Catenin is correctly localised, the defect is likely to be at the nuclear level: either β -Catenin unable to associate with its TCF/LEF targets or TCF/LEF transcription factors unable to bind to their target genes.

From this Chapter, two possible causes of transcriptional defect are highlighted. Firstly, the reduced protein expression of canonical TCF/LEF targets observed in LX-2 cells in comparison to HEK293 controls. Target availability for β -Catenin would therefore be reduced, although this is more likely to decrease in canonical signalling rather than cause a total absence. Furthermore, overexpression of LEF1 did not promote TOPFLASH activity or expression of target genes, despite significant increases in protein expression. Therefore a simple defect in protein expression is unlikely to be the major cause.

LX-2 cells do not appear to uniformly express TCF/LEF members. This appears similar to problems encountered in Chapter 3, multiple TCF/LEF family members with interactions and functional redundancy levels not fully outlined. LEF1 and TCF1 expression is markedly reduced. In contrast TCF3 expression is marginally increased in LX-2s in comparison to HEK293s. TCF1, TCF4 and LEF1 members behave similarly upon β-Catenin binding with TLE/Groucho repressors displaced and transcriptional activating complexes formed(73). TCF3 however is considered a divergent member of the family, associated with a repressive role. Wu *et al* (157) demonstrate that endogenous levels of LEF1 activity through inhibition of TCF3 repression. β-Catenin is thought to relieve the repressive effect through binding and targeting TCF3 for degradation(156). In mouse models, early depletion of TCF3 disrupted gastrulation and caused defects which phenocopied models of canonical Wnt overactivation (168). Here, depletion of TCF3 in LX-2 and removing its possible repressive effect could be a method of stimulating canonical activity.

Establishing functional β -Catenin-TCF/LEF binding will be essential in clarifying the canonical defect. High TCF3 protein levels in LX-2s could indicate a lack of β -Catenin mediated degradation and therefore inefficient β -Catenin/TCF binding. However attempted Immunoprecipitation (IP) assays to determine binding between β -Catenin and TCF/LEFS as well as attempted Chromatin IP (ChIP) assay to determine binding between TCF transcription factors and target genes were unsuccessful. Further optimisation of conditions to provide conclusive data about β -Catenin, TCF/LEF and target gene binding interactions will be invaluable in continuing study.

Inhibition of β -catenin by sFRPs is another possibility for canonical defect as sFRPs are able to decrease canonical signalling even in the presence of activating β -Catenin mutations(160). Additionally, in breast cancer cells, TCF/LEF activity was increased only when siRNA depletion of sFRP1 accompanied mutant β -catenin expression(162). Here, sFRP4 overexpression in HEK293s

stimulated with β -Catenin significantly decreased TOPFLASH activity by 30%. This could serve as an explanation for the greatly increased expression of sFRPs upon HSC activation: they are factors secreted to repress canonical signalling rather than directly influencing the fibrogenic phenotype. This is a very preliminary finding and will require extensive investigation into potential mechanisms.

The possibility that HSCs have a particular nuclear interactor involved in β -Catenin repression is an attractive one. However, β -Catenin has known ability to interact with over 80 different proteins in the nucleus. Expression profiles of nuclear β -Catenin interactors varies widely with cell type and their function as repressors or interactors can be highly context specific. Furthermore, interactions between different nuclear components are not well known. Identifying a HSC specific β -Catenin repressor is therefore likely to be an arduous task. One promising candidate is SOX9, a member of the *SRY*-related high-mobility-group box (SOX) family of transcription factors. SOX9 is able to compete with TCF/LEF targets for β -Catenin binding and promote its degradation(169, 170). SOX9 is highly expressed in aHSCs with its nuclear localisation demonstrated by immunofluorescence(171). In HSCs it is able to in regulate collagen expression: induction of SOX9 by TGFB treatment led to increased collagen expression while siRNA depletion caused a reduction. Increased expression of SOX9 associated with HSC activation could therefore disrupt β -Catenin /TCF interaction in the nucleus of HSCs provoking defective canonical signalling. IP assays to demonstrate SOX9/ β -Catenin interactions followed by siRNA depletion of SOX9 to determine whether canonical signalling can be induced would be necessary to further explore this possibility.

This Chapter has revealed an absence of canonical/ TCF driven signalling in HSCs and proposes several mechanisms by which it may occur (Figure 4.15). This appears at first to contradict data from previous studies. Previously published data along with results here from section 4.1 clearly demonstrate increased expression of total and active β -Catenin in aHSCs and decreased fibrogenic activity upon its suppression. However, these studies do not conclusively show β -Catenin functioning

through TCF/LEF family members. Furthermore, downregulation of β-catenin is accompanied by decreased activity of effectors such as Smad3(123), PDGF, Akt (129) and TGFβ(128) and not classic canonical Wnt effectors. The ability of the canonical inhibitor Dkk1 to promote reversion of aHSC to more quiescent phenotype *in vitro* as well as amelioration of a cholestatic liver injury model has been used as evidence of canonical Wnt activity in HSCs(110). Dkk1 functions through binding and inhibiting the canonical associated co-receptor Lrp6(93). However, in addition to Wnt stimulation, Lrp6 activity can also be independently stimulated by multiple profibrogenic pathways such as TGFβ, CTGF and PDGF, all disrupted through Dkk1 treatment (172). Dkk1 treatment of HSCs could therefore be inhibiting activity of these pathways instead of Wnt to modulate HSCs behaviour.

β-Catenin is able to act as a transcriptional activator independent of Wnt/TCF stimulus, although examples are few in comparison to its role in regulating canonical Wnt signalling. Evidence so far supports a TCF independent role for β -Catenin in HSCs which requires much further exploration. TGF β is one alternative inducer of β -Catenin activity. TGF β treatment frequently is observed to stimulate β-Catenin nuclear translocation and complex formation with the Smad family of transcription factors in the absence of Wnt signalling(173-175). In renal tubular epithelial cells, TGFβ promoted β -Catenin to act as a transcriptional co-activator of Smad3, upregulating Smad3 reporter activity but no concurrent upregulation in TOPFLASH activity(176). This demonstrates transcriptional activity of β-Catenin without reliance on its better known TCF binding partners. Another study demonstrated a complex of Smad3/ β -Catenin directly binding to α SMA promoter and regulating transcription, again in the absence of TCF activity(177). TGF β is a major profibrogenic cytokine and secreted in abundance by HSCs and other cells in the injured liver. TGFβ mediated β-Catenin signalling could therefore be one potential role for β -Catenin in aHSCs. Several studies require exogenous TGF β stimulus before β -catenin function is observed. The β -catenin overexpression experiments in Figures 4.4 and 4.10 were conducted under standard culture conditions. Addition of recombinant TGF β stimulus may have enabled greater β -catenin activity.

Whether non-functional β -Catenin /TCF signalling is due to a defect in signalling machinery or through active repression cannot be determined from this data. Abnormal β -Catenin signalling is associated with numerous cancers and other pathologies: active β -Catenin mutations can be detected in 25% of HCCs for example(145). Minimal levels of canonical Wnt signalling may serve as a regulatory mechanism preventing the dysregulated proliferation and cell signalling associated with overactive β -Catenin mutations.

Canonical Wnt signalling through TCF/LEF mediated transcription therefore appears to be absent in HSCs. Instead HSCs and LX-2s upregulate non-canonical effectors such as Jnk and CamKii in response to Wnt stimulus as demonstrated by Figure 4.12. Based on this as well as the expression of noncanonical ligands and receptors in aHSCs, it can be proposed that non-canonical Wnt signalling is the active branch. Non-Canonical Wnt signalling has been shown to regulate proliferation, migration and contractility in numerous cell types. These are typical traits of the profibrogenic myofibroblast therefore non-canonical signalling has much possibility for regulating HSC behaviour.



Figure 4.15 Points of inhibition of Canonical/TCF mediated Wnt signalling

This study has highlighted six possible points of canonical Wnt inhibition occurring in HSCs. (A) (1) Predominantly non-canonical ligand expression. Non canonical signalling is inhibitory to canonical signalling(139) (2) Decreased Fzd receptor expression, reducing response to canonical ligands secreted by other cells (3) Increased sFRP expression (4) Increased expression of other morphogens such as Notch, able to directly inhibit β -Catenin(178)

(B) In the nucleus, HSCs express higher levels of the repressive TCF3 in comparison to the other TCF/LEF family members associated with transcriptional activation(5) (6) Transdifferentiation is associated with upregulation of SOX9, direct inhibitor of β -Catenin activity (171)
4.9 Conclusions

In summary, this chapter demonstrates:

- Absence of canonical β-Catenin/TCF mediated transcriptional activity, even under effective canonical stimulus
- Decreased expression of TCF/LEF targets in
- Response to Wnt stimulus through non-canonical effectors

Chapter 5: Role of Wnt in HSC Behaviour

5.1 Introduction

Chapter 3 identified active Wnt signalling in HSCs. Chapter 4 explored which branch of Wnt could be operating, identifying flaws in the canonical pathway and highlighting non-canonical Wnt as the most likely mechanism. This Chapter focuses on how exactly non-canonical signalling contributes to HSC behaviour.

Previous studies have identified expression of non-canonical ligands in HSCs yet their function remains relatively unexplored. This Chapter intends to build on these studies and identify a specific role for Wnt ligands. Based on findings in previous chapters, Wnt5a was selected as a suitable candidate for further study.

5.2 Inhibition of Wnt signalling influences activation of HSCs

Firstly, as an initial method of determining the role of Wnts in HSCs, I attempted a simple depletion of Wnt activity via commercially available inhibitors. There are a large number of inhibitors selective for Wnt signalling, targeting numerous points in the pathway. However, as for many other reagents, most focus on the disruption of the canonical pathway. Reliable inhibitors targeting the noncanonical pathway only are not widely used. Three inhibitors were chosen, each targeting a different stage in the signalling cascade: IWP2, a DvI-PDZ domain inhibitor (DvI-PDZ) and ICG001.

IWP2 is an antagonist of porcupine (Porc), the upstream component responsible for the palmitoylation of Wnt ligands and essential for secretion (80, 179). Disruption of Porc function will therefore prevent release of Wnt ligands, halting signalling at the beginning of the pathway. The Dvl-

PDZ inhibitor targets the central PDZ domain of DvI proteins, preventing DvI association with Fzd receptors and transduction of Wnt signal(180). Both of these are inhibitors act upstream of the separation of canonical and non-canonical pathways and should function as 'pan-Wnt inhibitors', affecting both pathways equally. ICG001 is an inhibitor of β -Catenin, preventing association with one of its co-activators CBP(181). Active β -Catenin is clearly present in aHSCs as demonstrated by Figure 4.6 Disruption of its activity may provide further clues as to its function.

The efficacy of IWP2 treatment can be clearly demonstrated by decreased expression of hyperphosphorylated DvI with increasing doses of IWP2 (Figure 5.2A). DvI-PDZ inhibitor is able to significantly decrease common downstream Wnt targets such as Sox9 and Axin2 (Figure 5.2B) Finally, ICG001 can be shown functional as it significantly decreases TOPFLASH activity in active β -catenin overexpressing HEK293 cells (Figure 5.2C).

Initially, day 7 rat cells were treated for 24hrs with doses commonly used in the literature: IWP2 at 5 μ M, DvI-PDZ inhibitor at 15 μ m and ICG001 at 5 μ M. Morphologically, IWP2 and DvI-PDZ inhibitor treated HSCs appear identical to controls when assessed by bright field microscopy. In contrast, ICG001 treatment dramatically alters morphology with cells appearing smaller, rounder and fewer in number (Figure 5.3A). Canonical Wnt/ β -Catenin inhibition in HSCs has previously been alleged to promote reversion to a quiescent phenotype(110). ICG001 administration has also proved successful in reducing fibrosis with treatment of alveolar epithelia cells in a pulmonary fibrosis model able to suppress TGF- β induced α SMA and collagen expression(182, 183). Data here however do not correspond to this. Despite the dramatic change in appearance, no significant reduction occurs in expression of myofibroblast markers such as α SMA (Figure 5.3B).Furthermore, β -Catenin inhibition promotes no increase in expression of PPARy, the adipogenic master regulator and typical marker of quiescence (Figure 5.4A). The number of apoptotic cells increases approximately two fold with ICG001 treatment in comparison to over vehicle control. This offers an alternative explanation for the abnormal cell appearance (Figure 5.4B).



Figure 5.1 Wnt pathway in HSCs targeted at three different points of signalling pathway





(A) Western Blot analysing Dvl2 expression upon 24 hours treatment with increasing doses of IWP2. β Actin serves as a loading control. (B) qRT-PCR analysis of WNt target genes in rat aHSCs treated with either 15 μ m Dvl-PDZ domain inhibitor or vehicle control (n=3) (C) HEK293 cells overexpressing active β catenin (Ser37) were transfected with a TOPFLASH luciferase reporter (n=2). Renilla luciferase served as a control of transfection efficiency. Data presented as fold change of firefly to renilla ratio (F/R) ± SEM. qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM. *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired)



Figure 5.3 Wnt inhibitors and HSCs.

Rat aHSCs (7 days in culture) were treated with either 15 μ m Dvl-PDZ inhibitor, 5 μ M IWP2, 5 μ M ICG001 or vehicle control (DMSO). **(A)** Changes in cell morphology were assessed by bright field microscopy **(B)** mRNA expression of fibrogenic markers was analysed by qRT-PCR for each inhibitor treatment (+) compared with vehicle contol (n=3). qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM. *p<0.05





Rat aHSCs (7 days in culture) were treated for 24 hours with 5μ M ICG001. **(A)** qRT-PCR analysis of mRNA expression of β -Catenin target Axin2 or the quiescence marker PPARy in ICG001 and vehicle control (DMSO) treated aHSCs (n=3). **(B)** Acridine Orange staining was used to measure apoptosis in ICG001 and vehicle control treated aHSCs (n=3) *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired)

In contrast, treatment with IWP2 or the DVI-PDZ inhibitor suppressed expression of fibrotic markers. DvI-PDZ treatment significantly decreases mRNA expression of both α SMA and Collagen 1. IWP2 similarly decreased Collagen1 expression but not to a statistically significant level (Figure 5.3B). This further supports a pro-fibrogenic role for Wnt signalling independent of β -Catenin.

IWP2's striking decrease of DvI phosphorylation was chosen as the more reliable marker for Wnt inhibition. From Figure 5.2, IWP2 appears effective across several doses from 5µm to 20µm, reducing expression of the higher weight, hyperphosphorylated form. At the 5µM dose used above, minor expression of hyperphosphorylated DvI can still be detected. I next attempted treatment with a higher dose of 20µM and extended treatment time, administering two doses of IWP2 over a 48 hour period, attempting to further increase Wnt inhibitory potential. Two time points were chosen: quiescent HSCs (treated at days 1 and 2) and active HSCs (treated at days 7 and 8), allowing assessment of Wnt function during both initiation of HSC activation and perpetuation of the active phenotype. IWP2's suppression of Wnt signalling was assessed through analysis of downstream markers. Firstly, expression of Evi mRNA, the direct downstream component of Porc and another component necessary for Wnt secretion(184), is reduced by approximately 40%. This is further accompanied by significant reductions in commonly used markers of Wnt activity such as NFAT3 and SOX9(Figure 5.5A). SOX9 profibrogenic role is well known(171), and its decrease further supports a profibrogenic role of Wnt signalling in HSCs. Phosphorylated DvI is also markedly decreased in treated cells at Days 7/8 compared to controls when analysed by Western Blot. (Figure 5.4B)

As predicted, a 48 hour treatment with IWP2 significantly decreased αSMA and Collagen1 expression in aHSCs (Figure 5.5C), supporting the hypothesis that Wnt signalling contributes to HSC activation. Surprisingly, the opposite results are apparent upon early treatment, marked increases TIMP1 and Collagen1 transcript levels observed (Figure 5.5C). This suggests temporal differences in Wnt activity: potentially inhibitory early in activation and stimulatory later on. As IWP2 treatment blocks both canonical and non-canonical signalling, discerning from this which Wnts may be active at an early time point is not possible.



Figure 5.5 IWP2 successfully inhibits Wnt signalling and decreases expression of fibrogenic targets in aHSCs. Primary rat HSCs were treated with two doses of 20μ M IWP2 or vehicle control (DMSO) over a 48 hour period. (A) mRNA expression of Wnt pathway components and targets was analysed by qRT-PCR (n=4). (B) Western Blot analysing protein expression of Dvl2 after 48 hours in IWP2 or vehicle control (DMSO) treated aHSCs. β Actin serves as a loading control. (C) mRNA of fibrogenic markers was analysed by qRT-PCR in aHSCs treated with IWP2 or vehicle control (DMSO) at Days 1 and 2 of culture or Days 7 and 8. (n=4). qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM. *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired)

5.3 Overexpression of Wnt

Pan-Wnt inhibition therefore significantly alters the fibrogenic potential of HSCs. I next aimed to identify function for specific Wnt ligands, primarily using non-canonical Wnt5a as a target. Accomplishing specific depletion of Wnt5a is likely to be difficult. Commercial inhibitors selective for Wnt5a are not available and reliable siRNA knockdown would be complicated by the poor cross-reactivity of Wnt5a antibodies in rat. Instead, Wnt overexpression was first attempted in the easily transfectable LX-2 cell line. To begin, LX-2s were transfected with constructs for either Wnt10b or Wnt5a ligands, questioning whether there would be a difference in response to canonical and non canonical Wnt5a and 70 fold for Wnt10b (Figure 5.6A). Phosphorylation of Dvl is markedly increased in LX-2s cells upon Wnt overexpression, to a similar extent for both canonical (Wnt10b and Wnt3a) and non-canonical ligands (Wnt5a) (Figure 5.6B). This again demonstrates the initial robust response to both types of Wnt ligand. Wnt overexpression does not significantly alter viability of LX-2 cells as measured by MTT assay (Figure 5.6C) nor causes any overt differences in morphology (Figure 5.D).

Wnt inhibition in aHSCs in the previous section decreased transcript levels of fibrogenic markers. Wnt overexpression here was expected to enhance expression of fibrogenic markers. Figure 4.4 demonstrated that Wnt10b overexpression did not stimulate increased expression of fibroblast markers in LX-2s. Here, a similar lack of response is observed in Wnt5a overexpressing cells (Figure 5.7)



Figure 5.6 LX-2s readily respond to overexpression of canonical and non-canonical Wnts.

(A) LX-2 cells were transfected with a Wnt5a, Wnt10b or empty control expression vector. After 48 hours, mRNA expression of Wnt5a and Wnt10b was analysed by qRT-PCR (n=3) qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM. (B) Western Blot analysis of Dvl2 expression in LX-2 cells overexpressing Wnt3a, Wnt5a or Wnt10b compared to empty control vector. GAPDH serves as a loading control (C) Viablity of Wnt5a or 10b overexpressing LX2 cells determined via MTT assay (n=2) (D) Cell morphology of Wnt overexpressing LX-2s assessed by bright field microscopy.



Figure 5.7 Overexpression of non-canonical Wnt5a does not affect expression of fibrogenic genes.

mRNA expression of fibrogenic genes analysed by qRT-PCR in LX-2 cells overexpressing Wnt5a for 48 hours (n=3) qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM

The majority of Fzd receptors were seen to decrease upon HSC activation (Figure 3.4) Overexpression of Fzd receptors was next attempted in LX-2 cells, hypothesising that a deficiency in receptors may prevent a response to Wnts being secreted. Overexpression of the significantly decreased Fzd4, Fzd8 and ROR2, the classic non-canonical receptor, was successful in LX-2s, with mRNA expression increased by approximately 200, 800 and 600 fold respectively (Figure 5.8). Again however, overexpression of receptors did not stimulate transcriptional change in any of the fibroblast markers analysed.

From these overexpression experiments, LX-2s display an initial robust response to Wnt stimulus with phosphorylation of the signal mediator Dvl. However, no downstream transcriptional effects are apparent. LX-2s are considered representative of fully differentiated myofibroblasts. One possibility is that they may be 'too activated' in phenotype for increased Wnt signalling to provoke further effect. Wnt stimulation of primary cells is therefore likely to be more valuable in investigating function of HSC expressed Wnts.



Figure 5.8 Overexpression of Wnt receptors does not alter fibrogenic gene expression.

(A) Wnt Receptors Fzd4, Fzd8 and ROR2 were overexpressed in LX-2 cells for 48 hours and receptor mRNA expression analysed by qRT-PCR (n=3). mRNA levels of fibrogenic markers were then analysed in Fzd8 (B), Fzd4 (C) and ROR2 (D) overexpressing LX-2 cells compared to controls. qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM

5.4 Wnt Stimulation of Primary Cells: Fibrogenic Markers

Overexpression of Wnt ligands in primary HSCs was considered unlikely to be an effective stimulus as they are typically a difficult cell type to transfect(185). Instead, Wnt overexpressing LX-2s were used to produce medium conditioned with Wnt ligands, similar to a method used previously(166) and summarised in Figure 5.9. LX-2s were transfected with 1µg of Wnt expression vector for the standard 48hour transfection period. Medium was then collected and used to treat primary rat HSCs. Medium from LX-2s transfected with an empty expression vector was used as a control. This method enables treatment of rat HSCs with cell produced Wnt ligands, having undergone the post-translational modifications such as palmitoylation necessary for secretion and function.



Figure 5.9 Method of Wnt conditioned medium treatment of primary HSCs LX-2s were transfected with 1µg of either an empty control or Wnt expression vector in 16% medium (Wnt TF). Medium was collected after 48 hours and used in treatment of primary rat HSCs

Primary rat HSCs were incubated in medium conditioned with either canonical (Wnt10b) or noncanonical (Wnt5a) ligands for 24 hours. Dvl2 phosphorylation substantially increased in response to both canonical and non-canonical ligands (Figure 5.10A), comparable with the response of LX-2s to Wnt overexpression (Figure 5.6B). This again demonstrates the ability of HSCs to initially respond to both canonical and non-canonical stimulus. Conditioned medium treatment brought about no overt change in cell morphology (Figure 5.10B) and no significant differences in viability as measured via MTT assay. (Figure 5.10C)



Figure 5.10 Primary HSCs respond to stimulus with both canonical and non canonical ligands.

(A) Western Blot analysis of Dvl2 expression in protein lysates from rat aHSCs treated for 24hours with conditioned medium (CM) from LX-2s over expressing Wnt5a, 10b or an empty control expression vector. GAPDH serves as a loading control. (B) Cell morphology of 24 hour Control or Wnt5a CM treated rat HSCs assessed by bright field microscopy (C) Viability of Control or Wnt5a CM treated rat HSCs determined via MTT assay (n=2)

After establishing the Wnt stimulating effect of conditioned medium, two treatment points were then chosen: Day 3 when cells are early in activation, before a significant increase in Wnt expression occurs and Day 7 when cells are approaching full activation and Wnt signalling is already established. These two time points allow either an early induction of Wnt signalling or enhancement of Wnt already present.

Day 3 cells stimulated for 24 hours did not respond as predicted. No significant effect on fibrogenic markers was observed, the typical myofibroblast marker α -SMA is increased by approximately 3 fold but with great variability (Figure 5.11A). Other key fibrogenic markers such as Collagen1, TGF β , TIMP1 and MMP9 remain unchanged. Day 7 treated HSCs modestly increased TGF β and α -SMA mRNA expression by approximately 2.5 fold, although not to a statistically significant extent (Figure 5.11A). Wnt5a and TGF β are well documented interactors and whether Wnt5a treatment influenced downstream TGF β signalling was next questioned. However, no increase in mRNA expression levels of TGF β receptors, the Smad transcription factor family or the downstream target CTGF was detected (Figure 5.11B). Furthermore, no increase in TGF β protein expression was observed when assessed by Western Blot or ELISA. (Figure 5.11C and D)



Figure 5.11 Wnt CM stimulus does not significantly alter fibrogenic gene expression

Primary rat HSCs were treated for 24 hours with control or Wnt5a conditioned medium (CM). (A) mRNA expression of fibrogenic markers was analysed by qRT-PCR in rat HSCs treated at Day 3 or Day 7 in culture (n=4) (B) Further analysis of mRNA expression of TGF β signalling components in rat aHSCs (Day 7 in culture) (n=3) (C) TGF β Protein levels were analysed by ELISA in medium harvested from control or Wnt5a CM treated aHSCs (n=2) (D) TGF β Protein levels were analysed by Western Blot in protein lysates from control or Wnt5a CM treated aHSCs. β Actin serves as a loading control. qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM

These findings once more demonstrate HSCs responding strongly to Wnt stimulus but without downstream effects on fibrosis associated targets. Two possible conclusions can be drawn from this. Firstly, that Wnt signalling has limited effect on typical fibrogenic gene expression in HSCs and may influence behaviour through other mechanisms. Alternatively, HSCs may secrete Wnts for the benefit of neighbouring cells.

Wnt5a is a well-known modulator of macrophage behaviour(186-188). Based on this, I next attempted stimulus of rat Kupffer Cells, the resident liver macrophages, with conditioned medium produced by LX-2s. Here a more marked response was observed. Expression of TGFβ and MCP1 mRNA expression increased significantly, accompanied by increased expression of TGFβ protein when visualised by Western Blot (Figure 5.12A and B) This may support the theory that Wnts produced by HSCS do not function as autocrine signallers but instead work in a paracrine manner, influencing behaviour of other cells.



Figure 5.12 Wnt CM stimulus significantly increased TGFβ expression in Kupffer cells.

(A) mRNA expression of fibrogenic and inflammatory markers were analysed by qRT-PCR in rat Kupffer cells treated for 24 hours with control or Wnt5a CM (n=4). (B) Western Blot analysis of Dvl2 and TGF β protein expression in control or Wnt5a CM treated rat Kupffer Cells. β Actin serves as a loading control. qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM. *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired)

5.5 Wnt Stimulation of Primary Cells: Proliferation and Migration

Wnt5a stimulus therefore promotes limited effect on fibrogenic markers in HSCs. I next questioned its influence on other characteristic myofibroblast traits. Wnt3a treatment of several different pulmonary fibroblast lines in one study for example was sufficient to induce nuclear localisation of β -Catenin but had no downstream effect on targets of fibroblast activation. Instead increased proliferation of fibroblasts was observed(109). Wnt5a has also been implicated in regulation of proliferation in fibroblasts(148). MTT assay can be used as a crude measure of proliferation and as shown in Figures 5.6C and 5.10C, neither Wnt overexpression nor Wnt conditioned medium treatment resulted in significant change. I next briefly assessed expression of proliferation markers known to be Wnt targets such as Cyclin D and cMyc (189). Neither Wnt overexpressing LX-2s nor Wnt CM treated rat HSCs increase protein expression of these markers when analysed by Western Blot (Figure 5.13A). mRNA expression of proliferation markers was not significantly altered in primary rat HSCs treated with Wnt CM or 20µm IWP2. However, modest changes in CyclinD are suggested: a slight decrease upon IWP2 treatment and slight increase upon Wnt CM treatment. From this, opposite effects of Wnt overexpression and inhibition can be inferred (Figure 5.13B).





Figure 5.13 Wnt stimulus or inhibition does not alter markers of proliferation in HSCs.

(A) Western Blot analysis of Cyclin D1 and cMyc expression in protein lysates from Wnt overexpressing LX-2s or primary rat HSCs stimulated with control, Wnt 5a or Wnt 10b conditioned medium (CM) for 24 hours (B) mRNA expression of cMyc and Cyclin D was analysed by qRT-PCR in 24 hour control or Wnt5a CM treated primary rat aHSCs (7 days in culture) (n=3) (C) mRNA expression of cMyc and Cyclin D was analysed by qRT-PCR in primary rat aHSCs treated with 20µM IWP2 or vehicle control (DMSO) for 24 hours (n=2). qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control ± SEM.

Transdifferentiation of HSCs is associated with increased migratory potential, induced by increased exposure to growth factors such as PDGF, EGF and TGFβ in the injured environment(23). Wnt5a has been implicated in migration of fibroblasts, able to regulate the activity of Rho GTP and ROCK, key players in controlling convergent extension and cell contractility (115, 190, 191). Treatment of rat HSCs with inhibitors of ROCK is able to decrease migration and reduce activation as well as improving fibrosis in CCl₄ models (192, 193). Based on this, I hypothesised that increased expression of Wnt5a may enhance migration in HSCs. To test this, LX-2 cells were stimulated through overexpression of Wnt5a or treatment with conditioned medium and a simple scratch wound assay conducted. Wound width was measured at 6, 8 and 24hrs but no significant differences in wound closure were observed at any time point. (Figure 5.14). Next, cells were treated with 20μm IWP2, questioning whether inhibition of all Wnts rather than overexpression of a single ligand would be more effective, predicting a decrease in rate of wound closure in HSCs. However, again wound widths at 6, 8 and 24 hours were similar between control and IWP2 treated cells. (Figure 5.14)





Confluent LX-2s were stimulated by Wnt5a overexpression (48hour transfection), Wnt5a Conditioned medium treatment (24hours) or IWP2 treatment (20µm) (24hours). Cells were injured with a single scratch and wound width measured over a 6 8 and 24 hour period. IWP2 treatment and Wnt5a CM treatment was simultaneous with injury.

5.6 Wnt Stimulation of Primary Cells: Apoptosis

Wnt5a expression is also able to modulate apoptosis resistance, as demonstrated in lung fibroblasts(148) and its effect in HSCs was next explored. Under standard culture conditions i.e. medium containing 10% FBS, Wnt5a overexpression in LX-2s did not alter numbers of apoptotic cells, as measured by Acridine Orange assay (Figure 5.15A). I next tested whether it may play a protective role in cells undergoing stress. Apoptosis was induced in LX-2s overexpressing Wnt 5a either by incubation in serum free medium alone or serum free medium combined with hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) treatment. A sixteen hour serum free medium incubation appeared sufficient to induce a mild apoptotic response, control cells increasing apoptosis percentage from six to approximately twenty percent (Figure 5.15A). Wnt5a overexpression significantly decreased this induction of apoptosis with levels remaining at approximately nine percent. This protective effect was not maintained under the greater stress of H_2O_2 treatment however with number of apoptotic cells increased in both control and Wnt5a overexpressing cells to 40-50%.

Next it was tested whether this mild protective effect was specific to Wnt5a or occurred with overexpression of all Wnts. Wnt10b overexpression however stimulated the opposite effect: serum free conditions inducing a significant upregulation of apoptosis, from approximately twenty to forty seven percent. This is the first example described here of LX-2 cells responding differentially to canonical versus non-canonical ligands. Specificity of this protective effect to Wnt signalling was confirmed using IWP2. Wnt anatagonism via IWP2 treatment abolishes Wnt5a's protective effect: Wnt5a overexpressing cells under serum free conditions treated with IWP2 display a marginally increased apoptosis percentage when compared to control cells (Figure 5.15B

Work in primary cells appears to further confirm these findings. Day 7 rat HSCs pre-treated with Wnt5a conditioned medium showed a similar decrease in apoptotic cell percentage under serum free conditions when compared to control treated cells albeit to a less significant extent (Figure 5.15C). This may be attributed to conditioned medium stimulus being more transitory than overexpression in LX-2s.



Figure 5.15 Wnt stimulus may modulate resistance to apoptosis in HSCs

(A) LX-2 cells were transfected with either a Wnt5a, Wnt10b or empty control expression vector. 24 hours after transfection cells were cultured in standard 10% medium or stimulated for 16 hours with either serum withdrawal (Serum Free Medium) or serum withdrawal with 1mM H_2O_2 treatment. Percentage apoptosis was analysed by Acridine Orange assay (n=4) (B) LX-2 cells were transfected with either a Wnt5a or an empty control expression vector. 24 hours after transfection cells were stimulated by serum withdrawal and treatment with either vehicle control (DMSO) or 20µm IWP2. Apoptosis percentage was analysed 16 hours after stimulus by Acridine Orange assay (n=3). (C) Primary rat HSCs were pretreated with either control or Wnt 5a conditioned medium for 24 hours before stimulus with 16 hours serum withdrawal (n=2) * p <0.05 ** p <0.01 Students *t* Test (unpaired).

How this protective effect might be regulated was next assessed. NFAT activity has been linked with Wnt5a in regulating apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells(194) and Chapter 4 demonstrates high levels of endogenous NFAT activity in LX-2s along with abundant expression of NFAT family members in primary HSCs (Figure 4.11). Based on this, I investigated whether NFAT activity may be regulating the protective effect of Wnt5a overexpression. I co-expressed Wnt5a and the total NFAT luciferase reporter in LX-2 cells either in standard serum containing medium (10% FBS) or serum free conditions. Wnt5a expression did not alter NFAT luciferase activity under either condition (Figure 5.16). I next expressed Wnt10b in conjunction with the NFAT luciferase reporter, hypothesising that Wnt10b may reduce NFAT activity, disrupting its protective effect and leading to the increase in apoptosis percentage observed upon serum free medium treatment. Surprisingly, expression of Wnt10b under standard conditions appears to increase NFAT luciferase activity by approximately two fold. Furthermore, serum free medium treatment significantly reduced NFAT luciferase activity in Wnt10b overexpressing cells (Figure 5.16). Limited NFAT response to Wnt5a stimulus therefore suggests against an NFAT mediated protective effect. There is little evidence in the literature for Wnt 10b regulating NFAT activity and the response of Wnt10b overexpressing LX-2s here is surprising.



Figure 5.16 Protective effect of WNt5a is not mediated through NFAT.

LX-2s were transfected with a total NFAT luciferase reporter and co-transfected with either a Wnt5a, Wnt10b or empty control expression vector (n=3). NFAT activity was measured under standard culture conditions (10% FBS) or after 16hours serum starvation (Serum Free). Renilla luciferase served as a control of transfection efficiency. Data presented as fold change of firefly to renilla ratio (F/R) \pm SEM. * p <0.05 Students *t* Test (unpaired).

5.7 Discussion

This Chapter aimed to pinpoint the mechanism by which increased Wnt signalling affected HSCs. Wnt signalling has been attributed to promote differentiation of myofibroblasts from precursor cells during injury in numerous organs such as skin, lung and kidney and shown able to promote aspects of the fibrogenic phenotype such as increased contractility, increased collagen production and increased migration. Functional studies concerning how Wnt regulates HSC behaviour during liver injury are limited for both canonical and non-canonical branches. Inhibition of canonical Wnt signalling in primary aHSCs through Dkk1 treatment is shown to promote reversion to a more quiescent like phenotype(110) while siRNA knockdown of Wnt5a in LX-2s decreases proliferation, supporting the importance of non-canonical signalling(130).

Here, I attempted different methods of Wnt inhibition than used previously in HSCs. From Figures 5.2 and 5.5, IWP2 appears an effective Wnt inhibitor decreasing phosphorylation of DvI and suppressing expression of Wnt target genes. IWP2 treatment of Day 7 aHSCs supports the hypothesis of Wnts playing a profibrogenic role. Expression of αSMA, the commonly used marker of myofibroblast differentiation significantly decreases by approximately 50%. This is accompanied by a similar decrease in Collagen 1 expression, suggesting that active Wnt signalling promotes the fibrogenic phenotype. Surprisingly, treatment of HSCs during the initial stages of activation, at Days 1 and 2 of an *in vitro* time course appears to have the opposite effect. This is an intriguing finding, suggesting that there may be Wnt signalling present early in HSC activation which may be anti-rather than pro-fibrogenic.

Kordes *et al* (122) suggest a model of Wnt activity whereby canonical Wnt signalling is active in qHSCs and maintains the quiescent phenotype. Transdifferentiation induces a shift in Wnt expression profile, from canonical to non-canonical ligands. IWP2 data here corresponds with this

model whereby early treatment inhibits secretion of canonical, inhibitory Wnts and later treatment inhibits secretion of non-canonical, pro-fibrogenic Wnts. Commonly known Wnts such as Wnts 3a, 4, 5a, 6, 7b,9b, 10b or 11 could not be detected by RT-PCR in qHSCs as demonstrated by Chapter 3. Furthermore, protein expression of Dvl could not be detected until Day 3, suggesting an absence of active Wnt signalling before this time point. In order to further verify this model, expression of lesser known Wnts could be investigated in quiescent HSCs and during early activation. Wnt2 for example has recently been suggested as important in liver function with evidence *in vitro* using sinusoindal endothelial cells and *in vivo* using zebrafish as a model organism(195, 196). Regarding the lack of Dvl protein expression, here protein expression of Dvl2 has been used as an effective marker of Dvl activity. Although three members of the Dvl family exist in mammals, there is no evidence suggesting that different Wnts have different Dvl specificities and in HSCs all three Dvl members exhibited similar behaviour at the mRNA level (Figure 3.1). However, investigating protein expression of all three Dvl members in early HSCs would be necessary in order to fully rule out presence of Wnt signalling.

Pan Wnt inhibition in the first part of this Chapter therefore supports the hypothesis that Wnt signalling actively promotes the fibrogenic phenotype. β -Catenin activity alone was also targeted in an attempt to decipher its function in aHSCs. The ICG001 inhibitor selectively disrupts interaction between β -Catenin and the transcriptional co-activator CBP(181). CBP/ β -Catenin activity regulates downstream targets associated with cell survival and proliferation whereas β -Catenin/p300, the other major nuclear transcriptional co-activator, regulates targets associated with cellular differentiation(197). β -Catenin/CBP interaction is clearly important for HSCs as there is major change in morphology and increased apoptosis. However, results here do not recapitulate those obtained using ICG001 in a bleomycin injury model of pulmonary fibrosis where reduced expression of α SMA and Collagen1 were observed upon inhibitor treatment(183). From this inhibition of β -Catenin in HSCs cannot be suggested to promote reversion to a quiescent phenotype. Instead, β -Catenin's role

may be in governing cell survival. ICG001 treatment of murine hepatoblasts supports a role for β -Catenin/CBP activity in regulating cell survival with inhibition resulting in decreased proliferation and survival (198). Furthermore, this effect was shown to be Wnt independent, mediated instead by Akt phosphorylation of β -Catenin and not dependent on the TCF transcriptional activity shown deficient in Chapter 4.

Pan Wnt inhibition via IWP2 clearly suggests that Wnt signalling plays a role in HSC behaviour. Attempts at identifying the specific role of Wnt5a in HSCs however were less successful. Although both LX-2s and primary HSCs responded initially to Wnt5a stimulus αSMA expression levels were unaffected and there was no increase in profibrogenic mediators such as TIMP1 and MMP9. There are several possible explanations for this lack of effect. Firstly, Wnt5a may not directly regulate expression of fibrogenic mediators in HSCs. Instead, Wnt5a regulates other aspects of the myofibroblast phenotype such as the increased resistance to apoptosis demonstrated in section 5.6 and discussed further below

Secondly, in Kupffer cells, the Wnt stimulus provided by conditioned medium appeared sufficient to provoke a significant response. Kupffer Cell stimulation for 24 hours with LX-2 produced Wnts significantly increased TGFβ and MCP1 expression, key regulators in the initial response to injury. Two populations of macrophages function during liver injury with Kupffer cells the resident liver macrophages and typically associated with healthy liver(199). They are critical in the initiation of the inflammatory response, activated by release of damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) from damaged hepatocytes and cholangiocytes and stimulated to produce pro-inflammatory mediators(200). Increased expression of TGFβ by Kupffer cells will promote the transdifferentiation of quiescent HSCs to profibrogenic myofibroblasts. Increased expression of MCP1 (Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein (MCP1) also known as CCl2) will promote recruitment of circulating monocytes(201). As fibrosis progresses, Kupffer cell numbers decrease, replaced by macrophages

derived from monocytes positive for LY6C, a typical marker of inflammatory monocytes. These are the major pro-fibrotic macrophages, secreting proinflammatory mediators such as II1 β and TNF α as well as driving activation of myofibroblasts through production of TGF β and PDGF(202). The importance of MCP1/CCI2 can be demonstrated by the suppressed development of fibrosis upon its ablation(201). Here, effect of Wnt5a on Kupffer cells suggest a role in initiation of inflammatory response. Whether Wnt5a has a similar effect on the LY6C^{hi} macrophages driving fibrogenesis next needs to be addressed.

This supports an alternative possibility that HSCs may secrete Wnts as part of a paracrine signalling network . HSCs are highly secretory capable of producing a diverse repertoire of cytokines, functioning in proliferation, regeneration, chemotaxis and promotion of fibrogenesis(26). It has been reported that macrophages are a major source of canonical Wnts in the liver: macrophage produced Wnt3a playing a significant role in the differentiation of hepatocytes from hepatic progenitor cells after injury. Data here could suggest that HSCs may be a source of non-canonical Wnts. Due to having encountered difficulties with hepatocyte culture, effects of Wnt5a conditioned medium treatment could not be assessed. Canonical Wnt signalling and β -Catenin activation is known to play a role in liver zonation and regeneration as well as the differentiation of hepatocytes from precursors mentioned above. Evidence of non-canonical Wnts influence on hepatocytes is extremely limited therefore optimising culture conditions to further pursue this may yield novel findings.

The majority of cytokines produced by HSCs are thought to function in an autocrine manner. In a potential model of HSCs producing Wnts to function in paracrine signalling, the increased sFRP expression and decreased Fzd receptor expression described in Chapter 3 may be a protective mechanism to prevent HSCs from responding to their own ligands.

This Chapter intended to assess the function of a single Wnt ligand. However, stimulation of HSCs with Wnt5a alone was less successful than pan Wnt inhibition via IWP2 treatment. Both Wnt5a overexpression and conditioned medium treatment upregulated Dvl phosphorylation, therefore proving successful in initiating Wnt signalling. However, *in vitro* conditions here may not have been optimal for full function of Wnt signalling.

LX-2s are considered representative of fully differentiated myofibroblasts and may therefore be 'too activated' in phenotype for Wnt stimulus to provoke further transcriptional activity. Regarding the lack of transcriptional response in primary HSCs, Wnts function as morphogens with cellular response heavily dictated by concentration. Morphogens function through establishment of concentration gradients, cellular response dependent on amount of stimulus received, with 'low threshold' and 'high threshold' target genes. Furthermore, receptor expression profiles specific to receiving cell will further modify response. Stimulus of primary cells with Wnt conditioned medium was clearly sufficient to instigate Wnt signalling in both HSCs and KCs. However, the fibrogenic targets analysed may have had lower thresholds of activation in KCs compared with HSCs. One of the caveats of working with conditioned medium as a stimulus is that Wnt concentrations cannot be easily modulated. A tightly regulated dose titration with recombinant Wnt proteins would be one method to test this. However, complications with this may involve the issues with purity and activity associated with use of recombinant Wnts(203)

Furthermore, HSCs express multiple ligands and single ligand stimulus may not be sufficient. Overexpression or stimulus with multiple ligands may be required before a function can be determined. This is yet again a similar problem as witnessed in Chapters 3 and 4, encountering a multiplicity of Wnt ligands and interactors. A further complication is the increased expression of sFRPs accompanying activation. If they are indeed a protective mechanism to prevent HSCs responding to their own Wnt ligands, they are likely to interfere with exogenous Wnts also. Chapter 3 described upregulation of four secreted interactors of Wnts: sFRP1, sFRP2, sFRP4 and Dkk3. There

is little evidence for interaction between Wnt5a and sFRP4 or Dkk3. Interactions between Wnt5a and sFRP1 and sFRP2 on the other hand are well documented but the functional outcome appears to be highly cell context specific. Numerous references support sFRP1 and sFRP2 as inhibitory factors. Evidence demonstrates sFRP2 able to reduce Wnt5a mediated Dvl2 phosphorylation and impair migration in breast cancer cells for example or able to bind to and antagonise Wnt5a's promotion of prochondrogenic differentiation. sFRP1 has similarly been shown able to disrupt Wnt5a mediated PCP signalling in the developing gut(204). However, there are several examples of sFRP1 selectively associating with canonical ligands over non-canonical Wnt5a or sFRP2 recombinant treatment having no influence on Wnt5a/Fzd interaction. One study demonstrates co-upregulation of Wnt5a and sFRP1 and sFRP2 in migrating immortalised keratinocytes, a similar situation as observed in aHSCs. Here, sFRP1 and sFRP2 do not appear to interact with Wnt5a but instead impair canonical signalling.

Functional outcome of sFRP/Wnt interaction therefore appears to be highly cell context specific. The use of sFRPs as Wnt inhibitors should therefore be undertaken with extreme caution: concentrations strictly controlled and interactions in cell type of choice clearly defined. One group advocates use of a 'cocktail' of sFRPs, combining multiple sFRPs to achieve effective Wnt inhibiton. Multiple sFRPs upregulation may be a method of inhibiting all putative Wnt interactions in HSCs. From the literature described above it appears that where physical binding of sFRP1 and sFRP2 occurs, Wnt5a activity is inhibited. Wnt CM treatment here lacks a thorough characterisation of how sFRPs behave upon stimulus. To further clarify role of these proteins in HSCs, stimulus of HSCs could be repeated and the resulting protein interactions of Wnts and sFRPs examined.

Characteristic traits of myofibroblasts include increased migration, contractility, proliferation and resistance to apoptosis. Of the traits analysed, manipulation of Wnt signalling in HSCs appeared to influence apoptosis resistance only. Contractility was not examined. However as Wnt5a is a known

promoter of stress fibre formation mediated by RhoA this could be a promising target. Undertaking a simple F-actin staining assay using Wnt CM treated rat HSCs would allow further investigation of this.

Wnt5a overexpression in LX-2 cells appeared to promote resistance to mild apopotic stimuli. Clearance of aHSCs by apoptosis is a critical during fibrosis resolution, selectively targeting αSMA positive cells for apoptosis significantly improves fibrosis resolution(60). During injury, HSCs are maintained by anti-apoptotic signals derived from injured environment or autocrine production of TIMP1. Upon cessation of injury and a change towards normal liver architecture, these survival signals are removed and HSCs undergo apoptosis(23). Data here suggests possibility that increased Wnt5a may act as one of those survival signals. Rather than directly enhancing fibrogenic activity, Wnt5a may play a role in modulating HSC apoptotic response.

How exactly Wnt5a is mediating this protective effect cannot be determined from this data. From Figure 5.16 NFAT appears an unlikely contender as total NFAT luciferase reporter activity appeared unresponsive to Wnt5a treatment. Interaction between Wnt5a and NFκB is one possibility. Upregulation of NFκB activity mediatied by Wnt5a has been described in several studies using macrophages and lymphocytes(205, 206) with decreased expression of NFκB regulated prosurvival genes such as Bax and Bcl2 observed upon Wnt5a siRNA knockdown(206). NFκB plays a critical role in mediating survival of HSCs(207) therefore linking these two pathways in HSCs is an intriguing possibility.

Another attractive candidate is Wnt5a/ PKC signalling with protein kinase C (PKC) is a known promoter of apoptosis resistance. Upon irradiation induced apoptosis in fibroblasts, phosphorylation of PKC mediates a protective effect through upregulation of pro-survival signals such as CREB phosphorylation along with anti-apoptotic markers such as BAD phosphorylation(208). Wnt5a is a

well-established activator of PKC in governing cell motility and recent evidence shows Wnt/PKC signalling enhancing survival of murine mesenchymal stem cells upon exposure to H_2O_2 (209, 210). Further work exploring Wnt5a's influence on apoptotic mechanisms in HSCs is now required. Investigating its potential effect on PKC downstream effectors and potential role in apoptosis with further aid establishing a mechanism of Wnt5a function and survival signals it produces

5.8 Conclusions

This chapter aimed to identify the exact role Wnt ligands are playing in HSC activation and behaviour and has demonstrated:

- Inhibition of Wnt signalling in aHSCs decreased fibrogenic markers
- Wnt5a stimulus did not increase fibrogenic markers in aHSCs instead promoting profibrogenic and proinflammatory cytokine expression in Kupffer Cells
- Wnt5a treatment of LX-2s and primary HSCs appears to confer resistance to mild apoptotic stimuli

Chapter 6: H2A.Z's Role in Influencing DNA Methylation in Early Zebrafish Embryos

6.1.Introduction

H2A.Z's role in influencing DNA Methylation in early zebrafish embryos

This chapter serves as an initial exploration of how changes early in development may impact injury response in the adult, mediated through epigenetic mechanisms. As mentioned in the introduction, a recent study has explored multigenerational adaptation to liver fibrosis where ancestral injury conveyed a protective effect upon subsequent generations(211). A reduced fibrotic response was associated with differential methylation levels of key fibrotic markers: high methylation of profibrotic TGFβ and low methylation of antifibrotic PPARγ. How this adaptation is transmitted between generations is not clear. Chromatin modifications in sperm were investigated as a potential mechanism and ChIP analysis demonstrated enrichment of the histone variant H2A.Z at the PPARγ promoter in sperm of injured rats.

6.1.1 Canonical and Variant Histones

Chromatin is the complex of DNA and packaging proteins, with twice the protein mass of DNA alone(72). Chromatin exists in two states: heterochromatin, a highly condensed form, associated with low transcriptional activity or euchromatin, a more open conformation, allowing access of transcriptional machinery to DNA(37). Histones are the protein family responsible for packaging DNA and consist of four core members: H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 and the linker histone H1. Core histones dimerise to form an octomer around which 147bp of DNA is wrapped, this is termed a nucleosome and is the basic unit of chromatin (Figure 6.1A).







Figure 6.1 Summary of Nucleosome Structure (A) Histones are the protein family responsible for packaging DNA and consist of four core members: H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 and the linker histone H1. Core histones dimerise to form an octomer around which 147bp of DNA is wrapped. This is termed a nucleosome and is the basic unit of chromatin **(B)** Modifications to histones result in alterations in chromatin structure and alterations in transcription. Modifications include methylation, acetylation and phosphorylation of histone tails or exchange of variant histone forms.
The N terminal tails of histones are significant sites for modifications. Classic histone modifications include methylation, acetylation and phosphorylation(212). These changes can result in either altered contacts between nucleosomes, thus altering chromatin state or promoting recruitment of non-histone proteins which can influence transcription of genes(212). Different histone modifications are therefore associated with either transcriptional promotion or repression.

Chromatin structure can also be changed through incorporation of variant histones forms. Canonical histones (H2A, H2B, H3 and H4) are solely involved in DNA packaging and their deposition is tightly coupled with DNA replication. Variant histone expression is less strictly regulated and their deposition can occur independent of the cell cycle(72). Furthermore, structural differences of variant histones in comparison to their canonical forms enable function beyond DNA packaging(213).

Histone H2 has the largest number of variants including H2A.Z, macroH2A, H2A-Bbd, H2AvD, and H2A.X (214) Some variants such as H2A.Z and H2A.X are conserved throughout evolution while others such as macroH2A are restricted to mammals. H2A.Z has the highest level of conservation, more similar across species than even the canonical H2A itself(215). H2A. Z is termed a replacement histone and exchanges with H2A at specific points during development and differentiation with its deposition driven by the Swr1 chromatin remodelling complex(216)

Structurally, H2A.Z is relatively similar to H2A. One key divergence is the presence of an extended acidic patch on the nucleosome surface. Mutations of this patch lead to disruption of H2A.Z function in developing *Xenopus* embryos, demonstrating its functional importance(72). One hypothesis is this acidic patch changes interaction with neighbouring nucleosomes, altering chromatin architecture(217).

H2A.Z is implicated in a diverse range of functions. It is shown to localize to transcriptional start sites and is associated with promotion of gene activation and initiation of transcription. In mammals, H2A.Z is predominantly associated with actively expressing genes(218) and studies in embryonic

133

stem cells suggest H2A.Z is enriched at genes associated with developmental regulation(219). The necessity of H2A.Z is clear from depletion studies. RNAi mediated knockdown of H2A.Z leads to missegregation of chromosomes(220) and failure to differentiate while knockout in mice causes failed gastrulation and early embryonic lethality(215).

Another potential role for H2A.Z recently identified is in the antagonism of DNA methylation(222, 223). Enrichment of H2A.Z at the PPARy promoter in the sperm of injured rats suggests it might play a role in transmission of hereditary information, influence methylation levels of genes in offspring.

6.1.2 DNA Methylation dynamics during development

Changes in methylation patterns are a key contributing factor to embryogenesis. During development, pluripotent cells become differentiated, requiring tightly controlled regulation of transcription factors(211). Epigenetic changes during development are likely to be one of these regulatory factors. DNA methylation has been shown to have roles in genomic imprinting, transposon silencing, X-inactivation and gene repression(221)

During embryogenesis, methylation patterns are highly dynamic. Global demethylation occurs upon fertilisation, followed by a gradual reannotation of methylation patterns mediated by Dnmt3a(40). The paternal genome is rapidly and actively demethylated, whereas maternal demethylation occurs passively during cleavage, dependent on replication (222) This reprogramming of methylation is thought to aid developmental transitions. A key developmental event is the midblastula transition (MBT), the point at which the zygotic genome transcription becomes active. This is a period of significant chromatin remodelling and dynamic DNA methylation patterns are crucial at this point. Genes involved in regulation of processes such as metabolism and protein synthesis are hypomethylated whereas genes involved in later developmental processes or terminal differentiation are hypermethylated(223). Disruption of methylation dynamics at this early stage leads to dysregulated transcription and severe consequences for development (224, 225)



Embryonic Development

Figure 6.2 Methylation dynamics during embryogenesis

Schematic illustrating dynamic nature of methylation during embryogenesis. Demethylation of gametes occurs upon fertilisation with active demethylation of paternal genome and passive demethylation of maternal genome. There is a gradual reannotation of methylation patterns as development proceeds.

6.1.3 H2A.Z and DNA Methylation

H2A.Z and DNA Methylation therefore appear to have opposing roles: H2A.Z associated with active transcription and DNA methylation associated with repression. Whether a functional relationship exists between H2A.Z and methylation was first explored in the model plant organism *Arabidopsis thaliana(226)*. Whole genome mapping of DNA methylation patterns and H2A.Z location revealed an anti-correlative relationship with H2A.Z excluded from regions of DNA methylation. Loss of function mutations in Met1, the *Arabidopsis* DNA methyltransferase, dysregulated methylation patterns across the genome. In these plants, distribution of H2A.Z was also altered: H2A.Z was decreased in regions of increased methylation while increased H2A.Z enrichment accompanied decreased methylation. Further experiments using loss of function mutations in PIE1, a component of the complex involved in deposition of H2A.Z, resulted in genome wide hypermethylation and decreased H2A.Z distribution. From this, the authors proposed a mechanism where methylated regions exclude H2A.Z, further ensuring repression of transcription. Conversely, regions of H2A.Z enrichment prevent methylation and further promote gene activation.

Based on these findings we wanted to explore the possibility that H2A.Z enrichment in sperm could modulate gene expression in the adult through influencing methylation. The first step was to investigate the role of H2A.Z in governing methylation during early embryogenesis. We aimed to deplete H2A.Z and investigate subsequent effect on genome wide methylation levels. The rodent model used previously presents significant obstacles as H2A.Z is essential for embryonic development. As mentioned, H2A.Z knockdown is early embryonic lethal in mouse models and H2A.Z's presence is essential for the differentiation of embryonic stem cells(215, 227). In order to circumvent this, the zebrafish was chosen as a model organism.

136

6.1.3 Zebrafish as a model organism

The use of zebrafish in medical research is significantly increasing. Homology between zebrafish and human is high with at least one zebrafish ortholog existing for 71% of human genes. Moreover, 82% of disease related genes in humans have at least one zebrafish ortholog (39).Using zebrafish as a model organism has a great number of benefits. Genetic manipulation in zebrafish is relatively simple with diverse methods such as targeted mutagenesis, transient knockdown of expression and conditional gene expression facilitating identification of gene function. Furthermore their small size and low associated husbandry costs make large scale screens attractive and affordable(228).

Existing disease models in zebrafish include models for myopathies, muscle degeneration, neurodegeneration, carcinogenesis and metabolic disorders to highlight a few(40, 229, 230). Focusing on liver disease, the zebrafish liver is fully mature by four days post fertilisation (dpf) and can be used as a model of hepatic disease(233). Treatment of zebrafish with ethanol is a robust model of alcoholic liver disease, with treated embryos displaying metabolism of alcohol, oxidative stress and the development of steatosis and hepatomegaly(55, 231).

One of the major advatanges of zebrafish as a model organism is their rapid embryogenesis, with major organs fully formed by 5dpf. Furthermore, zebrafish develop externally and early embryos are transparent, allowing for significant developmental milestones such as axis polarity specification and gastrulation to be observed without need for specialist equipment or invasive imaging(27). Early stages of development are summarised by Figure 6.4, with the embryonic period lasting until approximately 72 hours post fertilisation, after hatching of larvae (232)

The first cleavage occurs approximately 40 minutes after fertilisation. Embryos pass rapidly through cleavage and blastula stages. Epiboly, the first major cell movement involving the thinning and spreading of the blastodisc over the yolk cell begins at approximately and is commonly used to stage early embryos(233). Embryos complete gastrulation, the formation of the primary germ layers of

137

ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm by approximately 10 hours post fertilisation (hpf). The period of segmentation (10 – 24 hpf) is the period during which primary organogenesis occurs and can be staged by the number of developing somites, paired blocks of mesoderm along the anterior posterior axis, from which skeletal muscle, cartilage and bones of the spine and ribcage develop. The period between 24 and 48 hpf is termed the Pharyngula period. During this time there is further development of the nervous system with the brain differentiating into distinct lobes as well as the circulatory system as the heart begins to beat. Embryos normally hatch independently after approximately 72hpf. At this point organogenesis of most systems is complete and animals display tactile sensitivity and independent movement. Hatching marks the end of the embryonic period. During development, zebrafish undergo similar wave of demethylation and remethylation as observed in mammals(234). The genome is hypothemethylated until the early blastula stage, the wave of de novo methylation beginning approximately at the mid blastula stage and continuing until 6hpf or the beginnings of gastrulation.



Figure 6.3 Methylation Dynamics during zebrafish embryogenesis

As in mammals, DNA methylation levels during zebrafish embryogenesis are also highly dynamic. Demethylation occurs upon fertilisation, de novo methylation begins approximately at the mid blastula stage (3hpf) and continues until 6hpf (the beginnings of gastrulation)

Period	Stage	Time (hpf)	Description
Zygote	1 cell	0	
Cleavage	2 cell	0.75	Rapid Cell Division
	64 cell		
Blastula	128 Cell	2.25	
	High	Point of Mid-Blastula	Point of Mid-Blastula
	Sphere		Transition/ Zygotic Gene Activation Beginnings of Epiboly
	Dome		
	30% Epiboly		
Gastrula	50% Epiboly	5.25	
	Germ Ring		Body axis formation Germ Layer Formation Rudiments of brain and notochord formation
	Shield		
	75% Epiboly		
	90% Epiboly		
Segmentation	Bud	10	Somite Formation Development of neuromeres Primary organogenesis
	3 Somite		
	26 Somite		
Pharyngula	Prim 5	24	First movements apparent

Figure 6.4 Summary of early zebrafish development

The ortholog of H2A.Z in zebrafish is H2afv. One previous study mutated H2afv during a mutation screen, with mutants characterised by significant curvature of the trunk and defects in pharyngeal arch development. Total mortality was observed by 13 days after fertilisation(235). Although this mutant is an efficient method of H2afv depletion it would not be suitable for the purposes here. As we intended to observe the effects of H2A.Z depletion early in embryonic development, H2afv depletion through morpholino knockdown was decided upon.

Morpholino oligonucleotides (MOs) are the most common form of anti-sense knockdown deployed in zebrafish(236). Morpholinos are approximately 25 base oligomers which recognise and pair with target RNA. Two types of morpholino exist: splice blocking which disrupt pre-mRNA processing through inhibition of spliceosome components or translation blocking which prevent ribosome function(237). Titration of morpholino dose should enable partial knockdown of H2afv protein expression, preventing lethality of null phenotypes observed in mice and drosophila yet allowing investigation of this histone variants role on embryonic development and methylation status.

6.3 Initial morpholino titration

The first step was to identify an effective dose of morpholino (MO), the ideal dose being one to provide a characteristic phenotype yet not so severe to impede correct development. I initially injected a titration of three doses: 6.7, 3.3 and 0.67ng and followed survival and development over the first five days after fertilisation (Figure 6.5A). Representative images at 4dpf of each dose compared with standard control injected fish are illustrated in Figure 6.5B. Morpholino knockdown was effective at all 3 doses, clearly demonstrated by Western Blot (Figure 6.5C). All three concentrations cause distinct phenotypic differences with severity increasing with increased dose. 6.7ng of morpholino causes substantial deformities with only a 40% survival rate and was therefore considered too strong. 3.3 and 0.67ng result in similar survival rate of 75-85%.

I went on to further characterise phenotypic abnormalities. Again fish were injected with either 0.67 or 3.3ng of *h2afv* MO or a standard control MO. Morphant morphology was assessed at two and four days post fertilisation and morphants were categorised as normal, mild or severe in phenotype. Representative images of each category are shown in Figure 6.6A along with phenotype percentage scores (Figure 6.6B). Each dose was injected into a minimum of three clutches. Although injection with 3.3ng of morpholino results in a similar survival rate to that of 0.67ng, severe phenotype percentage is increased. This results in a large number of highly deformed fish, making the study and characterisation of phenotype much more difficult. 0.67ng was selected as a suitable dose and used for all subsequent experiments.



Figure 6. 5 Morpholino injection successfully suppresses H2afv expression.

(A) Kaplan-Meir curve demonstrating survival of *h2afv* morphants across the first 4 days of development compared to Std control MO injected fish. Three different doses of *h2afv* MO is used (0.67, 3.3 or 6.7ng). (B) Bright field images of fish injected with 0.67, 3.3 or 6.7ng *h2afv* MO compared to controls (C) Western Blot analysis of H2afv protein levels in lysates isolated from fish injected 0.67, 3.3 or 6.7ng *h2afv* MO compared to controls

6.4 Morphant phenotype

Morphants in Figure 6.6 can be characterised by distinct phenotypic abnormalities in comparison to standard control injected fish. Morphants present with ventral curvature of trunk, abnormalities in pigment, smaller eyes and a reduction in head length. Severe morphants are more exaggerated in these traits. Figure 6.7 further highlights their smaller size in comparison to control fish as well as the presence of down curved heads (a), under utilisation of yolk (b) and abnormal tail yolk extension(c). At later time points (4 to 5dpf) morphants show poor swim bladder development as well as moderate deformities in organ development. LiPan transgenic fish express dsRed and GFP under liver specifc (fabp10) and pancreas specific (ela3l) markers respectively. Injecting into this line therefore allows visualisation of liver (Figure 6.8A) and pancreas development (Figure 6.8B). Both morphant livers and pancreases appear reduced in size and misshapen in comparison to control fish.

Another distinct characteristic displayed by morphants is reduced swimming ability and abnormal response to tactile stimulus. Touch response was quantified by a simple motility assay demonstrated by Figure 6.9A. 2dpf fish were used as it is the first timepoint at which they are sensitive to touich stimulus. Fish were placed into the centre of a dish with concentric rings labelled Zone 1, Zone 2 and Zone 3. They were lightly touched once on the head and scored based on the zone they swam into. Only *h2afv* morphants catagorised as mild in phenotype were assessed as extreme ventral curvature of severe morphants prevented sufficient movement for measurement. *h2afv* morphants responded poorly in comparison to controls, with 40% unable to move beyond Zone 1 (Figure 6.9B).





Figure 6. 6 Morphants display distinct phenotypic abnormality when scored at 2 and 4dpf.

(A) Bright field images comparing Std control and *h2afv* MO injected fish at 2 and 4dpf. *h2afv* morphants classified as mild or severely affected. (B) Percentage phenotypes of Std control and 3.3 or 0.67ng *h2afv* MO injected fish



Figure 6. 7 Further phenotypic characterisation of *h2afv* **morphants at 3dpf** *h2afv* morphants are noticeably decreased in size in comparison to Std Control fish. In addition, they present with down curved heads (a), under utilisation of yolk (b) and abnormal tail yolk extension(c)



Figure 6. 8 Organ defects present at later developmental stages.

5dpf morphants fail to develop swim bladders (black arrows). Reduced size and irregular shape of morphant livers (A) and pancreases (B) can be visualised using fish transgenic for liver specifc (fabp10) and pancreas specific (ela3l) markers.



Figure 6. 9 Morphants respond abnormally to touch

(A) Diagram illustrating set-up of touch response assay. Fish were placed into the centre of a dish with concentric rings labelled Zone 1, Zone 2 and Zone 3 and their destination recorded upon stimulus (B) Percentages of *h2afv* morphants or control fish reaching each zone.

One caveat of working with morpholinos is the risk of non specific effects. Activation of the tumour suppressor p53 is one of the most common observed off target effects, leading to excessive apoptosis(238) To investigate the potential of off target cell death, apoptosis was investigated by acridine orange staining . At 24hpf, no significant differences between morphant and controls can be observed (Figure 6.10). To further control for off target p53 activation, I coinjected *h2afv* and *p53* targeting MOs in two separate clutches of fish and scored for phenotype at 2dpf. Co-knockdown of p53 and H2afv produced similar levels of phenotypic abnormality when compared to H2afv knockdown alone, with morphants still presenting with misshapen heads, curvature and reduced size. (Figure 6.11 A and B)

To further establish specificity of knockdown, rescue of phenotype was attempted by injection of *h2afv* mRNA. Fish were co-injected with when mCherry tagged *h2afv* mRNA and *h2afv* MO and morphants scored at 2dpf.Visually mRNA and MO co-injected fish appear similar to controls (Figure 6.12A). When scored across four separate clutches, phenotypic abnormality was reduced in co-injected fish from approximately 60% affected to 40% affected. (Figure 6.12B). Furthermore, Western blot confirmed that the exogenous H2afv-mCherry was well expressed but this did not restore expression of the endogenous H2afv. Phenotype was apparent in approximately 30% of mRNA only injected fish. However, developmental defects associated with *h2afv* mRNA injection have previously been reported in Xenopus(239).

147



Orange

Figure 6.10 h2afv MO injection does not cause excessive apoptosis at 24hpf 24hpf Std Control and h2afv MO injected embryos were stained with Acridine Orange and

visualised under fluorescence. No significant difference in number of apoptotic cells can be observed.



Figure 6.11 Co-knockdown of H2afv and P53 does not reduce phenotypic abnormality at 2dpf Embryos were injected with Std control, h2afv MO or h2afv MO and p53 MO and scored at 2dpf. Bright field images demonstrate phenotypic abnormalities in h2afv MO and h2afv + p53 MO injected fish. Similar % of phenotypic abnormality observed in both *h2afv* MO injected and co-injected groups.

(A)



Figure 6.12 Injection of *h2afv* mRNA rescues phenotypic abnormality at 2dpf

Fish were injected with *h2afv* mRNA either singly or coinjected with *h2afv* MO and scored at 2dpf. (A) Bright field images demonstrated phenotypic rescue of coinjected fish. (B) Phenotype percentage scores at 2dpf (C) Western Blot analysis of H2afv protein levels at 2dpf in Control, *h2afv* mRNA, h2afv MO and co injected groups

6.5 H2afv at Early Developmental Stages

These data clearly demonstrate the importance of H2afv for early development in zebrafish as even injection of such a low dose of morpholino causes multi-system defects. I next aimed to determine when phenotypic differences were first noticeable. Std Control and h2afv MO injected fish were observed over the first 24 hours of development and scored at Shield, Bud, 15-17 Somite and Prim 5 developmental stages, with a minimum of three clutches observed at each stage (Figure 6.13). No significant differences in phenotype or mortality are observable at Shield or Bud stage. By midsomatogenesis (15 – 17 somite stage) morphants can be categorised as mild or severely affected, again appearing reduced in size and with abnormalities in head development. By Prim5 a significant difference in mortality is apparent. Further deficiencies in head development are noticeable, with an apparent delay in formation of the midbrain-hindbrain boundary . Again traits are exaggerated in severely affected morphants, with significant disruption of head development. These data demonstrate that defects arising from h2afv deficiency can be observed at an early developmental time point.



Figure 6. 13 Developmental abnormality first observed at the 15 – 17 somite stage (A) Bright field images comparing Std control and *h2afv* MO injected fish at Bud, 15-17 somite and Prim5 stages. *h2afv* morphants classified as mild or severly affected. (B) Percentage phenotypes of Std control and *h2afv* MO injected fish at Bud, 15-17 somite and Prim5 stages Further exploration of transcriptional disruption due to H2afv deficiency was next required. As H2A.Z depletion has previously been associated with gastrulation defects in mice and Xenopus(73, 216), I first asked whether a deficiency in a specific germ layer could be detected. For example, later morphants display moderate defects in endoderm derived organs such as pancreas and liver therefore disruption of early endodermal markers could precede this. RNA was isolated from whole embryos at the 15-17 somite stage, post-gastrulation and at the developmental stage where phenotype differences are first apparent.

qRT-PCR analysis markers specific for endo-,exo- and mesoderm was conducted in a minimum of three clutches (Figure 6.14). Expression changes were modest and no pattern specific germ layer disruption is apparent. Small but significant differences occur for several markers: sox9a, pitx3, snail, sox17, ntla. sox9a, pitx3 and snail are noteworthy as their expression is significantly associated with neural regions while ntla is one marker particularly sensitive to methylation.



Figure 6. 14Limited disruption of endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm specific markers. mRNA levels of endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm specific markers were analysed at the 15-17 somite stage by qRT-PCR in Std Control and *h2afv* MO injected fish (n=4). qRT-PCR results are expressed as fold change normalised to control \pm SEM. *p<0.05 Student's *t* Test (unpaired)

6.5 Characterisation of nervous system defects

It was next hypothesised that *h2afv* morphants may present with nervous system defects. Morphologically, morphants display visibly misshapen heads, smaller eyes and poor motility along with moderate differential expression of neurally expressed genes at 15-17 somite stage. H2afv expression is predominantly localised to the CNS when mCherry tagged *h2afv* mRNA is overexpressed by injection at the 1 - 4 cell stage (Figure 6.15). Enrichment of H2A.Z at promoters of genes regulating neural development has been reported in human ESCs and interestingly, analysis of the zebrafish sperm genome identified enrichment of H2afv at genes associated with hindbrain formation (225, 227). Based on this, I hypothesised that genes involved in neural development and differentiation may be particularly susceptible to H2afv depletion. To explore this possibility of neural development defects, H2afv expression was first knocked down in the ngn1GFP transgenic line.

Ngn1 is a transcription factor which acts as a proneural marker. Expression of ngn1 begins at gastrulation and remains until adulthood. It initially marks broad regions of cells with potential to adopt neuronal fate while later expression marks sensory and dorsal root ganglia(240). Ngn1:GFP transgenics were injected with Std Control or *h2afv* MO and GFP expression pattern observed across a time course of development. No differences in patterning in brain or somites were obvious at 19-21 somite stage or later at 1dpf (Figure 6.16A and B). This suggests that no differences in proneural differentiation driven by ngn1 occur. However at later time points of 2 and 3dpf, ectopic dorsal root ganglia neurons can be observed in the trunks of morphants (Figure 6.14C).

At later time points, ngn1 serves as a maker of sensory neurons, not motor neurons(241). Due to poor motility and movement of morphants, I hypothesised that a defect in motor neuron development could be occurring. To investigate this, I used a different transgenic line where GFP expression is driven by isl1. Isl1 is a LIM/Homeobox gene family member and expressed by primary motor neurons early in development(242). Again, early expression of isl1 was not disrupted in *h2afv* morphants in comprarison to controls. By 36hpf however, there were significant differences in patterning of expression, particularly in faciobranchial motor neurons (Figure 6.17). This may suggest disruption of motor neuron development arising from H2afv deficiency.

24 hpf (h2afv mCherry)



Figure 6. 15H2afv is localised to the CNS

Fluorescent microscopy visualisation at 24hpf of mCherry tagged *h2afv* mRNA. Robust expression can be observed in the CNS. No fluorescent signal is observed in control injected fish.







Figure 6. 16 ngn1 expression in morphants at 19-21 somites, 1 dpf and 3dpf.

ngn1GFP transgenics were injected with *h2afv* MO or standard control. (A) and (B) Fluorescent and Bright field images of fish at 19-21 somites or 1 dpf show no detectable differences in patterning (C) By 3dpf, ectopic expression of trunk ngn1 positive neurons can be visualised to approximately 70% of morphants (white arrows)



Figure 6. 17 Disrupted isl1 expression visible in morphants.

Std Control and *h2afv* MO injected isl1:GFP transgenics were visualised at 36hpf. Disrupted isl1 patterning can be observed in *h2afv* MOs (white arrows).

6.6 Assessment of methylation in early h2afv morphants

I have so far been able to demonstrate effective knockdown of h2afv resulting in characteristic phenotypes, detectable from an early developmental stage. Having established the importance of h2afv for correct development, I next wanted to investigate its potential effects on methylation. As mentioned previously, h2afv is thought to be anti-correlative to methylation, shown using the model plant organism *Arabidopsis(226)*. From this I predicted increased levels of DNA methylation would be detectable in H2afv deficient fish in comparison to controls.

I investigated global levels of DNA methylation by quantifying levels of methylated cytosine (5 MeC) Genomic DNA was isolated from whole embryos at early developmental stages (Shield, Bud, 15-17 Somite and Prim5) and immunoblotted using a 5MeC specific antibody. Separate samples blotted in parallel were stained with 0.2% Methylene blue in 0.3M NaOAc to detect total DNA. 5MeC levels were determined by normalising to total DNA. A minimum of three clutches was used for each developmental stage. Morphants appear consistently hypermethylated across early development, difference reaching statistical significance at 15- 17 somite stage (Figures 6.18A, B and C). This correlates with hypothesis and confirms differences observed previously in plant models. Hypermethylation can only be observed during these early developmental time points. No differences in 5MeC levels are apparent at later stages such as 1dpf and 4dpf (Figure 6.18D and E).



Figure 6.18 h2afv morphants are hypermethylated at early stages of development.

(A) Genomic DNA was isolated from whole embryos at the Shield, Bud, 15-17 Somite and Prim 6 developmental stages and levels of 5MeC analysed by immunoblot. Morphants are consistently hypermethylated at early developmental timepoints, reaching statistical significance at the 15-17 somite stage (B) and (C) Representative immunoblots. At later time points of 24hpf (D) and 4 dpf (E) no increased methylation could be detected. * p <0.05 Students *t* Test (paired).

I next asked how this hypermethylation may be mediated. In Zilberman et al, MET1 the Arabadopsis homolog of dnmt1 was shown able to regulate DNA methylation patterns and subsequently alter H2A.Z distribution(226). Here, behaviour of the zebrafish holomog dnmt1 was investigated upon H2afv knockdown. Protein expression of Dnmt1 was unchanged upon H2afv knockdown at 1dpf (Figure 6.19A). Next it was questioned whether knockdown of Dnmt1 could reduce hypermethylation in morphants and therefore reduce the phenotype. Co-injection of *h2afv* and *dnmt1* MOs successfully knocked down dnmt1 protein levels (Figure 6.19B) and reduced 5 MeC levels in three clutches of morphants (Figure 6.19C and D). However, there was no improvement in phenotype of co-injected morphants over the first 4 days of development. Instead, phenotypes of co-knockdown appeared additive, resulting in a higher percentage of severely affected animals (Figure 6.19E). This suggests that hypermethylation and morphant phenotype is not driven by over activity of dnmt1.

Finally, a brief analysis of histone methylation was undertaken. Methylation of histone 3 at common sites such as Lysine 9 (H3k9me3) and Lysine 27 (H3k27me3), associated with transcriptional silencing was investigated by western blot. Again no differences were observable. This suggests disruption of DNA methylation only occurs upon H2afv knockdown (Figure 6.20).





(A) Dnmt1 protein expression analysed in lysates from *h2afv* MO and Std control injected fish. (B) Dnmt1 protein expression reduced in protein lysates from fish injected with *dnmt1* MO and coinjected with *h2afv* and *dnmt1* MO . (C) and (D) Analysis of 5MeC levels in genomic DNA from Std control or *dnmt1* and *h2afv* MO injected fish. (E) Phenotypes of single MO or coinjected fish were scored until 96hpf. Coinjection did not reduce phenotype of *h2afv* morphants



Figure 6.20 h2afv MO does not alter expression of histone marks at 24hpf

Western blot analysis of H2afv, H3K27me3, H3K9me3 and γ H2AX protein expression in lysates from 24hpf control and *h2afv* morphant fish. α Tubulin serves as a loading control.

6.7 Discussion

H2A.Z has previously been suggested as a factor involved in passage of non-mendelian hereditary information between generations: its incorporation in particular loci in sperm leading to decreased methylation of promoters in offspring(48). This chapter aimed to explore whether H2A.Z may be able to influence early methylation patterns using the embryonic zebrafish as a model organism. The anti-correlative relationship between H2A.Z and DNA methylation has been previously explored in the model plant organism *Arabidopsis(226)* and *in vitro* culture studies(243) however data from in vivo animal models remain lacking. Data from this chapter has served as a first step in establishing this.

Here I have been able to effectively knockdown the zebrafish homolog of H2A.Z (H2afv) during the first five days of embryonic development. Similar to previous reports, this chapter demonstrates the importance of H2A.Z for embryonic development with morpholino injected animals displaying significant mortality and physiological defects. The hypothesis of H2afv influencing DNA methylation is supported by simple analysis of global methylation levels. Immunoblotting for total levels of methylated cytosine in whole embryos suggests increased levels of DNA methylation during the early stages of development. DNA methylation levels are highly dynamic during early development(222). Genome wide demethylation occurs upon fertilisation, with gradual remethylation occurring as development precedes. In zebrafish, reannotation of the genome begins at approximately 4hpf(244). Here we demonstrate hypermethylation of morphants throughout this reannotation period and beyond until 24hpf.

Future work comparing methylomes of control and morphant samples through next generation sequencing will enable further insight into patterning of methylation differences. Another step will be to determine how this hypermethylation is mediated. The effects of H2afv depletion on Dnmt1, the maintenance methyltransferase, were investigated here. No differences in Dnmt1 expression could be observed upon H2afv depletion and no rescue of phenotype was observed upon coknockdown. This may suggest that hypermethylation is not mediated by Dnmt1. As a maintenance

164

methyltransferase, Dnmt1 is limited to copying patterns of hemimethylated DNA. A next step would therefore be to look at the *de novo* methyltransferases functional during the period of reannotation(222). Multiple homologs exist in zebrafish, with dnmt3 most closely resembling mammalian dnmt3b(245).

Morphological defects observed such as malformed heads, smaller eyes, delayed brain development and poor motility particularly suggest defects in nervous system development. This is further suggested by preliminary work using fish lines transgenic for markers of motor (isl1) and sensory neurons (ngn1). The developing nervous system is acutely sensitive to changes in DNA methylation(246). Neurons undergo highly specified cycles of specification, differentiation and maturation, dependent on specific methylation profiles. Developmental disorders such as fetal alcohol syndrome have been strongly associated with disruption of DNA methylation in the CNS(247) and altered methylation patterns have been linked with neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease(248, 249). Furthermore, other models inducing hypermethylation at early developmental stages have reported nervous system abnormalities (250, 251). This coupled with the localisation of H2afv expression to the nervous system makes the possibility of nervous system defects highly likely. The observations using ngn1GFP transgenic fish suggest there is no abnormality in neural specification as patterning is similar between morphants and controls at the early stages of 19 – 21 somites and 1 dpf. Early observations using isl1GFP transgenics also show no difference between morphants and controls. It is only at later time points: 36hpf for isl1:GFPs and 2 and 3dpf for ngn1:GFP that differences are observable. This suggests that there may be a defect in the maturation or activity of post-mitotic neurons rather than neuron specification. A critical next step will be to identify the effect of H2afv depletion on the signalling pathways critical in regulating this time point.

165

6.8 Conclusions

- H2afv is necessary for correct development for zebrafish
- H2afv depletion leads to hypermethylation during early developmental stages, consistent with previous results in plant and *in vitro* models
- Phenotypic defects upon H2afv depletion suggest a role in CNS development and differentiation.

Chapter 7: Final Discussion

The process of wound repair after injury is reminiscent of developmental events such as cell migration, redifferentiation and proliferation(9). Events modulating this in the early embryo may therefore be important regulators in adult tissue repair. This thesis combined two projects exploring different aspects of this. Firstly, how reactivation of developmental signalling pathways might be contributing to regulation of myofibroblast transdifferentiation and behaviour in liver fibrosis. Secondly, how altering early DNA methylation pattern through inheritance of epigenetic marks might affect response to injury in adult, using zebrafish as a model organism for study.

7.1 Wnt Signalling in HSCs

Chapters 3 through 5 focused on reactivation of the Wnt morphogen family in hepatic myofibroblasts and its potential effect on fibrosis progression. Wnt signalling had previously been suggested as a promoter of HSC transdifferentiation. However, information regarding the exact ligands involved and the mechanisms they regulate was unclear. This suggested that further in depth characterisation of how Wnts influence HSC biology was required

Chapter 3 succeeded in identifying activation of Wnt activity accompanying transdifferentiation of quiescent HSCs to fibrogenic myofibroblasts. I demonstrated upregulation of predominantly non-canonical ligands in aHSCs, suggesting that non-canonical signalling is the active branch. Chapter 4 demonstrated a lack of β-Catenin/TCF mediated response to Wnt stimulus. Instead, HSCs responded to stimulus through non-canonical effectors, further implying activity of non-canonical signalling. Inhibition of Wnt signalling in Chapter 5 through pan-Wnt inhibition successfully decreased markers of activated fibroblasts. These results suggest active Wnt signalling present in HSCs and playing a

profibrogenic role. Single ligand stimulus of HSCs with non-canonical Wnt5a appeared to govern survival response of mildly stressed aHSCs as well as paracrine stimulus of Kupffer cells (KCs).

7.1.1 Wnt Environment in HSCs

Several issues raised by this study need to be addressed. Firstly, single ligand stimulus with Wnt5a did not appear to affect HSCs as potently as KCs, with limited changes in gene and protein expression of fibrogenic markers. This lack of response could be due to several limitations. Issues with strength of stimulus and ligand multiplicity are already discussed in Section 5.7. Another consideration is that the microenvironment in a monoculture of HSCs is not truly representative of an *in vivo*, injured environment. Single Wnt ligand stimulus in a monoculture of HSCs may have been too simplistic a system, missing a critical component for effective stimulus. Exogenous TGFβ treatment for example was shown necessary to promote β-Catenin/Smad activity in several studies. Co-culture of *in vitro* activated HSCs with Kupffer cells or exposure to LPS is able to shift gene expression pattern of cultured cells to one more representative of those activated *in vivo* (252). From this, it could be hypothesised that more complex cellular interactions may have been necessary for optimal Wnt signalling. Future work to explore this could involve Wnt treatment of multicellular systems such as that of precision cut liver slices, allowing study of an environment more representative of that *in vivo*. Study of Wnt in co-culture environments, HSCs with KCs or HSCs with hepatocytes may have been more informative.

Leading on from this, another limitation of this study is that the influences of other morphogen pathways have not been considered. During development, morphogens co-operate as part of a signalling network with strict spatial and temporal regulation of expression(10). Activity in adult tissue is subject to the same regulations and altering activity of one pathway is likely to have significant effects on other pathways, for example the Hh/Notch cross talk shown previously important in HSCs(66).

168
Morphogen pathways should therefore not be regarded in isolation and the idea of a wider network kept in mind when considering cellular response. Hh activity in HSCs is one morphogen pathway already well described. Interaction with and promotion of Wnt signalling by Hh is one possibility and has been reported in cancer models(253). However, Hh is better described as an anatagonist of Wnt, with opposing effects on cellular differentiation in numerous instances during embryonic development and adult tissue homeostasis(254, 255). *In vitro*, Hh has also been implicated in Wnt activity suppression through upregulation of sFRP1(256, 257). Notch1 is also able to mediate canonical Wnt signalling through direct post-translation modification, binding the active form of β -Catenin and targeting it for degradation(178). Canonical Wnt/ Notch antagonism also regulates fate specification of hepatic progenitor cells: high levels of β -Catenin activity promoting hepatocyte fate while high Notch activity specifies cholangiocyte fate(258).

These data suggest that the aHSC may be a hostile environment for Wnt to function with decreased Fzd receptors expression, increased sFRP expression and elevated levels of other potentially antagonistic morphogen pathways (Figure 4.15). Single ligand stimulus of Wnt in overexpression/ conditioned medium experiments may therefore not have been sufficient to overcome this inhibition.

7.1.2 β-Catenin and HSCs

The second issue requiring consideration is β -Catenin's role in HSCs. The limited effect of β -Catenin overexpression here is at odds with the pro-fibrogenic canonical Wnt emphasis in current literature(104). However, several of these studies infer functional canonical TCF mediated signalling from upregulated β -Catenin expression and nuclear localisation. Here, I have also observed significant upregulation of β -Catenin protein expression in aHSCs, both total and active non-phosphorylated form. HSC β -Catenin responds initially to Wnt stimulus, correctly localising to the nucleus. It is TCF dependent downstream transcriptional activity here that appears to be lacking.

As summarised in the introduction, β -Catenin activity is well established in models of fibrosis in the lung, kidney and skin. Particularly in models of lung and kidney fibrosis, β -Catenin is considered profibrogenic through promotion of epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT)(106, 177). EMT is the process by which epithelial cells transition towards a mesenchymal phenotype and involves loss of epithelial markers such as E-cadherin and a gain of mesenchymal markers such as vimentin(259). This β -Catenin/ EMT association may offer explanation for the numerous reports in other models of β -Catenin's profibrogenic activity, but the lack of effect observed here.

EMT is alleged to be one source of myofibroblasts during fibrosis, particularly EMT driven by TGF β /Smad signaling(259). Active β -Catenin mediating TGF β /Smad induced EMT is implicated in numerous reports of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and renal fibrosis. In the case of liver fibrosis, HSCs are suggested to be mesenchymal in origin, therefore transdifferentiation to active myofibroblasts will not require EMT. *In vitro* evidence has suggested that cultured hepatocytes exposed to TGF β are able to transdifferentiate into myofibroblast like, collagen producing cells(260). Taura *et al* (261)have since demonstrated *in vivo* that hepatocytes and their derived cells do not express α -SMA or other mesenchymal markers and are unable to produce collagen, suggesting that EMT in the case of liver fibrosis is an artefact of culture. β -Catenin in HSCs therefore is unlikely to be pro-fibrogenic through this mechanism.

Despite a lack of pro-fibrogenic stimulus, the presence of β -Catenin is clearly important for HSCs. siRNA knockdown in previous studies significantly decreases proliferation for example and I have demonstrated here that inhibition of β -Catenin/CBP activity impairs survival of HSCs. Similar to Wnt5a above, it is possible that β -Catenin signalling may not directly mediate fibrogenesis in HSCs but regulate alternative pathways such as cell survival. As TCF/LEF1 activity in HSCs has been shown defective this is likely to be mediated through TCF independent activity. Although β -Catenin /TCF signalling is the default model for Wnt function, β -Catenin is still able to operate independent of Wnt stimulus and downstream TCF function. Rather than trying to force TCF dependent signalling in an

unsuitable environment, it may be more beneficial to focus future work on the possibilities of TCF independent signalling in HSCs.

Firstly, this study was limited in analysis of β -Catenin protein expression, focusing solely on its total form or that of its active form, dephosphorylated at the Ser37 or Thr41 position. However, β -Catenin can be phosphorylated at several positions. Phosphorylation at Y654 suggests TGF β induced activity (174, 262) with pY654- β -Catenin not promoting TCF dependent transcriptional activity(262). Phosphorylation at the Ser552 position suggests activity stimulated by Akt phosphorylation and promotion of cell survival, corresponding with the data obtained with β -Catenin /CBP inhibitor (198, 263). Determining phosphorylation patterns of β -Catenin in aHSCs may give clues as to its function.

TGF β /Smad signalling is one possible route of Wnt independent β -Catenin function, with detailed examples given in the discussion section of Chapter 4. TGF β is a critical regulator of myofibroblast behaviour(49). Future work exploring the interaction of β -Catenin and TGF β in aHSCs could identify another means for TGF β mediated regulation of HSC behaviour. A first step would to be establish how HSC β -Catenin behaves under TGF β stimulus, whether overexpression is more effective under these conditions. Multiple studies demonstrate binding of β -Catenin/ Smad transcription factors to initiate transcription(175, 176, 182). Immunoprecipitation assays to identify a β -Catenin/Smad transcriptional activating complex rather than a β -catenin/TCF complex would be solid evidence implying TCF independent activity of β -Catenin. Compared with the wealth of knowledge regarding β -Catenin /TCF activity, this area of β -Catenin function is relatively unexplored. Positive evidence of β -catenin regulating HSC behaviour through TCF independent mechanisms would therefore be an exciting finding.

Section 4.6 investigated several key β -Catenin nuclear interactors however was severely limited in scope. A more thorough investigation of transcription factors present in the aHSC nucleus and able to interact with β -catenin is required. One candidate family worth exploring is the FOXO family of transcription factors. FOXO transcription factors competitively bind β -Catenin, FOXO3 and FOXO4 in

particular(264). They have a higher β -Catenin binding affinity in comparison to TCF/LEFs and prevent β -Catenin/TCF complex formation. Foxo1 is one transcription factor upregulated upon HSC transdifferention and Foxo3 is shown to be involved in alcohol induced autophagy and hepatotoxicity (although the study focused only on hepatocytes)(265, 266). One possibility could therefore be an upregulation of Foxo transcription factors upon HSC transdifferentiation which compete with TCFs for β -Catenin binding. Further exploring this transcription family would enable study of another route of TCF independent signalling in HSCs.

7.1.3 Wnt as a therapeutic target?

Increasing understanding of how HSC behaviour is regulated is hoped to identify points of therapeutic intervention. The final part of this discussion explores whether the Wnt pathway in HSCs yields attractive targets for potential inhibition.

Fibroproliferative disorders are a significant modern health issue yet anti-fibrotic therapy is currently not widely available. In the case of hepatic fibrosis and cirrhosis liver transplant is the only effective treatment(20). Early stages of liver fibrosis are asymptomatic with clinical complications arising from development of advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis, when reversion of fibrosis not possible. There is therefore a crucial need for pharmacological agents able to halt progression and promote fibrosis reversal. The activated myofibroblast, major source of excessive ECM production upon injury is an ideal target for this. Preclinical research has explored numerous potential targets with early phase clinical studies beginning. However, research is in early phases and much work needs to be done(8).

Regarding liver fibrosis, it is essential to fully understand the signalling events which either promote the transdifferentiation of HSCs from quiescent pericytes to profibrogenic myofibroblasts or maintain this activated phenotype. This will facilitate identification of possible intervention points, such as preventing activation of HSCs and secretion of ECM, enhancing degradation of deposited matrix or promoting apoptosis and clearance of aHSCs.

Wnt signalling was first discovered over 30 years ago with the mapping of the canonical/ β-Catenin pathway and its role in promoting numerous disorders, most significantly cancer, is well described(12). Despite this, no therapeutic anti-Wnt targeting compounds to date are available. Several are currently in development but these remain in early preclinical stages(267). Disrupting Wnt signalling for therapeutic gain endangers its role in tissue homeostasis and areas with a high rate of self renewal such as the intestinal epithelium will be at risk of toxicity(268). Overactive Wnt signalling is indeed reported in numerous models of fibrosis. Despite this, Wnt signalling has an undeniable role in cell regeneration and its blockade may have severe consequences for the repair process after injury(68).

Inhibitors targeting specific Wnts are not available. Pharmacological inhibitors can be broadly grouped into those which prevent ligand secretion or binding, those which prevent signal transmission and those which directly disrupt β-Catenin activity. Inhibitors of Wnt secretion include the Porc inhibitors such as IWP2 used in Section 5.2 or LGK974, currently in Phase I trials(179, 267, 269). Inhibitors of ligand binding include antagonists of Fzd receptors such as OMP-18R5 or soluble, sFRP like molecules such as OMP-54F28(270, 271). Signal transmission can be prevented through Dvl blockade such as the PDZ domain inhibitor used in Section 5.2 or stabilisation of the β-Catenin destruction complex through tankyrase inhibitors(180, 272). As the β-Catenin /Canonical signalling remains the best studied of the pathways, numerous compounds also exist to antagonise nuclear β-Catenin function such as ICG001, also used in Section 5.2(181)

In vitro, pan Wnt inhibition in aHSCs mediated by IWP2 appeared successful, significantly reducing expression of the myofibroblast marker α-SMA and Type 1 collagen. However *in vivo* administration of IWP2 is likely to have significant off target toxicity with trials of Wnt antagonists reporting detrimental effects on bone formation and turnover, haematopoiesis and disruption of intestinal stem cell turnover. Even targeting IWP2 specifically to HSCs is likely to have complications. Firstly, IWP2 would prevent only secretion of Wnt from HSCs and not response to paracrine Wnts. Secondly,

temporal differences in Wnt expression are suggested by Chapter 3 and differences in Wnt response suggested by Chapter 5 where early inhibition appears to increase profibrogenic targets. Inhibition of Wnt would have to be finely timed to reach specific targets. Finally, impaired Wnt secretion in HSCs prevents their potentially beneficial effect on other cell types. Wnts secreted by macrophages are important in influencing differentiation of hepatocytes from progenitors after injury, determining a cholangiocyte or hepatocyte cell fate(258). Only macrophage derived Wnts were assessed but HSC derived Wnts may also be likely to play a role. Blanket inhibition of Wnt signalling in HSCs may therefore have detrimental effects on repair and regeneration after injury.

Treatment with Fzd antagonists or sFRP like molecules can reduce response to Wnt ligands (270, 271). However, decreased response to Wnt appears the default state in aHSCs with significantly decreased receptor expression and increased sFRP expression. Therefore, treatment with these antagonists may have little effect on profibrogenic myofibroblasts but greater, potentially detrimental effects on neighbouring cells.

Upregulation of sFRPs in aHSCs is an intriguing finding. sFRPs themselves have been used to target Wnt signalling as putative antifibrotics, recombinant sFRP treatment promoting improvement in instances of cardiac and kidney fibrosis(273). However, Chapter 3 suggests reasons for careful use of sFRPs as Wnt inhibitors, with effects appearing highly dependent on cell types and Wnt ligands present. As well as functioning in Wnt signalling modulation, they also possess a netrin like domain, implicated in matrix remodelling. More interestingly, recent studies have shown effective reduction in fibrosis by treating sFRPs themselves, therapeutic antibody mediated blockade of sFRP2 improving a cardiac fibrosis model(274). Function of sFRPs was not resolved here, KO studies unsuccessful and overexpression inconclusive. As previously mentioned, careful study of sFRP/Wnt and sFRP/sFRP interactions as well as the possibility of functional redundancy would need to be undertaken before they could be considered as targets for therapeutic intervention. Similar problems are encountered

throughout this study: complexity of pathway, multiplicity of ligands and poorly defined interactions between interactors. Therapeutic intervention at the level of Wnt ligands or extracellular modulators is therefore unlikely to be an attractive target as the chance for interference from other components is great. Intervention at points further down the pathway with less chance for interference, such as through targeted inhibition of Dvl function, may be more effective.

Several points exist at which Wnt pathway could be targeted in HSCs. The presence of multiple Wnt ligands and secreted interactors however significantly complicate the environment, potentially making it difficult to judge effectiveness of inhibitor. Furthermore, neither Wnt stimulation nor β -Catenin upregulation appeared to have a direct profibrogenic effect although effects on survival of HSCs remain a possibility. From this, it could be considered that blockade of Wnt signalling in the liver may not be worth the potential risks to repair and homeostasis mechanisms, as significant reduction in fibrosis may not be achieved.



Figure 7.1 Summary of Summary of Wnt signalling in HSCs

Diagram illustrating aspects of the Wnt pathway investigated in this study (A) Influence of autocrine Wnt5a signalling on aspects of HSC behaviour such as survival, migration, proliferation and expression of fibrogenic markers was investigated. Only a potential influence on HSC survival was identified (B) Potential for paracrine Wnt signalling between HSCs and Kupffer cells (KC) was next explored. Wnt5a stimulus increased expression of inflammatory markes such as TGFB and MCP1 in KCs (C) Expression of canonical Wnts 10b and 3a could not be detected in HSCs, implying HSCs function through non canonical signalling pathways (D) HSCS express abundant levels of β -Catenin despite lack of canonical Wnts detected and downstream TCF mediated transcriptional activity. Its function in HSCs therefore requires further exploration.

7.2 H2A.Z and DNA Methylation

Chapter 6 focused on how early developmental changes may influence the wound healing response in adults. This chapter questioned whether altering H2afv (the zebrafish ortholog of H2A.Z) could alter methylation levels in early embryo. I have succeeded in showing that H2afv is critical for embryonic development. Its absence increases mortality, causes phenotypic abnormality, particularly of the nervous system and results in hypermethylation of morphants at early stages.

These are preliminary results and many issues from this have yet to be addressed. Firstly, which signalling pathways does loss of H2A.Z disrupt to cause this phenotype? Analysis of the zebrafish sperm genome described enrichment of H2afv at loci particularly involved in development of the endocrine system and hindbrain as well as regulation of protein metabolism and gene transcription(225). Enriched genes included those of the *hox, pax, pitx, dlx* and *nkx families,* key regulators of embryogenesis, again supporting H2afv's essential role in development. The handful of markers analysed in section 6.5 was extremely limited. Analysis of *h2afv* morphants by next generation sequencing would significantly aid identification of pathways disrupted either directly through H2A.Z loss or through hypermethylation.

Here, I have been able to demonstrate hypermethylation in morphants during early stages of development through immunoblotting for 5MeC levels. However this is a rudimentary method of analysing global methylation levels. Again, next generation sequencing would allow genome wide methylation profiles to be examined at the single nucleotide level. One possibility could be reduced representation bisulfite sequencing (RRBS), a method of sequencing that biases towards areas of the genome high in CpG content such as promoters and avoids the high cost and sequence depth required for whole genome sequencing(70). This would enable identification of which specific sites are hypermethylated and paired with the transcriptome analysis, would give clues as to what may be mediating the phenotype.

The translation blocking ability of a MO is usually limited to the first 5 days of development, after which protein translation can resume(275). For the mildly affected morphants who survive beyond 5dpf it would be interesting to question whether H2afv is deposited at similar to sites to that of control fish once the morpholino has been diluted out and translation resumes. Disrupted methylation patterns may lead to altered deposition with potential consequences for transcriptional regulation later in life. Another study in *Arabidopsis* revealed enrichment of H2A.Z at genes regulating response to environmental stress and H2A.Z mutants responded poorly to stress stimuli such as heat or cold(276). Another question to ask could be if a similar effect is observed in morphants. Mildly affected morphants could be subjected to standard stressors in zebrafish models such as heat shock, oxidative stress or ethanol treatment. Mortality and compensatory response could then be observed and compared to controls.

Finally, H2A.Z also has well established roles in DNA damage response and genome stability(277, 278). Another limitation of this study was that due to time constraints these roles were overlooked in favour of studying methylation. Levels of DNA damage in morphants could be initially assessed through whole mount staining for the DNA damage marker yH2AX(279). Genome stability has previously been examined in zebrafish through use of phosphor Histone 3 (PH3) staining as a marker for mitosis or metaphase spreads to analyse chromosome behaviour(280). The developing nervous system is highly susceptible to defects in DNA repair pathway as developing neurons undergo rapid phases of proliferation. If mutation occurs which is not correctly repaired this can be propagated through the developing nervous system, incurring serious consequences(281). Defects in the DNA repair pathway could therefore be contributing to the neural phenotype, especially given its slightly later onset (approximately 2dpf) at which point defects will have had time to accumulate.

References

- 1. Midwood, K. S., Williams, L. V., and Schwarzbauer, J. E. (2004) Tissue repair and the dynamics of the extracellular matrix. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 36, 1031-1037
- 2. Harty, M., Neff, A. W., King, M. W., and Mescher, A. L. (2003) Regeneration or scarring: An immunologic perspective. *Developmental Dynamics* 226, 268-279
- 3. Gerety, S. S., and Wilkinson, D. G. (2011) Morpholino artifacts provide pitfalls and reveal a novel role for pro-apoptotic genes in hindbrain boundary development. *Developmental Biology* 350, 279-289
- 4. Guo, S., and DiPietro, L. A. (2010) Factors Affecting Wound Healing. *Journal of Dental Research* 89, 219-229
- 5. Kendall, R. T., and Feghali-Bostwick, C. A. (2014) Fibroblasts in fibrosis: novel roles and mediators. *Front Pharmacol*
- 6. Prockop, D. J., and Kivirikko, K. I. (1995) Collagens: molecular biology, diseases, and potentials for therapy. *Annual review of biochemistry* 64, 403-434
- 7. Gabbiani, G. (2003) The myofibroblast in wound healing and fibrocontractive diseases. *J Pathol* 200, 500-503
- 8. Pellicoro, A., Ramachandran, P., Iredale, J. P., and Fallowfield, J. A. (2014) Liver fibrosis and repair: immune regulation of wound healing in a solid organ. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 14, 181-194
- 9. Martin, P., and Parkhurst, S. M. (2004) Parallels between tissue repair and embryo morphogenesis. *Development* 131, 3021-3034
- 10. Potter, J. D. (2007) Morphogens, morphostats, microarchitecture and malignancy. *Nat Rev Cancer* 7, 464-474
- 11. Wartlick, O., Kicheva, A., and González-Gaitán, M. (2009) Morphogen Gradient Formation. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 1
- 12. MacDonald, B. T., Tamai, K., and He, X. (2009) Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling: Components, Mechanisms, and Diseases. *Developmental Cell* 17, 9-26
- **13.** Beyer, C., Dees, C., and Distler, J. H. W. (2013) Morphogen pathways as molecular targets for the treatment of fibrosis in systemic sclerosis. *Arch Dermatol Res* 305, 1-8
- Horn, A., Kireva, T., Palumbo-Zerr, K., Dees, C., Tomcik, M., Cordazzo, C., Zerr, P., Akhmetshina, A., Ruat, M., Distler, O., Beyer, C., Schett, G., and Distler, J. H. W. (2012) Inhibition of hedgehog signalling prevents experimental fibrosis and induces regression of established fibrosis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 71, 785-789
- 15. Selman, M., Pardo, A., and Kaminski, N. (2008) Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis: Aberrant Recapitulation of Developmental Programs? *PLoS Med* 5, e62
- 16. Sirin, Y., and Susztak, K. (2012) Notch in the kidney: development and disease. *J Pathol* 226, 394-403
- 17. Tsukamoto, H., Zhu, N. L., Wang, J., Asahina, K., and Machida, K. (2012) Morphogens and hepatic stellate cell fate regulation in chronic liver disease. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology (Australia)* 27, 94-98
- 18. Ding, H., Zhou, D., Hao, S., Zhou, L., He, W., Nie, J., Hou, F. F., and Liu, Y. (2012) Sonic Hedgehog Signaling Mediates Epithelial–Mesenchymal Communication and Promotes Renal Fibrosis. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 23, 801-813
- 19. Sheron, N., Hawkey, C., and Gilmore, I. (2011) Projections of alcohol deaths--a wake-up call. *Lancet* 377, 1297-1299
- 20. Blachier, M., Leleu, H., Peck-Radosavljevic, M., Valla, D.-C., and Roudot-Thoraval, F. (2013) The burden of liver disease in Europe: A review of available epidemiological data. *Journal* of Hepatology 58, 593-608

- 21. Friedman, S. L. (2003) Liver fibrosis From bench to bedside. *Journal of Hepatology, Supplement* 38, S38-S53
- Issa, R., Zhou, X., Constandinou, C. M., Fallowfield, J., Millward-Sadler, H., Gaca, M. D., Sands, E., Suliman, I., Trim, N., Knorr, A., Arthur, M. J., Benyon, R. C., and Iredale, J. P. (2004) Spontaneous recovery from micronodular cirrhosis: evidence for incomplete resolution associated with matrix cross-linking. *Gastroenterology* 126, 1795-1808
- 23. Friedman, S. L. (2008) Mechanisms of Hepatic Fibrogenesis. *Gastroenterology* 134, 1655-1669
- 24. Cadigan, K. M., and Peifer, M. (2009) Wnt Signaling from Development to Disease: Insights from Model Systems. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 1
- 25. Fausto, N. (2004) Liver regeneration and repair: Hepatocytes, progenitor cells, and stem cells. *Hepatology* 39, 1477-1487
- 26. Friedman, S. L. (2008) Hepatic stellate cells: Protean, multifunctional, and enigmatic cells of the liver. *Physiological Reviews* 88, 125-172
- 27. Dooley, K., and Zon, L. I. (2000) Zebrafish: a model system for the study of human disease. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 10, 252-256
- 28. Bataller, R., Schwabe, R. F., Choi, Y. H., Yang, L., Paik, Y. H., Lindquist, J., Qian, T., Schoonhoven, R., Hagedorn, C. H., Lemasters, J. J., and Brenner, D. A. (2003) NADPH oxidase signal transduces angiotensin II in hepatic stellate cells and is critical in hepatic fibrosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 112, 1383-1394
- 29. Briscoe, J., and Therond, P. P. (2013) The mechanisms of Hedgehog signalling and its roles in development and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 14, 416-429
- **30.** Weiskirchen, R., and Gressner, A. M. (2005) Isolation and culture of hepatic stellate cells. *Methods in molecular medicine* 117, 99-113
- 31. Xu, L., Hui, A. Y., Albanis, E., Arthur, M. J., O'Byrne, S. M., Blaner, W. S., Mukherjee, P., Friedman, S. L., and Eng, F. J. (2005) Human hepatic stellate cell lines, LX-1 and LX-2: new tools for analysis of hepatic fibrosis. *Gut* 54, 142-151
- 32. van de Bovenkamp, M., Groothuis, G. M. M., Draaisma, A. L., Merema, M. T., Bezuijen, J. I., van Gils, M. J., Meijer, D. K. F., Friedman, S. L., and Olinga, P. (2005) Precision-cut liver slices as a new model to study toxicity-induced hepatic stellate cell activation in a physiologic milieu. *Toxicological Sciences* 85, 632-638
- 33. Tsukamoto, H., She, H., Hazra, S., Cheng, J., and Miyahara, T. (2006) Anti-adipogenic regulation underlies hepatic stellate cell transdifferentiation. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 21, S102-S105
- 34. Rockey, D. C., Boyles, J. K., Gabbiani, G., and Friedman, S. L. (1992) Rat hepatic lipocytes express smooth muscle actin upon activation in vivo and in culture. *Journal of submicroscopic cytology and pathology* 24, 193-203
- 35. Friedman, S. L. (2006) Transcriptional regulation of stellate cell activation. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 21 Suppl 3, S79-83
- 36. Goldberg, A. D., Allis, C. D., and Bernstein, E. (2007) Epigenetics: A Landscape Takes Shape. *Cell* 128, 635-638
- 37. Gibbs, E. M., Horstick, E. J., and Dowling, J. J. (2013) Swimming into prominence: The zebrafish as a valuable tool for studying human myopathies and muscular dystrophies. *FEBS Journal* 280, 4187-4197
- Oakley, F., Teoh, V., Ching–A–Sue, G., Bataller, R., Colmenero, J., Jonsson, J. R., Eliopoulos,
 A. G., Watson, M. R., Manas, D., and Mann, D. A. (2009) Angiotensin II Activates IκB Kinase
 Phosphorylation of RelA at Ser536 to Promote Myofibroblast Survival and Liver Fibrosis.
 Gastroenterology 136, 2334-2344.e2331
- **39.** Miranda, T. B., and Jones, P. A. (2007) DNA methylation: The nuts and bolts of repression. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 213, 384-390

- 40. Okano, M., Bell, D. W., Haber, D. A., and Li, E. (1999) DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. *Cell* 99, 247-257
- 41. McGaughey, D. M., Abaan, H. O., Miller, R. M., Kropp, P. A., and Brody, L. C. (2014) Genomics of CpG methylation in developing and developed zebrafish. *G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics* 4, 861-869
- 42. Meneghini, M. D., Wu, M., and Madhani, H. D. (2003) Conserved histone variant H2A.Z protects euchromatin from the ectopic spread of silent heterochromatin. *Cell* 112, 725-736
- 43. Draker, R., and Cheung, P. (2009) Transcriptional and epigenetic functions of histone variant H2A.Z. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 87, 19-25
- 44. Mann, J., Oakley, F., Akiboye, F., Elsharkawy, A., Thorne, A. W., and Mann, D. A. (2007) Regulation of myofibroblast transdifferentiation by DNA methylation and MeCP2: implications for wound healing and fibrogenesis. *Cell Death Differ* 14, 275-285
- 45. Hite, K. C., Adams, V. H., and Hansen, J. C. (2009) Recent advances in MeCP2 structure and functionThis paper is one of a selection of papers published in this Special Issue, entitled 29th Annual International Asilomar Chromatin and Chromosomes Conference, and has undergone the Journal's usual peer review process. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 87, 219-227
- Mann, J., Chu, D. C., Maxwell, A., Oakley, F., Zhu, N. L., Tsukamoto, H., and Mann, D. A.
 (2010) MeCP2 controls an epigenetic pathway that promotes myofibroblast transdifferentiation and fibrosis. *Gastroenterology* 138, 705-714, 714 e701-704
- 47. Yang, J.-J., Tao, H., Huang, C., Shi, K.-h., Ma, T.-T., Bian, E.-B., Zhang, L., Liu, L.-P., Hu, W., Lv, X.-W., and Li, J. (2013) DNA methylation and MeCP2 regulation of PTCH1 expression during rats hepatic fibrosis. *Cellular signalling* 25, 1202-1211
- 48. Bandmann, O., and Burton, E. A. (2010) Genetic zebrafish models of neurodegenerative diseases. *Neurobiology of Disease* 40, 58-65
- 49. Leask, A., and Abraham, D. J. (2004) TGF-β signaling and the fibrotic response. *The FASEB Journal* 18, 816-827
- 50. Wells, R. G. (2008) The role of matrix stiffness in regulating cell behavior. *Hepatology* 47, 1394-1400
- 51. Olsen, A. L., Bloomer, S. A., Chan, E. P., Gaça, M. D. A., Georges, P. C., Sackey, B., Uemura, M., Janmey, P. A., and Wells, R. G. (2011) Hepatic stellate cells require a stiff environment for myofibroblastic differentiation. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 301, G110-G118
- 52. Friedman, S. L., Roll, F. J., Boyles, J., and Bissell, D. M. (1985) Hepatic lipocytes: the principal collagen-producing cells of normal rat liver. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 82, 8681-8685
- 53. Knittel, T., Mehde, M., Grundmann, A., Saile, B., Scharf, J. G., and Ramadori, G. (2000) Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors during hepatic tissue repair in the rat. *Histochemistry and cell biology* 113, 443-453
- 54. Knittel, T., Mehde, M., Kobold, D., Saile, B., Dinter, C., and Ramadori, G. (1999) Expression patterns of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in parenchymal and non-parenchymal cells of rat liver: regulation by TNF-alpha and TGF-beta1. *J Hepatol* 30, 48-60
- 55. Potok, M. E., Nix, D. A., Parnell, T. J., and Cairns, B. R. (2013) Reprogramming the maternal zebrafish genome after fertilization to match the paternal methylation pattern. *Cell* 153, 759-772
- 56. lizuka, M., Murata, T., Hori, M., and Ozaki, H. (2011) Increased contractility of hepatic stellate cells in cirrhosis is mediated by enhanced Ca2+-dependent and Ca2+-sensitization pathways. *American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 300, G1010-G1021

- 57. Paik, Y. H., Schwabe, R. F., Bataller, R., Russo, M. P., Jobin, C., and Brenner, D. A. (2003) Toll-like receptor 4 mediates inflammatory signaling by bacterial lipopolysaccharide in human hepatic stellate cells. *Hepatology* 37, 1043-1055
- 58. Vinas, O., Bataller, R., Sancho-Bru, P., Gines, P., Berenguer, C., Enrich, C., Nicolas, J. M., Ercilla, G., Gallart, T., Vives, J., Arroyo, V., and Rodes, J. (2003) Human hepatic stellate cells show features of antigen-presenting cells and stimulate lymphocyte proliferation. *Hepatology* 38, 919-929
- 59. Elsharkawy, A. M., Oakley, F., and Mann, D. A. (2005) The role and regulation of hepatic stellate cell apoptosis in reversal of liver fibrosis. *Apoptosis* 10, 927-939
- 60. Wright, M. C., Issa, R., Smart, D. E., Trim, N., Murray, G. I., Primrose, J. N., Arthur, M. J. P., Iredale, J. P., and Mann, D. A. (2001) Gliotoxin stimulates the apoptosis of human and rat hepatic stellate cells and enhances the resolution of liver fibrosis in rats. *Gastroenterology* 121, 685-698
- 61. Zhou, X., Murphy, F. R., Gehdu, N., Zhang, J., Iredale, J. P., and Benyon, R. C. (2004) Engagement of αvβ3 Integrin Regulates Proliferation and Apoptosis of Hepatic Stellate Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 23996-24006
- 62. Yoshiji, H., Kuriyama, S., Yoshii, J., Ikenaka, Y., Noguchi, R., Nakatani, T., Tsujinoue, H., Yanase, K., Namisaki, T., Imazu, H., and Fukui, H. (2002) Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 attenuates spontaneous liver fibrosis resolution in the transgenic mouse. *Hepatology* 36, 850-860
- Kisseleva, T., Cong, M., Paik, Y., Scholten, D., Jiang, C., Benner, C., Iwaisako, K., Moore-Morris, T., Scott, B., Tsukamoto, H., Evans, S. M., Dillmann, W., Glass, C. K., and Brenner, D. A. (2012) Myofibroblasts revert to an inactive phenotype during regression of liver fibrosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109, 9448-9453
- Krizhanovsky, V., Yon, M., Dickins, R. A., Hearn, S., Simon, J., Miething, C., Yee, H., Zender, L., and Lowe, S. W. (2008) Senescence of activated stellate cells limits liver fibrosis. *Cell* 134, 657-667
- 65. Chen, Y., Choi, S. S., Michelotti, G. A., Chan, I. S., Swiderska-Syn, M., Karaca, G. F., Xie, G., Moylan, C. A., Garibaldi, F., Premont, R., Suliman, H. B., Piantadosi, C. A., and Diehl, A. M. (2012) Hedgehog controls hepatic stellate cell fate by regulating metabolism. *Gastroenterology* 143, 1319-1329.e1311
- 66. Xie, G., Karaca, G., Swiderska-Syn, M., Michelotti, G. A., Krüger, L., Chen, Y., Premont, R. T., Choi, S. S., and Diehl, A. M. (2013) Cross-talk between Notch and Hedgehog regulates hepatic stellate cell fate in mice. *Hepatology* 58, 1801-1813
- 67. Logan, C. Y., and Nusse, R. (2004) The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. In *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* Vol. 20 pp. 781-810
- 68. Whyte, J. L., Smith, A. A., and Helms, J. A. (2012) Wnt signaling and injury repair. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 4
- 69. Duan, J., Gherghe, C., Liu, D., Hamlett, E., Srikantha, L., Rodgers, L., Regan, J. N., Rojas, M., Willis, M., Leask, A., Majesky, M., and Deb, A. (2012) Wnt1/betacatenin injury response activates the epicardium and cardiac fibroblasts to promote cardiac repair. *Embo j* 31, 429-442
- 70. Meissner, A., Gnirke, A., Bell, G. W., Ramsahoye, B., Lander, E. S., and Jaenisch, R. (2005) Reduced representation bisulfite sequencing for comparative high-resolution DNA methylation analysis. *Nucleic Acids Research* 33, 5868-5877
- 71. Kim, J.-B., Leucht, P., Lam, K., Luppen, C., Ten Berge, D., Nusse, R., and Helms, J. A. (2007) Bone Regeneration Is Regulated by Wnt Signaling. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 22, 1913-1923
- 72. Ridgway, P., Brown, K. D., Rangasamy, D., Svensson, U., and Tremethick, D. J. (2004) Unique Residues on the H2A.Z Containing Nucleosome Surface Are Important for Xenopus laevis Development. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 43815-43820

- 73. Arce, L., Yokoyama, N. N., and Waterman, M. L. (2006) Diversity of LEF//TCF action in development and disease. *Oncogene* 25, 7492-7504
- Huelsken, J., Vogel, R., Brinkmann, V., Erdmann, B., Birchmeier, C., and Birchmeier, W.
 (2000) Requirement for β-Catenin in Anterior-Posterior Axis Formation in Mice. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 148, 567-578
- 75. De, A. (2011) Wnt/Ca2+ signaling pathway: a brief overview. *Acta biochimica et biophysica Sinica* 43, 745-756
- Ybot-Gonzalez, P., Savery, D., Gerrelli, D., Signore, M., Mitchell, C. E., Faux, C. H., Greene, N. D., and Copp, A. J. (2007) Convergent extension, planar-cell-polarity signalling and initiation of mouse neural tube closure. *Development* 134, 789-799
- 77. Wansleeben C Fau Meijlink, F., and Meijlink, F. (2011) The planar cell polarity pathway in vertebrate development. *Dev Dyn*
- 78. Simons, M., and Mlodzik, M. (2008) Planar cell polarity signaling: from fly development to human disease. *Annual review of genetics* 42, 517-540
- 79. Mikels, A. J., and Nusse, R. (2006) Wnts as ligands: Processing, secretion and reception. *Oncogene* 25, 7461-7468
- 80. Biechele, S., Cox, B. J., and Rossant, J. (2011) Porcupine homolog is required for canonical Wnt signaling and gastrulation in mouse embryos. *Developmental Biology* 355, 275-285
- 81. Port, F., and Basler, K. (2010) Wnt trafficking: new insights into Wnt maturation, secretion and spreading.
- 82. Grumolato, L., Liu, G. Z., Mong, P., Mudbhary, R., Biswas, R., Arroyave, R., Vijayakumar, S., Economides, A. N., and Aaronson, S. A. (2010) Canonical and noncanonical Wnts use a common mechanism to activate completely unrelated coreceptors. *Gene Dev* 24, 2517-2530
- 83. Oderup, C., LaJevic, M., and Butcher, E. C. (2013) Canonical and noncanonical Wnt proteins program dendritic cell responses for tolerance. *Journal of immunology* 190, 6126-6134
- 84. Schulte, G., and Bryja, V. (2007) The Frizzled family of unconventional G-protein-coupled receptors. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 28, 518-525
- 85. Dijksterhuis, J. P., Petersen, J., and Schulte, G. (2014) WNT/Frizzled signalling: receptor– ligand selectivity with focus on FZD-G protein signalling and its physiological relevance: IUPHAR Review 3. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 171, 1195-1209
- 86. Cselenyi, C. S., Jernigan Kk Fau Tahinci, E., Tahinci E Fau Thorne, C. A., Thorne Ca Fau -Lee, L. A., Lee La Fau - Lee, E., and Lee, E. (2008) LRP6 transduces a canonical Wnt signal independently of Axin degradation by inhibiting GSK3's phosphorylation of beta-catenin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 8032-8037
- 87. van Amerongen, R. (2012) Alternative Wnt pathways and receptors. . *Cold Spring Harb Perspect*
- 88. Gao, C., and Chen, Y. G. (2010) Dishevelled: The hub of Wnt signaling. *Cellular signalling* 22, 717-727
- 89. Hamblet, N. S., Lijam, N., Ruiz-Lozano, P., Wang, J., Yang, Y., Luo, Z., Mei, L., Chien, K. R., Sussman, D. J., and Wynshaw-Boris, A. (2002) Dishevelled 2 is essential for cardiac outflow tract development, somite segmentation and neural tube closure. *Development* 129, 5827-5838
- 90. Seifert, J. R. K., and Mlodzik, M. (2007) Frizzled/PCP signalling: A conserved mechanism regulating cell polarity and directed motility. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 8, 126-138
- 91. Cruciat, C.-M., and Niehrs, C. (2013) Secreted and Transmembrane Wnt Inhibitors and Activators. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 5
- 92. Bovolenta, P., Esteve, P., Ruiz, J. M., Cisneros, E., and Lopez-Rios, J. (2008) Beyond Wnt inhibition: New functions of secreted Frizzled-related proteins in development and disease. *Journal of Cell Science* 121, 737-746

- 93. Niehrs, C. (2006) Function and biological roles of the Dickkopf family of Wnt modulators. *Oncogene* 25, 7469-7481
- 94. Hashimoto, H., Itoh, M., Yamanaka, Y., Yamashita, S., Shimizu, T., Solnica-Krezel, L., Hibi, M., and Hirano, T. (2000) Zebrafish Dkk1 functions in forebrain specification and axial mesendoderm formation. *Dev Biol* 217, 138-152
- 95. Mukhopadhyay, M., Shtrom, S., Rodriguez-Esteban, C., Chen, L., Tsukui, T., Gomer, L., Dorward, D. W., Glinka, A., Grinberg, A., Huang, S. P., Niehrs, C., Belmonte, J. C. I., and Westphal, H. (2001) Dickkopf1 is required for embryonic head induction and limb morphogenesis in the mouse. *Developmental Cell* 1, 423-434
- 96. Nakamura, R. E., Hunter, D. D., Yi, H., Brunken, W. J., and Hackam, A. S. (2007) Identification of two novel activities of the Wnt signaling regulator Dickkopf 3 and characterization of its expression in the mouse retina. *BMC cell biology* 8, 52
- 97. Nakamura, R. E. I., and Hackam, A. S. (2010) Analysis of Dickkopf3 interactions with Wnt signaling receptors. *Growth Factors* 28, 232-242
- 98. Jones, S. E., and Jomary, C. (2002) Secreted Frizzled-related proteins: Searching for relationships and patterns. *BioEssays* 24, 811-820
- 99. Mii, Y., and Taira, M. (2009) Secreted Frizzled-related proteins enhance the diffusion of Wnt ligands and expand their signalling range. *Development* 136, 4083-4088
- 100. Melkonyan, H. S., Chang, W. C., Shapiro, J. P., Mahadevappa, M., Fitzpatrick, P. A., Kiefer, M. C., Tomei, L. D., and Umansky, S. R. (1997) SARPs: A family of secreted apoptosisrelated proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 94, 13636-13641
- 101. Bányai, L., and Patthy, L. (1999) The NTR module: Domains of netrins, secreted frizzled related proteins, and type I procollagen C-proteinase enhancer protein are homologous with tissue inhibitors of metalloproteases. *Protein Science* 8, 1636-1642
- 102. Wend, P., Wend, K., Krum, S. A., and Miranda-Carboni, G. A. (2012) The role of WNT10B in physiology and disease. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* 204, 34-51
- 103. Kikuchi, A., Yamamoto, H., Sato, A., and Matsumoto, S. (2012) Wnt5a: its signalling, functions and implication in diseases. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* 204, 17-33
- 104. Akhmetshina, A., Palumbo, K., Dees, C., Bergmann, C., Venalis, P., Zerr, P., Horn, A., Kireva, T., Beyer, C., Zwerina, J., Schneider, H., Sadowski, A., Riener, M.-O., MacDougald, O. A., Distler, O., Schett, G., and Distler, J. H. W. (2012) Activation of canonical Wnt signalling is required for TGF-β-mediated fibrosis. *Nat Commun* 3, 735
- 105. Lam, A. P., Flozak, A. S., Russell, S., Wei, J., Jain, M., Mutlu, G. M., Budinger, G. R. S., Feghali-Bostwick, C. A., Varga, J., and Gottardi, C. J. (2011) Nuclear Î²-catenin is increased in systemic sclerosis pulmonary fibrosis and promotes lung fibroblast migration and proliferation. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 45, 915-922
- He, W., Dai, C., Li, Y., Zeng, G., Monga, S. P., and Liu, Y. (2009) Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Promotes Renal Interstitial Fibrosis. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 20, 765-776
- 107. Wei, J., Melichian, D., Komura, K., Hinchcliff, M., Lam, A. P., Lafyatis, R., Gottardi, C. J., MacDougald, O. A., and Varga, J. (2011) Canonical Wnt signaling induces skin fibrosis and subcutaneous lipoatrophy: a novel mouse model for scleroderma? *Arthritis Rheum* 63, 1707-1717
- 108. Bergmann, C., Akhmetshina, A., Dees, C., Palumbo, K., Zerr, P., Beyer, C., Zwerina, J., Distler, O., Schett, G., and Distler, J. H. (2011) Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta induces dermal fibrosis by activation of the canonical Wnt pathway. *Ann Rheum Dis* 70, 2191-2198
- 109. Lam, A. P., Flozak, A. S., Russell, S., Wei, J., Jain, M., Mutlu, G. M., Budinger, G. R. S., Feghali-Bostwick, C. A., Varga, J., and Gottardi, C. J. (2011) Nuclear β-catenin is increased in systemic sclerosis pulmonary fibrosis and promotes lung fibroblast migration and proliferation. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 45, 915-922

- 110. Cheng, J. H., She, H., Han, Y. P., Wang, J., Xiong, S., Asahina, K., and Tsukamoto, H. (2007) Wnt antagonism inhibits hepatic stellate cell activation and liver fibrosis. *American Journal* of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 294, G39-G49
- 111. Königshoff, M., Balsara, N., Pfaff, E.-M., Kramer, M., Chrobak, I., Seeger, W., and Eickelberg, O. (2008) Functional Wnt Signaling Is Increased in Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. *PLoS ONE* 3, e2142
- 112. Nelson, P. J., von Toerne, C., and Grone, H. J. (2011) Wnt-signaling pathways in progressive renal fibrosis. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 15, 1073-1083
- 113. Zhang, P., Cai, Y., Soofi, A., and Dressler, G. R. (2012) Activation of Wnt11 by transforming growth factor-beta drives mesenchymal gene expression through non-canonical Wnt protein signaling in renal epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 287, 21290-21302
- 114. Ho, H.-Y. H., Susman, M. W., Bikoff, J. B., Ryu, Y. K., Jonas, A. M., Hu, L., Kuruvilla, R., and Greenberg, M. E. (2012) Wnt5a–Ror–Dishevelled signaling constitutes a core developmental pathway that controls tissue morphogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109, 4044-4051
- 115. Zhu, Y., Tian, Y., Du, J., Hu, Z., Yang, L., Liu, J., and Gu, L. (2012) Dvl2-Dependent Activation of Daam1 and RhoA Regulates Wnt5a-Induced Breast Cancer Cell Migration. *PLoS ONE* 7, e37823
- 116. DasGupta, R., and Fuchs, E. (1999) Multiple roles for activated LEF/TCF transcription complexes during hair follicle development and differentiation. *Development* 126, 4557-4568
- 117. Lustig, B., Jerchow, B., Sachs, M., Weiler, S., Pietsch, T., Karsten, U., van de Wetering, M., Clevers, H., Schlag, P. M., Birchmeier, W., and Behrens, J. (2002) Negative feedback loop of Wnt signaling through upregulation of conductin/axin2 in colorectal and liver tumors. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 1184-1193
- 118. Arellanes-Robledo, J., Reyes-Gordillo, K., Shah, R., Domínguez-Rosales, J. A., Hernández-Nazara, Z. H., Ramirez, F., and Lakshman, M. R. (2013) Fibrogenic actions of acetaldehyde are β-catenin dependent but Wingless independent: A critical role of nucleoredoxin and reactive oxygen species in human hepatic stellate cells. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 65, 1487-1496
- 119. Cheng, Q., Ng, K. T., Fan, S. T., Lim, Z. X., Guo, D. Y., Liu, X. B., Liu, Y., Poon, R. T., Lo, C. M., and Man, K. (2010) Distinct mechanism of small-for-size fatty liver graft injury--Wnt4 signaling activates hepatic stellate cells. *American journal of transplantation : official journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons* 10, 1178-1188
- 120. Ge, W. S., Wang, Y. J., Wu, J. X., Fan, J. G., Chen, Y. W., and Zhu, L. (2014) β-catenin is overexpressed in hepatic fibrosis and blockage of Wnt/β-catenin signaling inhibits hepatic stellate cell activation. *Molecular medicine reports* 9, 2145-2151
- 121. Jiang, F., Parsons, C. J., and Stefanovic, B. (2006) Gene expression profile of quiescent and activated rat hepatic stellate cells implicates Wnt signaling pathway in activation. *Journal of Hepatology* 45, 401-409
- 122. Kordes, C., Sawitza, I., and Häussinger, D. (2008) Canonical Wnt signaling maintains the quiescent stage of hepatic stellate cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 367, 116-123
- 123. Li, W., Zhu, C., Li, Y., Wu, Q., and Gao, R. (2014) Mest attenuates CCl4-induced liver fibrosis in rats by inhibiting the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. *Gut and Liver* 8, 282-291
- 124. MadanKumar, P., NaveenKumar, P., Manikandan, S., Devaraj, H., and NiranjaliDevaraj, S. (2014) Morin ameliorates chemically induced liver fibrosis in vivo and inhibits stellate cell proliferation in vitro by suppressing Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 277, 210-220

- 125. Myung, S. J., Yoon, J.-H., Gwak, G.-Y., Kim, W., Lee, J.-H., Kim, K. M., Shin, C. S., Jang, J. J., Lee, S.-H., Lee, S.-M., and Lee, H.-S. (2007) Wnt signaling enhances the activation and survival of human hepatic stellate cells. *FEBS Letters* 581, 2954-2958
- 126. Rashid, S. T., Humphries, J. D., Byron, A., Dhar, A., Askari, J. A., Selley, J. N., Knight, D., Goldin, R. D., Thursz, M., and Humphries, M. J. (2012) Proteomic analysis of extracellular matrix from the hepatic stellate cell line LX-2 identifies CYR61 and Wnt-5a as novel constituents of fibrotic liver. *Journal of Proteome Research* 11, 4052-4064
- 127. Subramaniam, N., Sherman, M. H., Rao, R., Wilson, C., Coulter, S., Atkins, A. R., Evans, R. M., Liddle, C., and Downes, M. (2012) Metformin-mediated bambi expression in hepatic stellate cells induces prosurvival Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *Cancer Prevention Research* 5, 553-561
- 128. Sun, X., He, Y., Ma, T.-T., Huang, C., Zhang, L., and Li, J. (2014) Participation of miR-200a in TGF-β1-mediated hepatic stellate cell activation. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 388, 11-23
- 129. Tsai, T. H., Shih, S. C., Ho, T. C., Ma, H. I., Liu, M. Y., Chen, S. L., and Tsao, Y. P. (2014) Pigment epithelium-derived factor 34-mer peptide prevents liver fibrosis and hepatic stellate cell activation through down-regulation of the PDGF receptor. *PLoS ONE* 9
- 130. Xiong, W. J., Hu, L. J., Jian, Y. C., Wang, L. J., Jiang, M., Li, W., and He, Y. (2012) Wnt5a participates in hepatic stellate cell activation observed by gene expression profile and functional assays. *World journal of gastroenterology : WJG* 18, 1745-1752
- 131. Yin, X., Yi, H., Wu, W., Shu, J., Wu, X., and Yu, L. (2014) R-Spondin2 Activates Hepatic Stellate Cells and Promotes Liver Fibrosis. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*
- 132. Zhu, N.-L., Wang, J., and Tsukamoto, H. (2010) The Necdin-Wnt Pathway Causes Epigenetic Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor γ Repression in Hepatic Stellate Cells. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry 285, 30463-30471
- 133. Sato, N., Meijer, L., Skaltsounis, L., Greengard, P., and Brivanlou, A. H. (2004) Maintenance of pluripotency in human and mouse embryonic stem cells through activation of Wnt signaling by a pharmacological GSK-3-specific inhibitor. *Nat Med* 10, 55-63
- 134. Orford, K., Crockett, C., Jensen, J. P., Weissman, A. M., and Byers, S. W. (1997) Serine phosphorylation-regulated ubiquitination and degradation of \hat{I}^2 catenin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272, 24735-24738
- 135. Jans, R., Mottram, L., Johnson, D. L., Brown, A. M., Sikkink, S., Ross, K., and Reynolds, N. J. (2013) Lysophosphatidic acid promotes cell migration through STIM1- and Orai1-mediated Ca2+(i) mobilization and NFAT2 activation. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 133, 793-802
- 136. Bryja, V., Schulte, G., Rawal, N., Grahn, A., and Arenas, E. (2007) Wnt-5a induces dishevelled phosphorylation and dopaminergic differentiation via a CK1-dependent mechanism. *Journal of Cell Science* 120, 586-595
- 137. Oliva, C. A., Vargas, J. Y., and Inestrosa, N. C. (2013) Whits in adult brain: from synaptic plasticity to cognitive deficiencies. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 7
- 138. Zeng, G., Awan, F., Otruba, W., Muller, P., Apte, U., Tan, X., Gandhi, C., Demetris, A. J., and Monga, S. P. S. (2007) Wnt'er in liver: Expression of Wnt and frizzled genes in mouse. *Hepatology* 45, 195-204
- 139. Yuzugullu, H., Benhaj, K., Ozturk, N., Senturk, S., Celik, E., Toylu, A., Tasdemir, N., Yilmaz, M., Erdal, E., Akcali, K. C., Atabey, N., and Ozturk, M. (2009) Canonical Wnt signaling is antagonized by noncanonical Wnt5a in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Mol Cancer* 8
- 140. Masckauchán, T. N. H., Agalliu, D., Vorontchikhina, M., Ahn, A., Parmalee, N. L., Li, C.-M., Khoo, A., Tycko, B., Brown, A. M. C., and Kitajewski, J. (2006) Wnt5a Signaling Induces Proliferation and Survival of Endothelial Cells In Vitro and Expression of MMP-1 and Tie-2. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 17, 5163-5172

- 141. Pourreyron, C., Reilly, L., Proby, C., Panteleyev, A., Fleming, C., McLean, K., South, A. P., and Foerster, J. (2012) Wnt5a Is Strongly Expressed at the Leading Edge in Non-Melanoma Skin Cancer, Forming Active Gradients, while Canonical Wnt Signalling Is Repressed. *PLoS ONE* 7, e31827
- 142. Niu, L. J., Xu, R. X., Zhang, P., Du, M. X., and Jiang, X. D. (2012) Suppression of Frizzled-2mediated Wnt/Ca(2)(+) signaling significantly attenuates intracellular calcium accumulation in vitro and in a rat model of traumatic brain injury. *Neuroscience* 213, 19-28
- 143. Üren, A., Reichsman, F., Anest, V., Taylor, W. G., Muraiso, K., Bottaro, D. P., Cumberledge, S., and Rubin, J. S. (2000) Secreted Frizzled-related Protein-1 Binds Directly to Wingless and Is a Biphasic Modulator of Wnt Signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275, 4374-4382
- Bi, Y., Huang, J., He, Y., Zhu, G. H., Su, Y., He, B. C., Luo, J., Wang, Y., Kang, Q., Luo, Q., Chen, L., Zuo, G. W., Jiang, W., Liu, B., Shi, Q., Tang, M., Zhang, B. Q., Weng, Y., Huang, A., Zhou, L., Feng, T., Luu, H. H., Haydon, R. C., He, T. C., and Tang, N. (2009) Wnt antagonist SFRP3 inhibits the differentiation of mouse hepatic progenitor cells. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* 108, 295-303
- 145. Nejak-Bowen, K. N., and Monga, S. P. S. (2011) Beta-catenin signaling, liver regeneration and hepatocellular cancer: Sorting the good from the bad. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* 21, 44-58
- 146. Takagi, H., Sasaki, S., Suzuki, H., Toyota, M., Maruyama, R., Nojima, M., Yamamoto, H., Omata, M., Tokino, T., Imai, K., and Shinomura, Y. (2008) Frequent epigenetic inactivation of SFRP genes in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Journal of gastroenterology* 43, 378-389
- Galli, L. M., Barnes, T., Cheng, T., Acosta, L., Anglade, A., Willert, K., Nusse, R., and Burrus, L. W. (2006) Differential inhibition of Wnt-3a by Sfrp-1, Sfrp-2, and Sfrp-3. *Developmental Dynamics* 235, 681-690
- 148. Vuga, L. J., Ben-Yehudah, A., Kovkarova-Naumovski, E., Oriss, T., Gibson, K. F., Feghali-Bostwick, C., and Kaminski, N. (2009) WNT5A is a regulator of fibroblast proliferation and resistance to apoptosis. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 41, 583-589
- 149. Kramps, T., Peter, O., Brunner, E., Nellen, D., Froesch, B., Chatterjee, S., Murone, M., Zullig, S., and Basler, K. (2002) Wnt/wingless signaling requires BCL9/legless-mediated recruitment of pygopus to the nuclear beta-catenin-TCF complex. *Cell* 109, 47-60
- **150.** Parker, D. S., Jemison, J., and Cadigan, K. M. (2002) Pygopus, a nuclear PHD-finger protein required for Wingless signaling in Drosophila. *Development* **129**, 2565-2576
- 151. Townsley, F. M., Cliffe, A., and Bienz, M. (2004) Pygopus and Legless target Armadillo/βcatenin to the nucleus to enable its transcriptional co-activator function. *Nature Cell Biology* 6, 626-633
- 152. Li, B., Rheaume, C., Teng, A., Bilanchone, V., Munguia, J. E., Hu, M., Jessen, S., Piccolo, S., Waterman, M. L., and Dai, X. (2007) Developmental phenotypes and reduced Wnt signaling in mice deficient for pygopus 2. *Genesis (New York, N.Y. : 2000)* 45, 318-325
- 153. Brack, A. S., Murphy-Seiler, F., Hanifi, J., Deka, J., Eyckerman, S., Keller, C., Aguet, M., and Rando, T. A. (2009) BCL9 is an essential component of canonical Wnt signaling that mediates the differentiation of myogenic progenitors during muscle regeneration. *Dev Biol* 335, 93-105
- Takemaru, K. I., Yamaguchi, S., Sik Lee, Y., Zhang, Y., Carthew, R. W., and Moon, R. T.
 (2003) Chibby, a nuclear β-catenin-associated antagonist of the Wnt/Wingless pathway. Nature 422, 905-909
- 155. Pereira, L., Yi, F., and Merrill, B. J. (2006) Repression of Nanog Gene Transcription by Tcf3 Limits Embryonic Stem Cell Self-Renewal. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 26, 7479-7491

- 156. Solberg, N., MacHon, O., MacHonova, O., and Krauss, S. (2012) Mouse Tcf3 represses canonical Wnt signaling by either competing for β-catenin binding or through occupation of DNA-binding sites. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 365, 53-63
- 157. Wu, C. I., Hoffman, J. A., Shy, B. R., Ford, E. M., Fuchs, E., Nguyen, H., and Merrill, B. J.
 (2012) Function of Wnt/β-catenin in counteracting Tcf3 repression through the Tcf3-β-catenin interaction. *Development (Cambridge)* 139, 2118-2129
- 158. Yue, W., Sun, Q., Dacic, S., Landreneau, R. J., Siegfried, J. M., Yu, J., and Zhang, L. (2008) Downregulation of Dkk3 activates beta-catenin/TCF-4 signaling in lung cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 29, 84-92
- 159. Constantinou, T., Baumann, F., Lacher, M., Saurer, S., Friis, R., and Dharmarajan, A. (2008) SFRP-4 abrogates Wnt-3a-induced β-catenin and Akt/PKB signalling and reverses a Wnt-3a-imposed inhibition of in vitro mammary differentiation. *J Mol Signal* 3, 1-14
- 160. Suzuki, H., Watkins, D. N., Jair, K.-W., Schuebel, K. E., Markowitz, S. D., Dong Chen, W., Pretlow, T. P., Yang, B., Akiyama, Y., van Engeland, M., Toyota, M., Tokino, T., Hinoda, Y., Imai, K., Herman, J. G., and Baylin, S. B. (2004) Epigenetic inactivation of SFRP genes allows constitutive WNT signaling in colorectal cancer. *Nat Genet* 36, 417-422
- 161. Shin, H., Kim, J. H., Lee, Y. S., and Lee, Y. C. (2012) Change in gene expression profiles of secreted frizzled-related proteins (SFRPs) by sodium butyrate in gastric cancers: induction of promoter demethylation and histone modification causing inhibition of Wnt signaling. *International journal of oncology* 40, 1533-1542
- Suzuki, H., Toyota, M., Carraway, H., Gabrielson, E., Ohmura, T., Fujikane, T., Nishikawa, N., Sogabe, Y., Nojima, M., Sonoda, T., Mori, M., Hirata, K., Imai, K., Shinomura, Y., Baylin, S. B., and Tokino, T. (2008) Frequent epigenetic inactivation of Wnt antagonist genes in breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* 98, 1147-1156
- 163. Poulos, J. E., Weber, J. D., Bellezzo, J. M., Di Bisceglie, A. M., Britton, R. S., Bacon, B. R., and Baldassare, J. J. (1997) Fibronectin and cytokines increase JNK, ERK, AP-1 activity, and transin gene expression in rat hepatic stellate cells. *The American journal of physiology* 273, G804-811
- 164. Iizuka, M., Murata, T., Hori, M., and Ozaki, H. (2011) Increased contractility of hepatic stellate cells in cirrhosis is mediated by enhanced Ca2+-dependent and Ca2+-sensitization pathways. *American journal of physiology. Gastrointestinal and liver physiology* 300, G1010-1021
- 165. Li, J., Ying, J., Fan, Y., Wu, L., Ying, Y., Chan, A. T. C., Srivastava, G., and Tao, Q. (2010) WNT5A antagonizes WNT/β-catenin signaling and is frequently silenced by promoter CpG methylation in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Biology & Therapy* 10, 617-624
- 166. Bernard, P., Fleming, A., Lacombe, A., Harley, V. R., and Vilain, E. (2008) Wnt4 inhibits βcatenin/TCF signalling by redirecting β-catenin to the cell membrane. *Biology of the Cell* 100, 167-177
- 167. Hogan, P. G., Chen, L., Nardone, J., and Rao, A. (2003) Transcriptional regulation by calcium, calcineurin, and NFAT. *Genes and Development* 17, 2205-2232
- 168. Merrill, B. J., Pasolli, H. A., Polak, L., Rendl, M., García-García, M. J., Anderson, K. V., and Fuchs, E. (2004) Tcf3: a transcriptional regulator of axis induction in the early embryo. *Development* 131, 263-274
- 169. Akiyama, H., Lyons, J. P., Mori-Akiyama, Y., Yang, X., Zhang, R., Zhang, Z., Deng, J. M., Taketo, M. M., Nakamura, T., Behringer, R. R., McCrea, P. D., and de Crombrugghe, B. (2004) Interactions between Sox9 and β-catenin control chondrocyte differentiation. *Gene Dev* 18, 1072-1087
- 170. Sellak, H., Wu, S., and Lincoln, T. M. (2012) KLF4 and SOX9 transcription factors antagonize β-catenin and inhibit TCF-activity in cancer cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research* 1823, 1666-1675

- 171. Hanley, K. P., Oakley, F., Sugden, S., Wilson, D. I., Mann, D. A., and Hanley, N. A. (2008) Ectopic SOX9 mediates extracellular matrix deposition characteristic of organ fibrosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283, 14063-14071
- 172. Ren, S., Johnson, B. G., Kida, Y., Ip, C., Davidson, K. C., Lin, S.-L., Kobayashi, A., Lang, R. A., Hadjantonakis, A.-K., Moon, R. T., and Duffield, J. S. (2013) LRP-6 is a coreceptor for multiple fibrogenic signaling pathways in pericytes and myofibroblasts that are inhibited by DKK-1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, 1440-1445
- 173. Kim, K. K., Wei, Y., Szekeres, C., Kugler, M. C., Wolters, P. J., Hill, M. L., Frank, J. A., Brumwell, A. N., Wheeler, S. E., Kreidberg, J. A., and Chapman, H. A. (2009) Epithelial cell α3β1 integrin links β-catenin and Smad signaling to promote myofibroblast formation and pulmonary fibrosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 119, 213-224
- 174. Kim, Y., Kugler, M. C., Wei, Y., Kim, K. K., Li, X., Brumwell, A. N., and Chapman, H. A. (2009) Integrin α3β1 - dependent β-catenin phosphorylation links epithelial smad signaling to cell contacts. *Journal of Cell Biology* 184, 309-322
- 175. Li, T.-F., Chen, D., Wu, Q., Chen, M., Sheu, T.-j., Schwarz, E. M., Drissi, H., Zuscik, M., and O'Keefe, R. J. (2006) Transforming Growth Factor-β Stimulates Cyclin D1 Expression through Activation of β-Catenin Signaling in Chondrocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 21296-21304
- Tian, X., Zhang, J., Tan, T. K., Lyons, J. G., Zhao, H., Niu, B., Lee, S. R., Tsatralis, T., Zhao, Y., Wang, Y., Cao, Q., Wang, C., Wang, Y., Lee, V. W. S., Zheng, G., and Harris, D. C. H. (2012)
 Association of β-catenin with P-Smad3 but not LEF-1 differentiates in vitro profibrotic and anti-inflammatory effects of TGF-β1. *Journal of Cell Science*
- 177. Zhou, B., Liu, Y., Kahn, M., Ann, D. K., Han, A., Wang, H., Nguyen, C., Flodby, P., Zhong, Q., Krishnaveni, M. S., Liebler, J. M., Minoo, P., Crandall, E. D., and Borok, Z. (2012) Interactions between β-catenin and transforming growth factor-β signaling pathways mediate epithelial- mesenchymal transition and are dependent on the transcriptional coactivator cAMP-response element-binding protein (CREB)-binding protein (CBP). *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287, 7026-7038
- 178. Kwon, C., Cheng, P., King, I. N., Andersen, P., Shenje, L., Nigam, V., and Srivastava, D.
 (2011) Notch post-translationally regulates beta-catenin protein in stem and progenitor cells. *Nat Cell Biol* 13, 1244-1251
- 179. Chen, B., Dodge, M. E., Tang, W., Lu, J., Ma, Z., Fan, C.-W., Wei, S., Hao, W., Kilgore, J., Williams, N. S., Roth, M. G., Amatruda, J. F., Chen, C., and Lum, L. (2009) Small moleculemediated disruption of Wnt-dependent signaling in tissue regeneration and cancer. *Nat Chem Biol* 5, 100-107
- 180. Shan, J., Zhang, X., Bao, J., Cassell, R., and Zheng, J. J. (2012) Synthesis of Potent Dishevelled PDZ Domain Inhibitors Guided by Virtual Screening and NMR Studies. *Chemical Biology & Drug Design* 79, 376-383
- 181. Eguchi, M., Nguyen, C., Lee, S. C., and Kahn, M. (2005) ICG-001, a novel small molecule regulator of TCF/beta-catenin transcription. *Medicinal chemistry (Shariqah (United Arab Emirates))* 1, 467-472
- I82. Zhou, B., Liu, Y., Kahn, M., Ann, D. K., Han, A., Wang, H., Nguyen, C., Flodby, P., Zhong, Q., Krishnaveni, M. S., Liebler, J. M., Minoo, P., Crandall, E. D., and Borok, Z. (2012) Interactions Between β-Catenin and Transforming Growth Factor-β Signaling Pathways Mediate Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition and Are Dependent on the Transcriptional Coactivator cAMP-response Element-binding Protein (CREB)-binding Protein (CBP). Journal of Biological Chemistry 287, 7026-7038
- 183. Henderson Jr, W. R., Chi, E. Y., Ye, X., Nguyen, C., Tien, Y. T., Zhou, B., Borok, Z., Knight, D. A., and Kahn, M. (2010) Inhibition of Wnt/β-catenin/CREB binding protein (CBP) signaling reverses pulmonary fibrosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107, 14309-14314

- 184. Bartscherer, K., Pelte, N., Ingelfinger, D., and Boutros, M. (2006) Secretion of Wnt ligands requires Evi, a conserved transmembrane protein. *Cell* 125, 523-533
- 185. Xu, L., Hui, A. Y., Albanis, E., Arthur, M. J., O'Byrne, S. M., Blaner, W. S., Mukherjee, P., Friedman, S. L., and Eng, F. J. (2005) Human hepatic stellate cell lines, LX-1 and LX-2: New tools for analysis of hepatic fibrosis. *Gut* 54, 142-151
- 186. Pereira, C., Schaer, D. J., Bachli, E. B., Kurrer, M. O., and Schoedon, G. (2008) Wnt5A/CaMKII signaling contributes to the inflammatory response of macrophages and is a target for the antiinflammatory action of activated protein C and interleukin-10. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 28, 504-510
- 187. Pukrop, T., Klemm, F., Hagemann, T., Gradl, D., Schulz, M., Siemes, S., Trümper, L., and Binder, C. (2006) Wnt 5a signaling is critical for macrophage-induced invasion of breast cancer cell lines. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 5454-5459
- 188. Yu, C. H., Nguyen, T. T., Irvine, K. M., Sweet, M. J., Frazer, I. H., and Blumenthal, A. (2014) Recombinant Wnt3a and Wnt5a elicit macrophage cytokine production and tolerization to microbial stimulation via Toll-like receptor 4. *European journal of immunology* 44, 1480-1490
- 189. Rohrs, S., Kutzner, N., Vlad, A., Grunwald, T., Ziegler, S., and Muller, O. (2009)
 Chronological expression of Wnt target genes Ccnd1, Myc, Cdkn1a, Tfrc, Plf1 and Ramp3.
 Cell biology international 33, 501-508
- 190. Santos, A., Bakker, A. D., de Blieck-Hogervorst, J. M., and Klein-Nulend, J. (2010) WNT5A induces osteogenic differentiation of human adipose stem cells via rho-associated kinase ROCK. *Cytotherapy* 12, 924-932
- 191. Gon, H., Fumoto, K., Ku, Y., Matsumoto, S., and Kikuchi, A. (2013) Wnt5a signaling promotes apical and basolateral polarization of single epithelial cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 24, 3764-3774
- 192. Murata, T., Arii, S., Nakamura, T., Mori, A., Kaido, T., Furuyama, H., Furumoto, K., Nakao, T., Isobe, N., and Imamura, M. (2001) Inhibitory effect of Y-27632, a ROCK inhibitor, on progression of rat liver fibrosis in association with inactivation of hepatic stellate cells. *Journal of Hepatology* 35, 474-481
- 193. Tada, S., Iwamoto, H., Nakamuta, M., Sugimoto, R., Enjoji, M., Nakashima, Y., and Nawata, H. A selective ROCK inhibitor, Y27632, prevents dimethylnitrosamine-induced hepatic fibrosis in rats. *Journal of Hepatology* 34, 529-536
- 194. Griesmann, H., Ripka, S., Pralle, M., Ellenrieder, V., Baumgart, S., Buchholz, M., Pilarsky, C., Aust, D., Gress, T. M., and Michl, P. (2013) WNT5A-NFAT signaling mediates resistance to apoptosis in pancreatic cancer. *Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.)* 15, 11-22
- 195. Klein, D., Demory, A., Peyre, F., Kroll, J., Augustin, H. G., Helfrich, W., Kzhyshkowska, J., Schledzewski, K., Arnold, B., and Goerdt, S. (2008) Wnt2 acts as a cell type–specific, autocrine growth factor in rat hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells cross-stimulating the VEGF pathway. *Hepatology* 47, 1018-1031
- 196. Ober, E. A., Verkade, H., Field, H. A., and Stainier, D. Y. R. (2006) Mesodermal Wnt2b signalling positively regulates liver specification. *Nature* 442, 688-691
- 197. Hecht, A., Vleminckx, K., Stemmler, M. P., Van Roy, F., and Kemler, R. (2000) The p300/CBP acetyltransferases function as transcriptional coactivators of β-catenin in vertebrates. *EMBO Journal* 19, 1839-1850
- 198. Mavila, N., James, D., Utley, S., Cu, N., Coblens, O., Mak, K., Rountree, C. B., Kahn, M., and Wang, K. S. (2012) Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor-Mediated Activation of AKT-β-Catenin-CBP Pathway Regulates Survival and Proliferation of Murine Hepatoblasts and Hepatic Tumor Initiating Stem Cells. *PLoS ONE* 7, e50401
- 199. Holt, M. P., Cheng, L., and Ju, C. (2008) Identification and characterization of infiltrating macrophages in acetaminophen-induced liver injury. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 84, 1410-1421

- Liu, C., Tao, Q., Sun, M., Wu, J. Z., Yang, W., Jian, P., Peng, J., Hu, Y., Liu, C., and Liu, P.
 (2010) Kupffer cells are associated with apoptosis, inflammation and fibrotic effects in hepatic fibrosis in rats. *Lab Invest* 90, 1805-1816
- 201. Baeck, C., Wehr, A., Karlmark, K. R., Heymann, F., Vucur, M., Gassler, N., Huss, S., Klussmann, S., Eulberg, D., Luedde, T., Trautwein, C., and Tacke, F. (2012) Pharmacological inhibition of the chemokine CCL2 (MCP-1) diminishes liver macrophage infiltration and steatohepatitis in chronic hepatic injury. *Gut* 61, 416-426
- 202. Ramachandran, P., Pellicoro, A., Vernon, M. A., Boulter, L., Aucott, R. L., Ali, A., Hartland, S. N., Snowdon, V. K., Cappon, A., Gordon-Walker, T. T., Williams, M. J., Dunbar, D. R., Manning, J. R., van Rooijen, N., Fallowfield, J. A., Forbes, S. J., and Iredale, J. P. (2012) Differential Ly-6C expression identifies the recruited macrophage phenotype, which orchestrates the regression of murine liver fibrosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109, E3186-E3195
- 203. Cajanek, L., Adlerz, L., Bryja, V., and Arenas, E. (2010) WNT unrelated activities in commercially available preparations of recombinant WNT3a. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* 111, 1077-1079
- 204. Matsuyama, M., Aizawa, S., and Shimono, A. (2009) Sfrp Controls Apicobasal Polarity and Oriented Cell Division in Developing Gut Epithelium. *PLoS Genet* 5, e1000427
- 205. Kim, J., Kim, D. W., Chang, W., Choe, J., Kim, J., Park, C. S., Song, K., and Lee, I. (2012)
 Wnt5a is secreted by follicular dendritic cells to protect germinal center B cells via
 Wnt/Ca2+/NFAT/NF-kappaB-B cell lymphoma 6 signaling. *Journal of immunology* 188, 182-189
- 206. Naskar, D., Maiti, G., Chakraborty, A., Roy, A., Chattopadhyay, D., and Sen, M. (2014) Wnt5a-Rac1-NF-kappaB homeostatic circuitry sustains innate immune functions in macrophages. *Journal of immunology* 192, 4386-4397
- 207. Watson, M. R., Wallace, K., Gieling, R. G., Manas, D. M., Jaffray, E., Hay, R. T., Mann, D. A., and Oakley, F. (2008) NF-κB is a critical regulator of the survival of rodent and human hepatic myofibroblasts. *Journal of Hepatology* 48, 589-597
- 208. Bluwstein, A., Kumar, N., Leger, K., Traenkle, J., Oostrum, J. v., Rehrauer, H., Baudis, M., and Hottiger, M. O. (2013) PKC signaling prevents irradiation-induced apoptosis of primary human fibroblasts. *Cell Death Dis* 4, e498
- 209. Dissanayake, S. K., Wade, M., Johnson, C. E., O'Connell, M. P., Leotlela, P. D., French, A. D., Shah, K. V., Hewitt, K. J., Rosenthal, D. T., Indig, F. E., Jiang, Y., Nickoloff, B. J., Taub, D. D., Trent, J. M., Moon, R. T., Bittner, M., and Weeraratna, A. T. (2007) The Wnt5A/Protein Kinase C Pathway Mediates Motility in Melanoma Cells via the Inhibition of Metastasis Suppressors and Initiation of an Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, 17259-17271
- 210. Liu, A., Chen, S., Cai, S., Dong, L., Liu, L., Yang, Y., Guo, F., Lu, X., He, H., Chen, Q., Hu, S., and Qiu, H. (2014) Wnt5a through Noncanonical Wnt/JNK or Wnt/PKC Signaling Contributes to the Differentiation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells into Type II Alveolar Epithelial Cells <italic>In Vitro</italic>. *PLoS ONE* 9, e90229
- Zeybel, M., Hardy, T., Wong, Y. K., Mathers, J. C., Fox, C. R., Gackowska, A., Oakley, F., Burt, A. D., Wilson, C. L., Anstee, Q. M., Barter, M. J., Masson, S., Elsharkawy, A. M., Mann, D. A., and Mann, J. (2012) Multigenerational epigenetic adaptation of the hepatic woundhealing response. *Nature Medicine* 18, 1369-1377
- 212. Zilberman, D., Coleman-Derr, D., Ballinger, T., and Henikoff, S. (2008) Histone H2A.Z and DNA methylation are mutually antagonistic chromatin marks. *Nature* 456, 125-129
- 213. Hu, B., Gharaee-Kermani, M., Wu, Z., and Phan, S. H. (2010) Epigenetic Regulation of Myofibroblast Differentiation by DNA Methylation. *The American Journal of Pathology* 177, 21-28

- Hu, G., Cui, K., Northrup, D., Liu, C., Wang, C., Tang, Q., Ge, K., Levens, D., Crane-Robinson, C., and Zhao, K. (2013) H2A.Z facilitates access of active and repressive complexes to chromatin in embryonic stem cell self-renewal and differentiation. *Cell Stem Cell* 12, 180-192
- 215. Barski, A., Cuddapah, S., Cui, K., Roh, T. Y., Schones, D. E., Wang, Z., Wei, G., Chepelev, I., and Zhao, K. (2007) High-Resolution Profiling of Histone Methylations in the Human Genome. *Cell* 129, 823-837
- 216. Mizuguchi, G., Shen, X., Landry, J., Wu, W.-H., Sen, S., and Wu, C. (2004) ATP-Driven Exchange of Histone H2AZ Variant Catalyzed by SWR1 Chromatin Remodeling Complex. *Science* 303, 343-348
- 217. Korzh, V., Edlund, T., and Thor, S. (1993) Zebrafish primary neurons initiate expression of the LIM homeodomain protein Isl-1 at the end of gastrulation. *Development* 118, 417-425
- 218. Kouzarides, T. (2007) Chromatin Modifications and Their Function. *Cell* 128, 693-705
- 219. Li, E., Bestor, T. H., and Jaenisch, R. (1992) Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. *Cell* 69, 915-926
- 220. Liu, Y., Oakeley, E. J., Sun, L., and Jost, J.-P. (1998) Multiple domains are involved in the targeting of the mouse DNA methyltransferase to the DNA replication foci. *Nucleic Acids Research* 26, 1038-1045
- 221. Tsedensodnom, O., Vacaru, A. M., Howarth, D. L., Yin, C., and Sadler, K. C. (2013) Ethanol metabolism and oxidative stress are required for unfolded protein response activation and steatosis in zebrafish with alcoholic liver disease. *Disease Models & Mechanisms* 6, 1213-1226
- 222. White, R., Rose, K., and Zon, L. (2013) Zebrafish cancer: the state of the art and the path forward. *Nat Rev Cancer* 13, 624-636
- 223. Coleman-Derr, D., and Zilberman, D. (2012) Deposition of Histone Variant H2A.Z within Gene Bodies Regulates Responsive Genes. *PLoS Genet* 8, e1002988
- 224. Fang, X., Corrales, J., Thornton, C., Scheffler, B. E., and Willett, K. L. (2013) Global and gene specific DNA methylation changes during zebrafish development. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 166, 99-108
- 225. Wu, S. F., Zhang, H., and Cairns, B. R. (2011) Genes for embryo development are packaged in blocks of multivalent chromatin in zebrafish sperm. *Genome Res* 21, 578-589
- 226. Bannister, A. J., and Kouzarides, T. (2011) Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. *Cell Res* 21, 381-395
- 227. Li, Z., Gadue, P., Chen, K., Jiao, Y., Tuteja, G., Schug, J., Li, W., and Kaestner, K. H. (2012) Foxa2 and H2A.Z mediate nucleosome depletion during embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Cell* 151, 1608-1616
- 228. Feng, S., Jacobsen, S. E., and Reik, W. (2010) Epigenetic Reprogramming in Plant and Animal Development. *Science* 330, 622-627
- Muto, A., Orger, M. B., Wehman, A. M., Smear, M. C., Kay, J. N., Page-McCaw, P. S.,
 Gahtan, E., Xiao, T., Nevin, L. M., Gosse, N. J., Staub, W., Finger-Baier, K., and Baier, H.
 (2005) Forward Genetic Analysis of Visual Behavior in Zebrafish. *PLoS Genet* 1, e66
- 230. Nekrasov, M., Amrichova, J., Parker, B. J., Soboleva, T. A., Jack, C., Williams, R., Huttley, G. A., and Tremethick, D. J. (2012) Histone H2A.Z inheritance during the cell cycle and its impact on promoter organization and dynamics. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology* 19, 1076-1083
- Rai, K., Jafri, I. F., Chidester, S., James, S. R., Karpf, A. R., Cairns, B. R., and Jones, D. A.
 (2010) Dnmt3 and G9a cooperate for tissue-specific development in zebrafish. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285, 4110-4121
- 232. Parichy, D. M., Elizondo, M., Mills, M., Gordon, T., and Engeszer, R. (2009) Normal Table of Post-Embryonic Zebrafish Development: Staging by Externally Visible Anatomy of the Living Fish *Dev Dyn*

238, 2975-3015

- 233. Robertson, K. D. (2001) DNA methylation, methyltransferases, and cancer. *Oncogene* 20, 3139-3155
- 234. Wu, S. F., Zhang, H., Hammoud, S. S., Potok, M., Nix, D. A., Jones, D. A., and Cairns, B. R. (2011) DNA methylation profiling in zebrafish. In *Methods in Cell Biology* Vol. 104 pp. 327-339
- 235. Bassett, D. I., and Currie, P. D. (2003) The zebrafish as a model for muscular dystrophy and congenital myopathy. *Human Molecular Genetics* 12, R265-R270
- 236. Burgess, D. J. (2013) Genomics: New zebrafish genome resources. *Nat Rev Genet* 14, 368-369
- 237. Rangasamy, D., Greaves, I., and Tremethick, D. J. (2004) RNA interference demonstrates a novel role for H2A.Z in chromosome segregation. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 11, 650-655
- 238. Gerety, S., and Wilkinson, D. G. (2011) Morpholino artifacts provide pitfalls and reveal a novel role for pro-apoptotic genes in hindbrain boundary development *Dev Biol* 2, 279-289
- 239. Ridgway, P., KD, B., Rangasamy, D., U, S., and Tremethick, D. J. (2004) Unique residues on the H2A.Z containing nucleosome surface are important for Xenopus laevis development *J Biol Chem* 279, 43815 43820
- 240. Bird, A. (2002) DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. *Gene Dev* 16, 6-21
- 241. Billon, P., and Côté, J. (2012) Precise deposition of histone H2A.Z in chromatin for genome expression and maintenance. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Gene Regulatory Mechanisms* 1819, 290-302
- 242. Billon, P., and Côté, J. (2012) Precise deposition of histone H2A.Z in chromatin for genome expression and maintenance. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Gene Regulatory Mechanisms* 1819, 290-302
- 243. Korzh, V., Sleptsova, I., Liao, J., He, J., and Gong, Z. (1998) Expression of zebrafish bHLH genes ngn1and nrd defines distinct stages of neural differentiation. *Developmental Dynamics* 213, 92-104
- 244. Faast, R., Thonglairoam, V., Schulz, T. C., Beall, J., Wells, J. R. E., Taylor, H., Matthaei, K., Rathjen, P. D., Tremethick, D. J., and Lyons, I. (2001) Histone variant H2A.Z is required for early mammalian development. *Current Biology* 11, 1183-1187
- 245. Dawlaty, M. M., Breiling, A., Le, T., Raddatz, G., Barrasa, M. I., Cheng, A. W., Gao, Q., Powell, B. E., Li, Z., Xu, M., Faull, K. F., Lyko, F., and Jaenisch, R. (2013) Combined deficiency of Tet1 and Tet2 causes epigenetic abnormalities but is compatible with postnatal development. *Dev Cell* 24, 310-323
- 246. Feng, J., and Fan, G. (2009) The role of DNA methylation in the central nervous system and neuropsychiatric disorders. *International review of neurobiology* 89, 67-84
- 247. Zhou, F. C., Balaraman, Y., Teng, M., Liu, Y., Singh, R. P., and Nephew, K. P. (2011) Alcohol alters DNA methylation patterns and inhibits neural stem cell differentiation. *Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research* 35, 735-746
- 248. Lu, H., Liu, X., Deng, Y., and Qing, H. (2013) DNA methylation, a hand behind neurodegenerative disease. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience* 5
- 249. De Jager, P. L., Srivastava, G., Lunnon, K., Burgess, J., Schalkwyk, L. C., Yu, L., Eaton, M. L., Keenan, B. T., Ernst, J., McCabe, C., Tang, A., Raj, T., Replogle, J., Brodeur, W., Gabriel, S., Chai, H. S., Younkin, C., Younkin, S. G., Zou, F., Szyf, M., Epstein, C. B., Schneider, J. A., Bernstein, B. E., Meissner, A., Ertekin-Taner, N., Chibnik, L. B., Kellis, M., Mill, J., and Bennett, D. A. (2014) Alzheimer's disease: early alterations in brain DNA methylation at ANK1, BIN1, RHBDF2 and other loci. *Nat Neurosci* 17, 1156-1163
- 250. Raisner, R. M., Hartley, P. D., Meneghini, M. D., Bao, M. Z., Liu, C. L., Schreiber, S. L., Rando, O. J., and Madhani, H. D. (2005) Histone variant H2A.Z Marks the 5' ends of both active and inactive genes in euchromatin. *Cell* 123, 233-248

- 251. Rai, K., Huggins, I. J., James, S. R., Karpf, A. R., Jones, D. A., and Cairns, B. R. (2008) DNA Demethylation in Zebrafish Involves the Coupling of a Deaminase, a Glycosylase, and Gadd45. *Cell* 135, 1201-1212
- 252. De Minicis, S., Seki, E., Uchinami, H., Kluwe, J., Zhang, Y., Brenner, D. A., and Schwabe, R.
 F. (2007) Gene Expression Profiles During Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation in Culture and In
 Vivo. *Gastroenterology* 132, 1937-1946
- 253. Varnat, F., Zacchetti, G., and Ruiz i Altaba, A. (2010) Hedgehog pathway activity is required for the lethality and intestinal phenotypes of mice with hyperactive Wnt signaling. *Mechanisms of Development* 127, 73-81
- 254. van den Brink, G. R., Bleuming, S. A., Hardwick, J. C. H., Schepman, B. L., Offerhaus, G. J., Keller, J. J., Nielsen, C., Gaffield, W., van Deventer, S. J. H., Roberts, D. J., and Peppelenbosch, M. P. (2004) Indian Hedgehog is an antagonist of Wnt signaling in colonic epithelial cell differentiation. *Nat Genet* 36, 277-282
- 255. McFarland, K. A., Topczewska, J. M., Weidinger, G., Dorsky, R. I., and Appel, B. (2008) Hh and Wnt signaling regulate formation of olig2+ neurons in the zebrafish cerebellum. *Developmental Biology* 318, 162-171
- 256. He, J., Sheng, T., Stelter, A. A., Li, C., Zhang, X., Sinha, M., Luxon, B. A., and Xie, J. (2006) Suppressing Wnt signaling by the hedgehog pathway through sFRP-1. *J Biol Chem* 281, 35598-35602
- 257. Katoh, Y., and Katoh, M. (2006) WNT antagonist, SFRP1, is Hedgehog signaling target. International journal of molecular medicine 17, 171-175
- 258. Boulter, L., Govaere, O., Bird, T. G., Radulescu, S., Ramachandran, P., Pellicoro, A., Ridgway, R. A., Seo, S. S., Spee, B., Van Rooijen, N., Sansom, O. J., Iredale, J. P., Lowell, S., Roskams, T., and Forbes, S. J. (2012) Macrophage-derived Wnt opposes Notch signaling to specify hepatic progenitor cell fate in chronic liver disease. *Nat Med* 18, 572-579
- 259. Willis, B. C., and Borok, Z. (2007) TGF-beta-induced EMT: mechanisms and implications for fibrotic lung disease. *American journal of physiology. Lung cellular and molecular physiology* 293, L525-534
- Zeisberg, M., Yang, C., Martino, M., Duncan, M. B., Rieder, F., Tanjore, H., and Kalluri, R.
 (2007) Fibroblasts derive from hepatocytes in liver fibrosis via epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *J Biol Chem* 282, 23337-23347
- 261. Taura, K., Miura, K., Iwaisako, K., Österreicher, C. H., Kodama, Y., Penz-Österreicher, M., and Brenner, D. A. (2010) Hepatocytes do not undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition in liver fibrosis in mice. *Hepatology* 51, 1027-1036
- 262. Ulsamer, A., Wei, Y., Kim, K. K., Tan, K., Wheeler, S., Xi, Y., Thies, R. S., and Chapman, H. A. (2012) Axin pathway activity regulates in vivo pY654-beta-catenin accumulation and pulmonary fibrosis. *J Biol Chem* 287, 5164-5172
- 263. Fang, D., Hawke, D., Zheng, Y., Xia, Y., Meisenhelder, J., Nika, H., Mills, G. B., Kobayashi, R., Hunter, T., and Lu, Z. (2007) Phosphorylation of β-Catenin by AKT Promotes β-Catenin Transcriptional Activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, 11221-11229
- Hoogeboom, D., Essers, M. A. G., Polderman, P. E., Voets, E., Smits, L. M. M., and Burgering, B. M. T. (2008) Interaction of FOXO with β-Catenin Inhibits β-Catenin/T Cell Factor Activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283, 9224-9230
- 265. Adachi, M., Osawa, Y., Uchinami, H., Kitamura, T., Accili, D., and Brenner, D. A. (2007) The forkhead transcription factor FoxO1 regulates proliferation and transdifferentiation of hepatic stellate cells. *Gastroenterology* 132, 1434-1446
- 266. Ni, H. M., Du, K., You, M., and Ding, W. X. (2013) Critical role of FoxO3a in alcohol-induced autophagy and hepatotoxicity. *American Journal of Pathology* 183, 1815-1825
- 267. Kahn, M. (2014) Can we safely target the WNT pathway? *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 13, 513-532
- 268. Gregorieff, A., and Clevers, H. (2005) Wnt signaling in the intestinal epithelium: from endoderm to cancer. *Gene Dev* 19, 877-890

- 269. Liu, J., Pan, S., Hsieh, M. H., Ng, N., Sun, F., Wang, T., Kasibhatla, S., Schuller, A. G., Li, A. G., Cheng, D., Li, J., Tompkins, C., Pferdekamper, A., Steffy, A., Cheng, J., Kowal, C., Phung, V., Guo, G., Wang, Y., Graham, M. P., Flynn, S., Brenner, J. C., Li, C., Villarroel, M. C., Schultz, P. G., Wu, X., McNamara, P., Sellers, W. R., Petruzzelli, L., Boral, A. L., Seidel, H. M., McLaughlin, M. E., Che, J., Carey, T. E., Vanasse, G., and Harris, J. L. (2013) Targeting Wntdriven cancer through the inhibition of Porcupine by LGK974. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, 20224-20229
- 270. Gurney, A., Axelrod, F., Bond, C. J., Cain, J., Chartier, C., Donigan, L., Fischer, M., Chaudhari, A., Ji, M., Kapoun, A. M., Lam, A., Lazetic, S., Ma, S., Mitra, S., Park, I.-K., Pickell, K., Sato, A., Satyal, S., Stroud, M., Tran, H., Yen, W.-C., Lewicki, J., and Hoey, T. (2012) Wnt pathway inhibition via the targeting of Frizzled receptors results in decreased growth and tumorigenicity of human tumors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109, 11717-11722
- 271. DeAlmeida, V. I., Miao, L., Ernst, J. A., Koeppen, H., Polakis, P., and Rubinfeld, B. (2007) The Soluble Wnt Receptor Frizzled8CRD-hFc Inhibits the Growth of Teratocarcinomas In vivo. *Cancer Research* 67, 5371-5379
- 272. Lau, T., Chan, E., Callow, M., Waaler, J., Boggs, J., Blake, R. A., Magnuson, S., Sambrone, A., Schutten, M., Firestein, R., Machon, O., Korinek, V., Choo, E., Diaz, D., Merchant, M., Polakis, P., Holsworth, D. D., Krauss, S., and Costa, M. (2013) A Novel Tankyrase Small-Molecule Inhibitor Suppresses APC Mutation–Driven Colorectal Tumor Growth. *Cancer Research* 73, 3132-3144
- 273. Matsushima, K., Suyama, T., Takenaka, C., Nishishita, N., Ikeda, K., Ikada, Y., Sawa, Y., Jakt, L. M., Mori, H., and Kawamata, S. (2010) Secreted frizzled related protein 4 reduces fibrosis scar size and ameliorates cardiac function after ischemic injury. *Tissue engineering*. *Part A* 16, 3329-3341
- Mastri, M., Shah, Z., Hsieh, K., Wang, X., Wooldridge, B., Martin, S., Suzuki, G., and Lee, T.
 (2014) Secreted Frizzled-related protein 2 as a target in antifibrotic therapeutic intervention. *American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology* 306, C531-C539
- 275. Chico, T. J., Ingham, P. W., and Crossman, D. C. (2008) Modeling cardiovascular disease in the zebrafish. *Trends in cardiovascular medicine* 18, 150-155
- 276. Kamakaka, R. T., and Biggins, S. (2005) Histone variants: deviants? *Gene Dev* 19, 295-316
- 277. Xu, Y., Ayrapetov, M. K., Xu, C., Gursoy-Yuzugullu, O., Hu, Y., and Price, B. D. (2012) Histone H2A.Z controls a critical chromatin remodeling step required for DNA doublestrand break repair. *Mol Cell* 48, 723-733
- 278. Ku, M., Jaffe, J. D., Koche, R. P., Rheinbay, E., Endoh, M., Koseki, H., Carr, S. A., and Bernstein, B. E. (2012) H2A.Z landscapes and dual modifications in pluripotent and multipotent stem cells underlie complex genome regulatory functions. *Genome Biology* 13
- 279. LJ, K., and LX, Y. (2008) Gamma H2AX- a novel biomarker for DNA double strand breaks *In Vivo* 22, 305-309
- 280. Shepard, J. L., Amatruda, J. F., Stern, H. M., Subramanian, A., Finkelstein, D., Ziai, J., Finley, K. R., Pfaff, K. L., Hersey, C., Zhou, Y., Barut, B., Freedman, M., Lee, C., Spitsbergen, J., Neuberg, D., Weber, G., Golub, T. R., Glickman, J. N., Kutok, J. L., Aster, J. C., and Zon, L. I. (2005) A zebrafish bmyb mutation causes genome instability and increased cancer susceptibility. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102, 13194-13199
- 281. McKinnon, P. J. (2009) DNA repair deficiency and neurological disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 10, 100-112